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INTRODUCTION FROM THE
CHAIR AND ACCOUNTABLE
OFFICER
Welcome to the Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 for NHS Dorset Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG), which demonstrates our continued progress in realising
our vision of ‘supporting people in Dorset to lead healthier lives’.
This year we saw the unprecedented pandemic of COVID-19; and our partners’ and our
response to the crisis has been tremendous. We wish to sincerely thank all our colleagues
and staff who have been working so hard during this time so our residents can continue to
receive the healthcare they need across the county. We also pay tribute to our friends
and colleagues who have died during this time, they will be sorely missed.
Some aspects of the narrative of this report have been shortened as new guidance issued
by the Department of Health and Social Care allowed us to do in these exceptional times.
We are pleased to note however that many achievements have been made during the year
and include:
• our GPs coming together in 18 Primary Care Networks (see page 4), proactively, and
with enthusiasm, allowing them to work at scale to deliver new services;
• investment in community services, with new services up and running and 100 new staff
in post;
• NHS Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust achieving an ‘excellent’ rating
by the Care Quality Commission.
We again would like to thank all providers of services and those working with us, and for
us, for their support and commitment over the last year. Also thank you to our 80 GP
practices who make up the membership of the CCG, for their continued support.
As with everything we do, your voice is vital, and we actively encourage you to get
involved. By joining our Health Involvement Network, you can keep up to date, get more
involved with our work and have your say on future developments in the health
community. More information on this may be found on our website www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk
or at the end of this report.

Dr Forbes Watson
Chair

Tim Goodson
Accountable
Officer

ACCOUNTABILITY

PERFORMANCE REPORT
Over the last twelve months we have seen many achievements but also faced some
challenges. This section of the report provides you with an overview of our
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), its main objectives, strategy, performance
and principal risks in-year.

OVERVIEW
Where we are now - our journey
From reading this report you will see that 2019/20 has been a challenging financial year
for us and our partners in Dorset, which has also included significant workforce issues.
This has in turn impacted on our ability to maintain and improve clinical performance as
we would have wished. Performance has also been exacerbated by the impact of
responding to COVID-19 and will not be a true indication of progress over the year.
There have, however, been areas of continued improvement such as services for
integrated community and primary care. Part of the plans has included the establishment
and development of Primary Care Networks (see page 16) involving all general practices in
Dorset. The Networks have been proactive and involved in reviewing their population
health needs and so enhancing the community and primary care provision.
We have been delayed in making significant changes in our acute hospital reconfiguration
by the public challenge, but after careful consideration, the Independent Reconfiguration
Panel (IRP) has concluded that, with some further action locally, the Clinical Services
Review (CSR) proposals should proceed and the Secretary of State has accepted this
advice, which means we are all clear to proceed with our plans. This is a very significant
step forwards and means that we can now progress our plans that we know will bring
about significant benefits for our patients.
As part of this we recognise the need to work better as partners with the integrated care
system and have successfully recruited a new Independent Chair and we are now in the
process of reviewing the governance of the integrated care system with our partners.

About us
We are a clinically led organisation made up of 80 GP practices who took over the
responsibility for commissioning health services on 1 April 2013.
This means that we are responsible for discharging a range of duties on behalf of patients
in line with the NHS Act 2006. We confirmed we have discharged our duties and complied
with the statutory duties laid down in the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended),
as required by the CCG’s Assurance Framework, including:
• reducing health inequalities;
• improving the quality of services we commission;
• involving patients and the public in shaping health services.
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In doing this we ensure we act effectively, efficiently and economically by delegating
responsibility for making decisions to our Governing Body. Our Audit Committee monitors
the controls in place to ensure we provide value for money.
In June 2017 we were accepted by NHS England as one of eight first wave integrated care
systems (ICS). As an ICS we are at the forefront to provide joined up, better coordinated
care breaking down the barriers between GPs and hospitals, physical and mental
healthcare, social care and the NHS.
Over the last 12 months we have been strengthening our relationships with partners,
taking further responsibility for finances in return for greater flexibility in delivering NHS
services.
The ‘Our Dorset’ integrated care system (ICS) comprises of all the NHS organisations and
local authorities in Dorset:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council;
Dorset Council;
Dorset County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust;
NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group;
Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
The Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust;
South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust.

We will continue to develop and evolve our ICS through understanding where we are now,
and the steps we need to take to ensure we are a high performing system.
As an ICS, we have committed to making rapid progress in the following areas:
•
•
•
•
•
•

urgent and emergency care (see page 32);
primary care (see page 16);
cancer (see page 25);
mental health (see page 27);
maternity (see page 29);
diabetes (see page 25).

Our Constitution
A formal document, called a Constitution, sets out the arrangements the CCG has made to
ensure it meets its responsibilities for commissioning high quality services for the people
of Dorset.
It describes the governing principles, rules and procedures which will ensure integrity,
honesty and accountability. Also, it commits the CCG to taking decisions in an open and
transparent way and places the interests of patients and public at its heart. A new
Constitution was published on 1 April 2019 incorporating changes from the new model
published by NHS England in September 2018.
Our Constitution can be downloaded from our website.
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The population we serve
By 2024, the population of Dorset will have increased from around 750,000 to just under
800,000, with much of the growth happening among older people. Increased longevity
brings new challenges to health and care systems, because as we grow older more of us
develop long-term conditions such as diabetes and dementia.
People in Dorset generally live healthier and longer lives compared to the average for
England, but this is not evenly spread across our population – the data reveals
unacceptable inequalities between different groups. We must reduce the gap between the
health of the poorest and richest. There is a particularly wide health gap for men living in
Bournemouth, where those living in more prosperous areas can expect to live for 11 years
longer than those living in the most deprived areas. Whilst there has been no change in
the numbers of people who die early from heart disease in Poole and rural Dorset in the
last five years, there has been a rise in Bournemouth, and this is at a time when numbers
are falling nationally. We think this variation is unacceptable. We are addressing this
variation through our key work programmes of Prevention at Scale and population health
and primary care networks; further detail can also be found in our Operating Plan on our
website when it is published.
Many factors play a part in creating this gap. The prosperity of an area is one factor.
Lifestyle factors are another big reason why people may have more ill health. Based on
current trends, obesity will become an even more widespread problem by 2020, by which
time we think one in ten local people could have diabetes and one in eight could have
heart disease.
There is a difference of up to 20 years in the life expectancy of people with mental health
problems. We want everyone in Dorset to receive the same high quality of care, regardless
of where they live, what health condition they have, or any other personal characteristic.
We also know that people who act as carers are at high risk of experiencing worse health
outcomes, having their employment or education disrupted and becoming socially
isolated, which in turn impacts on their role as a carer.
Further information on health profile indicators can be found on Public Health England
website.

Our providers
We commission (buy) services from a range of providers including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Dorset County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust;
Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust;
Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust;
University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust;
Yeovil District Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust;
General Practices;
third sector – which are non-governmental and non-profit-making organisations or
associations, including charities and voluntary agencies;
• independent sector care homes and hospitals.
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Our headquarters
Our headquarters are based at Vespasian House, Dorchester with additional office
accommodation at Canford House, Poole.

How we work
Our member practices are at the heart of our communities and in a good position to
understand the needs of their populations. Each of our 13 localities is represented by a GP
Locality Lead who is a member of the Governing Body, this will change from 1 April 2020
with representation from six of the Primary Care Networks. Our practices have begun
working together with community, mental health, social care, pharmacy, hospital and
voluntary services in their local areas in primary care networks. These networks build on
the core of current primary care services and enable greater provision of proactive,
personalised, coordinated and more integrated health and social care.
Our member practices can influence and inform decisions and provide feedback, so that
we do not lose the local focus amongst the national and wider Dorset priorities. It also
enables us to ensure the voice of patients and public can inform and influence decisions by
feeding into their practice, the local Health Involvement Networks and the Patient
Participation Groups operating at each GP practice.
The Directorates are led by:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Stuart Hunter, Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Officer (left 31 December 2019);
Nikki Rowland, Chief Finance Officer (started 1 January 2020);
Vanessa Read, Director of Nursing and Quality;
Phil Richardson, Chief System Integration Officer;
Sally Sandcraft, Director of Primary and Community Care;
Charles Summers, Director of Engagement and Development.

‘Our Dorset’ integrated care system
Dorset has been operating as an integrated care system (ICS) for several years. This has
enabled us to jointly plan and prioritise our resources, to deliver better experience of care
and outcomes for the people of Dorset.
We have already implemented many of the requirements for ICS’s set out in the National
Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance for 2020/21, for example we have in
place:
•
•
•
•

•
•

an independent ICS Chair;
a System Partnership Board and leadership team, enabling collective responsibility and
decision making between partners;
a joint collaborative financial agreement which sets out how we will work together to
manage our collective finances;
population health management programme creating a single source of information so
we can better understand the needs of our communities and those people who are at
most need, and target our resources and provide more personalised care;
joint delegated clinical decision making through our Clinical Reference Group;
system wide teams eg workforce, digital.
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We recognise that we are still on a journey and have several development areas for us to
become a thriving ICS by March 2021. This work will be led by the ICS Chair, as part of the
overarching ICS development programme, and will report progress to the System
Partnership Board.
FIGURE 1: DORSET’S ICS PARTNERS

‘Our Dorset’ looking forward, the long term plan
Our Dorset – Looking Forward sets out the collective vision of Dorset's integrated care
system (ICS) to make Dorset a place where everyone will start, live and age well and die
with dignity no matter where they live or what their circumstances are.
In line with national guidance we developed our Long Term Plan – Our Dorset Looking
Forward for Dorset ICS building on the significant progress we have made since our first
strategy (Our Dorset Sustainability and Transformation Plan) was published in 2016.
This plan focuses on delivering sustainable health and care services, shifting care closer to
home, and a radical scaling up of prevention measures helping people to stay well.
It recognises the opportunities that come from bringing services together within
communities. How we can improve outcomes through more personalised care, tackle
inequalities and work more closely with the community and voluntary sector.
Due to the COVID-19, NHS England and Improvement has currently put the publication of
the CCG’s Long Term Plan on hold.
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PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS
Review of 2019/20: statement from the accountable officer
on performance
The following section provides the view of our Accountable Officer, Tim Goodson and a
summary of our performance during 2019/20.
The main positives that have arisen for the CCG in 2019/20 are:
• primary and community care:
− development of our Primary Care Networks to improve population health;
− investment in community services, with new services up and running and 100 new
staff in post;
− the majority of general practices being rated as ‘good’ by the CQC.
• the establishment of the Population Health Management Intelligence Working
Programme;
• investment leading to enhanced frailty and long-term condition care;
• Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust being rated as ‘excellent’ by the
Care Quality Commission (CQC);
• collaborative financial delivery.
There have also been a number of significant challenges including:
•
•
•
•

responding to the COVID-19 pandemic;
a financially demanding year;
increased demand for personal health commissioning;
maintaining and improving clinical targets.

It’s been a demanding year for our providers too in Dorset who have faced both financial
and workforce challenges. We recognise that with these challenges facing the health and
care system we will need to proactively engage and communicate with all our stakeholders
and members as they endeavour to work with the difficult decisions the CCG has to make
over the coming years.
We have faced demands on services, in particular referral to treatment and A&E targets
and have worked closely with our providers and local authorities to manage the systemwide challenges.
The NHS Oversight Framework 2019/20 has replaced the provider Single Oversight
Framework and the clinical commissioning group (CCG) Improvement and Assessment
Framework (IAF). It is intended as a focal point for joint work, support and dialogue
between NHS England and NHS Improvement, CCGs, providers and sustainability and
transformation partnerships, and integrated care systems
In line with the NHS Oversight Framework 2019/20, the South West Regional Team have
undertaken a review of the segmentation of Trusts and CCGs. This is the first time that
segmentation has been applied to CCGs. The segmentation categories are:
•
•
•
•

1
2
3
4

- maximum autonomy;
- targeted support;
- mandated support;
- special measures for providers; legal directions for CCGs.
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We have been allocated a segmentation 2 for targeted support.

Working with partners and integration
We already have a successful track record and strong commitment to collaborative
working across our health and care organisations, so that we act as one integrated health
and care system. The last few years have seen increasingly effective partnership working
between our GPs and primary care teams, the three local district general hospitals, our
community and mental health provider, the ambulance service, Dorset’s two local
authorities, patient representatives and many others. This has continued to be enhanced
by our joint collaborative work programmes (see page 16) and working with our integrated
care system partners (see page 4).

Principal risks and uncertainties
We have developed a Governing Body Assurance Framework to ensure that there is a
streamlined approach to assurance enabling the Governing Body and delegated
committees to focus only on the strategic risks of the organisation. For assurance see the
full governance statement from page 59 .
This is supported by the Corporate Risk Register (see page 62) which documents all
strategic and operational risks of the organisation. The Corporate Risk Register and
Governing Body Assurance Framework are reported regularly to the Governing Body, Audit
Committee, Quality Surveillance Group and the Directors’ performance meeting.
We will face an increasingly challenging year in 2020/21 as the NHS continues to operate
within a tight financial framework during a period of change and movement towards
greater integration with social care.
We are committed to minimising risks to which we are exposed, strategically and
corporately. The overriding aim is to reduce the potential for loss of services due to
adverse events, financial management or performance and quality management of
commissioned services that could ultimately be of detriment to the population the CCG
serves.
Our risks and uncertainties should be viewed against a back drop of a rising number of
older people in the local population, health inequalities and a significant number of
people living with long term conditions. Key risks identified are:
• working through the COVID-19 pandemic and recovery;
• ineffective partnership working resulting in ineffective integration of services;
• failure to deliver the financial system control total and access to provider sustainability
fund;
• rising cost of capital programme that underpin transformation workstreams restricting
full potential of programme;
• urgent care/A&E pressures impacting on system sustainability, discharge and patient
care;
• system wide workforce pressures;
• finance and workforce pressures within social care impacting on delayed transfers of
care and stranded patients;
• ongoing uncertainty of EU Exit impacting on workforce supply and cost of materials and
drugs.
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Future plans
During 2020/21 we will be focusing on the national Five Year Forward View standards, the
national long term plan and also our local corporate objectives to 2020 which are:
• Improve the health and wellbeing of the population locally
 support people to make the right decisions about their health and wellbeing;
 develop services that meet the needs of everyone, that are safe and support
people’s wellbeing;
 work alongside our partner organisations to ensure that people in Dorset have
equitable access to services;
• Work together as a team
 ensure we connect and work together as teams within the organisation and more
widely with our partners to strengthen our approach in Dorset;
 engage and involve the right people at the right time in decisions which affect
them;
 seek to understand the needs of others and help to manage their expectations;
• Develop the way we work
 treat everyone with dignity and respect;
 look at ways we can work differently to create an even better working
environment;
 celebrate our success and learn from each other.
Details of our priorities for the forthcoming year can be seen in the Our Dorset Integrated
Care System Operating Plan 2020/21 which will shortly be available on our website.
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Performance summary
The following section of the Performance Overview provides information on our key
achievements during 2019/20 and how we have met our statutory duties.

NHS Constitution standards
Our performance against the NHS Constitution standards are set out in the following
section. The red/amber/green rating assessment indicated in the below shows our
performance in relation to NHS Constitution standards for the period ending February
2020. Performance reporting for March 2020 was stood down across the NHS due to the
COVID-19 pandemic.
TABLE 1: NHS CONSTITUTION STANDARDS
NHS Constitution
CCG based indicators

Operational
standard
Referral to Treatment waiting times for non-urgent consultant-led treatment
Patients on incomplete non-emergency pathways (yet to start treatment)
92%
waiting no more than 18 weeks from referral
Number of patients waiting on an incomplete pathway
51,550
Number of patients waiting more than 52 weeks on incomplete pathways
0

2019/20
performance
75.0%
60,289
92

Percentage of patients waiting 6 weeks or more for a diagnostic test (15 key
tests)

1%

6.7%

A&E waits – Percentage of A&E attendances where the patient spent 4 hours or
less in A&E from arrival to transfer, admission or discharge

95%

82.3%

Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients referred
urgently for suspected cancer by a GP
Maximum 31-day wait from diagnosis to first definitive treatments for all
cancers
Maximum 62-day wait from urgent GP referral to first definitive treatment for
cancer

93%

82.9%

96%

98.2%

85%

77.4%

50% of people experiencing a first episode of psychosis will commence
treatment with a NICE approved care package within two weeks of referral
75% of people with common mental health conditions referred to the Improved
Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) programme will be treated within six
weeks of referral
66.7% of dementia diagnosis of the estimated number of people with dementia.
Provider based indicators

50%

100.0%

75%

92.1%

66.7%
60.8%
Operational
2019/20
standard
performance
A&E waits – Percentage of A&E attendances where the patient spent 4 hours or less in A&E from arrival to
transfer, admission or discharge
The Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
95%
72.5%
Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Not reported, national pilot
site
Dorset County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
95%
92.2%
NHS 111 service: South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust
Calls answered in 60 seconds
95%
81.9%
NHS 999 service: South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust
Category 1 mean response duration
7 minutes
6.50

Although some standards were not achieved in 2019/20 we continued to make progress
working as one health system, with all partners working together. The COVID-19
pandemic seen in March 2020 had a significant impact on performance against NHS
Constitution standards and impacted on the ability to report the final year end
performance.
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Some further details are provided below:
• patients on incomplete non-emergency pathways (yet to start treatment) waiting no
more than 18 weeks from referral: One of the biggest challenges for our providers in
2019/20 has been achieving the target of 92% of patients on a non-emergency pathway
receiving their first treatment within 18 weeks. For the year, Dorset achieved 75.0%.
While this is below the target, significant efforts have been made in response to an
increase in demand for services coupled with workforce challenges across our service
providers. Innovative improvements include a new photo advice and guidance within
dermatology ensuring patients are referred on the most appropriate pathway. In
2019/20, significant progress has been made in the digital arena with the introduction
of Consultant Connect and Attend Anywhere. Further significant progress will be made
in the coming year along with other innovations in care and treatment. There has been
a continued focus on the total number of patients on a waiting list for 2019/20. Our
local providers reported 60,289 patients who were on an incomplete pathway at the
end of February 2020 against a target of 51,550. We reported 92 patients waiting in
excess of 52 weeks for treatment throughout the year. In year we commenced a
significant review of long waiters and implemented a series of actions to mitigate
against further significant 52 week breaches.
• percentage of patients waiting 6 weeks or more for a diagnostic test (15 key tests):
During 2019/20 we noted a significant increase in the number of patients waiting in
excess of 6 weeks for diagnostic tests. The most significant impact on this performance
has been the increase in demand for endoscopy diagnostics following national cancer
campaigns and high profile cases. The challenge for providers is responding to this
demand in areas which have workforce challenges. The position throughout 2019/20
showed that on average 6.7% of patients waited more than 6 weeks for a diagnostic
test, against a target of 1%. We expected a significant improvement in performance
throughout March 2020 where additional capacity had been enabled through the
Independent Sector and through various insourcing and outsourcing agreements. The
position as we move into 2020/21 has been significantly impacted by the COVID-19
pandemic however we will continue to work in collaboration with all of our providers to
deliver the most effective diagnostic service in 2020/21 despite the obvious challenges
in place.
• percentage of A&E attendances where the patient spent 4 hours or less in A&E from
arrival to transfer, admission or discharge: total emergency department attendances
were 4.6% above our expected levels for 2019/20 and this continues to be challenging
for all local providers, with reported increased acuity in these attendances. Emergency
department (ED) performance across the system continues to prove challenging for
providers locally. Performance across the Dorset system was at 82.3% for 2019/20
supported by high performance at Dorset County Hospital. All providers are reporting
continued high demand compounded with high acuity, batching of patients at peak
times and high levels of ambulance conveyances (5.2% up). Work continues on
understanding the reasons for increased demand and conveyances through the Urgent
and Emergency Care Delivery Board and Emergency Department delivery group. Our
Primary Care Networks are using Population Health Management insight reports to
support High Intensity Users and we continue to work with our 111 service provider to
signpost patients to the most appropriate service. Poole Hospital has successfully
participated in a national pilot of Emergency Department standards throughout
2019/20.
10
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•

Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients referred
urgently for suspected cancer by a GP: Due to the success of work around early
detection, education in primary and community care and national campaigns, the
number of patients being referred as fast track referrals increased by over 8% in
2019/20 (15% in 2018/19) and due to the demography of Dorset is likely to continue to
increase. We have seen the highest increases in both Dorset County Hospital and Poole
Hospital. This level of demand has had an impact on the delivery of this standard and
the maximum 62-day wait from urgent GP referral to first definitive treatment for
cancer shown below. In the Summer of 2020, a new national standard measuring 28day faster diagnosis replaced the two week wait national standard;
• maximum 62-day wait from urgent GP referral to first definitive treatment for
cancer: As a consequence of this surge, the standard has not been achieved throughout
2019/20. System wide cancer resources have been allocated to support recovery of the
62-day standard which resulted in improved performance throughout the year and a
move closer to achieving the national standard;
• NHS 111 service: South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust
(SWASFT): Calls answered in 60 seconds. Call volume remained flat on the previous
year to February 2020 however rose significantly in March 2020 at the start of the
COVID-19 pandemic. The service continues to struggle to achieve 95% call answering
performance. The service has been through a degree of change and this has seen an
increase in turnover of clinicians as well as the natural attrition that is seen nationally
with the call advisor role. The service provider gave notice for provision of this service
in 2019 and a new service provider will be mobilised in 2020/21.

Quality premiums
The quality premium programme operated in previous years has been discontinued by NHS
England.

Financial Overview
The CCG achieved its financial duties for 2019/20 including break-even on income and
expenditure in year after:
• delivering a target surplus set by NHS England of £2m;
• underspending on its running cost allowance of £17.59m by £0.45m;
• meeting the mental health investment standard which requires the CCG to increase
investment in mental health in line with the overall increase in the CCG financial
allocation;
• managing cash resources in line with cash drawdowns from NHS England;
• expenditure of £5.22m on the integration of primary and community care services,
bolstering capacity in the community to deliver care out of hospital;
• rolling forward a surplus of £35.32m from the previous financial year, £1.5m of which
was utilised during the year.
This was delivered against the revenue resource limit of £1,298.12m which includes the
running cost allowance of £17.59m and the brought forward surplus of £35.32m
The significant financial challenges in Personal Health Commissioning (PHC) have
continued throughout 2019/20 and the following areas have all overspent:
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

continuing healthcare for adults
children’s and young people’s continuing care
funded nursing care
interim funding of care for people coming out of hospital
after-care under section 117 of the Mental Health Act 1983
mental health and learning disability patients in placements outside of Dorset
rehabilitation for patients with complex brain injuries.

A service improvement programme has been running in PHC with early signs of financial
improvement being noted towards the end of the financial year. The priority for the early
part of 2020/21 for PHC is the enhanced hospital discharge arrangements in response to
the Covid-19 incident. The service improvement programme will be re-established and
continued at the appropriate time.
The financial position leaves the CCG with a cumulative surplus of £35.82m to be carried
forward into 2020/21. This is made up of the £35.32m cumulative surplus brought forward,
together with the £2m surplus achieved in year, less the in-year balance utilisation of
£1.5m. This is available for non-recurrent use in future years and can only be released by
agreement with NHS England as part of an agreed plan.
TABLE 2: SUMMARY OF 2019/20 REVENUE PERFORMANCE
Programme
£’000

Revenue surplus brought forward at 1 April
2019
Revenue allocations received in year
In year utilisation of brought forward surplus
Revenue Resource Limit
Underspend against Revenue Resource Limit
Revenue surplus carried forward at 31st March
2020

2019/20
Running costs
£’000

Total
£’000

35,319

-

35,319

1,246,697
(1,500)
1,280,516
1,547

17,591
17,591
453

1,264,288
(1,500)
1,298,107
2,000
35,819

The CCG is working with its health and social care partners in an integrated care system
(ICS) whereby partners take collective responsibility for managing resources, delivering
NHS standards, and improving the health of the population they serve.
The key financial feature of an ICS is a joint surplus or deficit target for the NHS partners,
amount agreed by NHS England and NHS Improvement. The Dorset ICS NHS bodies
succeeded in meeting their joint target surplus of £4.04m in 2019/20.
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FIGURE 2: ANALYSIS OF NET OPERATING COSTS 2019/20

Future financial outlook
Impact of COVID-19 pandemic
At the time of writing the COVID-19 pandemic has fundamentally changed the financial
regime for the NHS. On 2 April 2020 the Department for Health and Social Care announced
28 changes to the NHS cash and capital regimes for 2020/21, so the CCG plan as agreed by
the Governing body was set aside, from April - July 2020. The Chancellor’s statement in
the Budget 2020 that ‘whatever extra resources our NHS needs to cope with coronavirus –
it will get’ means that, for the period of crisis, there is more certainty about funding than
before. However, at this point it is not known what shape the NHS funding regime will
take after July 2020.
For the short-term Dorset CCG will be incurring additional expenditure in response to the
pandemic but will be reimbursed from central funds. At the same time much of the normal
activity is reduced resulting in significantly different spend, for example with independent
sector provider contracts being procured and funded nationally. In addition, the national
Hospital Discharge Programme means that all costs relating to moving patients out of
hospital are now being reimbursed to the local system from central funds, irrespective of
whether they would normally be Continuing Healthcare, Local Authority or self-funding.
During the recovery period it is anticipated that there will be a managed and gradual
return to business as usual, with an impact on funding and expenditure. It is not possible
to forecast how this will be achieved but there will be both risks and opportunities to be
managed.
In recognition of the uncertainty arising from the covid-19 pandemic the CCG has not set
an operational plan for 2020/21 and is instead planning to set an interim budget for
2020/21. This budget will align with the profile of expenditure in managing the incident
and will be in place for as long as necessary, with a subsequent recovery phase needed.
During the recovery phase we will work with national guidance and expectations to focus
on supporting the Dorset ICS Long Term Plan (LTP) ambition to achieve its overall financial
position.
13
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The CCG’s initial funding allocation for 2020/21 had increased by 3.8% and the operational
plan was being developed to utilise this to support delivery of the Long Term Plan,
including in some high-risk areas such as acute commissioning, prescribing and continuing
healthcare. However, this has subsequently been adjusted to reflect the temporary
financial regime which has been put in place to cover the COVID-19 emergency period
from 1 April 2020 to 31 July 2020. The allocation will be adjusted again retrospectively to
match actual expenditure during the COVID-19.
It was intended that the Operational Plan would support delivery of more care closer to
home to significantly reduce the number of people attending hospital when they don't
need to whilst transforming hospitals, community services and primary care will help
achieve the ambition of financially and clinically sustainable health and social care
designed around the person.

CCG initial funding allocations 2020/21 to 2023/24
The NHS Long Term Plan will provide Dorset with a significant financial uplift over the
next four years. The CCG has received its funding allocation as set by the national
allocation formula, as outlined in Table 3.
TABLE 3: CCG INITIAL FUNDING ALLOCATIONS 2020/21 COMPARED TO 2023/24
Source of Funds

2020/21
allocations
£m

CCG core programmes

1,155.9

1,201.2

Primary care delegated

113.7

118.8

124.6

131.2

Running cost allowance

14.8

14.8

14.8

14.8

1,284.4

1,334.8

Allocations
Growth vs prior year

3.8%

2021/22
allocations
£m

3.9%

2022/23
allocations
£m

1,244.3

1,383.7
3.7%

2023/24
allocations
£m

1,286.1

1,432.1
3.5%

Dorset integrated care system (ICS)
In 2017/18 the Dorset health organisations put in place a collaborative agreement
designed to provide an environment of mutual support, collaboration and trust to underpin
the system delivery plans identified as part of our Sustainability and Transformation Plans
and in relation to our Clinical Services Review. As we enter a fourth year of this
collaboration, we continually work to improve the health and care for the people of
Dorset, to ensure a modern health and care system as described in the NHS Long Term
Plan.
This agreement also has an underpinning principle of collective management of risk which
is now further enhanced by forming an integrated care system (ICS).

Better Care Fund
Joining up health and social care provides opportunities to improve health and wellbeing,
improve quality of care and to enhance efficiency and productivity. The Better Care Fund
is a key vehicle to support our plans that pulls all this joint work together. We will operate
with two sub plans in 2020/21 – one for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole and one for
Dorset. This is in line with the populations served by the two new Unitary Councils and
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enables us to continue to work effectively with local communities through our integrated
locality teams.
We are using the Better Care Fund to deliver improved outcomes for the whole county of
Dorset, including; carer support, promoting and maintaining independent living, facilitating
safe and timely discharge from hospital, improving quality of care provided at home and in
care homes and building on existing jointly commissioned services to improve efficiency and
productivity. (See page 18 for further information.)

CCG efficiency plans (quality, innovation, productivity and prevention - QIPP)
The draft assessment of efficiency requirements for Dorset CCG identified a high level of
QIPP savings requirement, encompassing:
• continuing healthcare;
• prescribing;
• CCG running costs.
The CCG anticipates having some unidentified QIPP target in 2020/21, which reflects late
changes to the financial planning assumptions and the current uncertainty about how the
recovery from COVID-19 will be managed.
Work on the QIPP plans has been temporarily suspended to focus on managing the COVID19 response and will resume as part of the recovery and return to business as usual. The
CCG will also continue to strive to deliver QIPP above and beyond target to provide further
headroom in support of the demanding NHS transformation agenda.
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Our work programmes
Prevention at scale
Everyone deserves the same opportunities to lead a healthy life, no matter where they
live or who they are. Health inequalities are generally seen in areas where there is high
deprivation. We know that reducing health inequalities isn’t just about healthy choices, it
is about jobs that local people can get, decent housing and preventing people becoming
isolated.
In Dorset we know that there is a gap in life expectancy across the county. There is an
even bigger gap in how long people live before they develop long-term conditions or
problems that impact on their daily life.
There are also vulnerable groups within society, and people with protected
characteristics. We need to do more, to understand how well our current services and any
planned service changes address their needs.
Our prevention at scale programme focuses on understanding areas of inequality and the
reasons behind it, so we can improve the lives of those with the worst health, fastest.
Public Health England's 'Menu of Interventions' identifies preventative actions that can
improve the health of the population.
Our prevention priorities will build on our current programme of prevention work based
around the life course these are: starting well, living well, ageing well and healthy places.
Evidence shows that early positive experiences are important for improving outcomes
throughout life. Our prevention strategy focuses on early work with children and families
so that they carry on with positive behaviours into adulthood.
Progress to date includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

targeted our drug and alcohol treatment services for people who are ready to change;
continued support for those people who wish to stop smoking through our smoking in
pregnancy and pilot lung cancer projects;
recruited and trained over 230 collaborative champions;
run five pre-diabetes prevention courses;
LiveWell Dorset has helped over 23,000 people;
5,500 children are running daily through the Daily Mile initiative in schools;
during 2019 we were part of the national population health management pilot. We
created a single source of information for GPs to identify people most at need, with a
particular focus on diabetes and respiratory disease. This led to a more personalised
approach to care to improve outcomes.

Integrated community and primary care services
Through our Integrated Community and Primary Care Services programme we will
transform general practice, primary and community health and care services in Dorset so
that they are working at the right scale, truly integrated and based on the needs of our
population.
Progress towards this includes:
• general practice quality: 95% of general practices across Dorset continue to be rated
by the Care Quality Commission as good or outstanding for the quality and outcomes of
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care provided. Whilst there remains variation in care, both within our networks of
general practice and across Dorset, this year practices have been working together on
targeted improvements in care processes, based on local population health needs, and
in collaboration with partners, in order to address this.
• patient experience: the 2019 survey results were published on 12 July 2019. The
response rate from Dorset patients was 45% based on the 23,255 questionnaires sent
out. This is higher than the national average but there has been a slight but steady
decline in responses over the last few years. 87% of Dorset patients described their
overall experience of their GP practice as good. The majority of patients in Dorset
continue to have confidence in the healthcare professionals they see.
This year we have refreshed our Primary Care Commissioning Strategy to support delivery
of the NHS Long Term Plan as part of ‘Our Dorset’ integrated care system. We have
focused on a number of areas of strategy delivery including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

improved access to primary care;
workforce planning;
primary care resilience and transformation;
involving all general practices in establishing Primary Care Networks to serve local
populations;
estates and technology improvements;
personalisation;
working with NHS England to develop new partnerships and collaboration as Dorset
begins to work as part of a South West primary care delivery group.

Achievements have included:
• primary care commissioning: an internal audit review of primary care commissioning
in Dorset confirmed that significant progress has been made over the last year in the
CCG’s ability to deliver its delegated commissioning functions and plans for adopting
new approaches to commissioning that will more specifically address local population
need. The national GP contract reforms were introduced in April with investment and
contractual requirements to support the implementation of the NHS Long Term Plan.
We are now commissioning general practices to work together to improve access to
care and deliver on our new integrated care models.
• improving access: general practice and community based providers are now working as
part of an integrated urgent care system to deliver improved access to out of hospital
services and developing new local access plans that respond to population needs for
routine care and long term condition management that will support the overall system
demand, including rapid response services for those with escalating need.
• workforce planning: further investment has been made in integrated community and
primary care teams to deliver new care models. As part of GP contract reforms new
primary care workforce roles have been introduced including clinical pharmacists and
social prescribing link workers and plans are in place to further invest in additional
roles next year to support the delivery of new care models. Despite national challenges
with recruitment and retention of staff we have successfully recruited 35 GP Retainers
in Dorset as part of a national programme and we are on course to achieve national
targets set for GP workforce.
• primary care resilience and transformation: Since taking on full delegation in 2016,
the CCG has committed to investing in supporting the resilience and sustainability of
General Practice. Investment has increased year on year.
• developing primary care networks to improving population health: There are now 18
established Primary Care Networks in Dorset providing 100% population and geographic
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coverage. Networks have formed around natural communities and serve a population of
between 22,000 and 75,000. Each network has reviewed their own population health
needs to inform local work which has focused this year on prevention-at-scale and longterm condition management. Networks are beginning to form the building blocks for our
integrated care system providing more personalised care and enhanced services in care
homes. Work in these areas has led to more partnership working with local authority,
voluntary and community services.
• estates and technology improvements: The Lifeboat Quay Medical Centre opened in
September 2019, a £1.5 m relocation project as part of an estates and technology
transformation fund providing improved quality services for up to 13,500 patients.
Dorset CCG has also invested over £400,000 capital funding working with NHS England
providing premises improvements to GP Practices across Dorset. In many practices
patients are now offered the option to Consult their Doctor online and by upgrading IT
networks there is better team and mobile working. Practices are now able to access
and share information more reliably supporting an expansion of the Dorset Care Record.
• personalisation: this year has seen increased investment in our health coaches and
social prescribing link workers to support more patients with self-care and managing
their own long-term health needs. We have been focussing on increasing access to
personal health budgets for carers as part of a national programme. Next year this will
be expanded to support more patients with mental health needs and also focus on
wheelchair users. We are rolling out personalised health and support planning across all
our Primary Care Networks.

Better Care Fund
The Better Care Fund is a key to helping us deliver ‘Our Dorset’ Integrated System Plan.
Two Better Care Fund plans are in place, which align to the populations served by the two
new Unitary Councils, Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council and Dorset Council;
this enables us to work effectively with local communities through integrated care teams.
We are using the plans to deliver joined up health and care to improve health and
wellbeing, improve quality of care and to enhance efficiency and productivity. We are
committed to providing person centred integrated care with health, social care, housing
and other public services and this is fundamental to having a strong and sustainable health
and care system. Through our plans in 2019/20, we continue to:
• support carers;
• promote and maintain independent living including integrated community equipment
and assistive technologies;
• facilitate safe and timely discharge from hospital including enhanced health in care
homes, seven day services and early discharge planning;
• improved the quality of care provided at home and in care homes including integrated
health and social care locality teams;
• supporting strong and sustainable care markets;
• build on existing jointly commissioned services to improve efficiency and productivity.
The majority of the pooled resources for the Better Care Fund come from existing activity
within the health and social care system such as Disabled Facilities Grants used for aids and
adaptations, and additional contributions from Local Authority or CCG budgets. In addition,
extra short-term grants from central government have been paid directly to local authorities
such as the Winter Pressures Grant and Improved Better Care Fund which are used for
meeting adult social care needs, reducing pressures (including seasonal) on the NHS and
ensuring that the social care provider market is supported.
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Changing organisations and systems
Alongside changes for Councils is the continued development and delivery of Dorset’s
integrated care system plans. We continue to implement plans for:
• service redesign of primary and community care services, through workforce reshaping
and redistribution: matching resource to demand to develop more sustainable services
through improving skill mix and providing more consistency of care from community
hubs (with or without beds);
• service configuration to provide services at a time that reflect people’s needs and
ensure that there is more comprehensive support for carers and service users, as well
as care professionals; and
• right sizing the capacity of community health beds across Dorset to best reflect the
changing population growth/need and working with the independent care home market
to enable more people to be supported closer to home.
These plans now incorporate a more focussed place-based approach, with the establishment
of 18 Primary Care Networks. These are supporting general practice coming together, in
partnership with community services, social care and other providers of health and social
care to provide proactive, personalised and coordinated out of hospital care within
geographically defined areas in Dorset. Networks are forming around natural communities,
serving a population of around 30,000 to 50,000. This backdrop of significant organisational
and system change offers up real opportunities to reconfigure how services are organised
with person centred care being the central component to every aspect of service delivery.

Winter Pressures Grant
The actions below have been put in place to alleviate winter pressures across the system.
Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Health and Wellbeing area:
• enhanced brokerage services in order to prioritise packages of care and reablement
• expanded independent living advisor services to help prevent delays by assisting people
who fund their own care and support.
• continued to deliver a hospital discharge support team delivering reablement and
therapy.
• injected additional capacity into the Poole area through use of interim beds at a new
facility called Figbury Lodge, extra reablement assistant capacity and employment of
an Occupational Therapist in order to enhance therapy led services.
• deployed increased social work capacity through extended weekday and weekend
working
• increased the level of capacity to facilitate discharge through care home placements
and care packages for very complex/high cost cases. Extend protected hours for care
providers, in order to protect hard to source packages for up to 2 weeks.
• commissioned extra winter domiciliary care hours in order to meet the extra demand
• enhanced community alarm and response service in order to reduce/prevent admissions
and increase confidence for those returning home from hospital.
Dorset Health and Wellbeing area:
Home first and Discharge 2 Assess (D2A) is embedded in daily practice. The use of winter
pressures grant has enhanced the capacity and responsiveness of D2A. Funding is being
used to extend working hours into the evenings and weekends, including access to
19

PERFORMANCE
brokerage and other operational teams. These extended hours have impacted on higher
discharge numbers. Investment in integrated community and primary care services and
integrated hubs will continue to enhance the offer available 7 days a week.

One acute network of services
Our vision is to provide a local NHS service that is centred on the needs of local people
and to support people in Dorset to lead healthier lives, for longer. To deliver this, Dorset
hospitals will need to work together in an efficient and effective way. Currently, Dorset
has three district general hospitals providing a range of services across the county with
variable standards and outcomes for patients. In a very challenging climate which is seeing
increasing shortages of specialist staff, rising inequalities in our population and severe
financial constraints with a forecasted financial gap of £229m, as identified in our
published Sustainability and Transformation Plan if we did nothing. It is clear that the
current configuration of our hospitals is unable to meet the full range of quality standards
and is not financially viable.
The One Acute Network (OAN), established by the three acute Trusts in Dorset, has
continued to oversee the planning, preparation and implementation of the Clinical
Services Review (CSR) in two broad categories, Dorset Clinical Networks and the East
Dorset Reconfiguration programme.
The Dorset Clinical Network programme has developed clinical networks across
Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset County hospitals and has established six priority
workstreams: haematology, rheumatology, urology, pathology, radiology and stroke. The
workstreams are focussing on developing a networked approach to referral and clinical
pathways so that the benefits of working together can be adopted across Dorset’s
hospitals. This will mean the same high standard of care will be delivered across Dorset no
matter which hospital delivers the service. Some of the priority areas include developing a
hyper acute stroke service in East Dorset, implementing a new pathology information
system across Dorset (Dorset was the only part of the country to receive national funding
for an IT system such as this) and a focus on urology cancer referral criteria and cancer
pathways within and between hospitals.
The East Dorset reconfiguration programme has focussed on planning and designing the
reconfiguration of Bournemouth and Poole hospitals into the Major Emergency and Major
Planned hospitals. The reconfiguration programme has involved large scale clinical input
across Bournemouth and Poole to ensure clinical input leads the design process, with
clinical teams deciding future patient volumes, numbers of beds and theatres, locations of
clinical functions such as A&E or maternity and which services need to be close to others
to ensure the highest quality and most efficient service can be delivered from the
reconfigured sites. Clinical teams have visited hospitals elsewhere in the country to see
the latest innovations in the NHS so these can be applied to the new hospitals design. The
intelligence from these visits has helped form part of the outline business case due to be
submitted to NHS Improvement and the Treasury in 2019 in order that the £147m can be
released to the Trusts. The merger of Bournemouth and Poole Hospitals continues
following successful completion of the NHS Improvement strategic review phase with the
Trusts progressing through the full business case stage.
Progress to date includes:
• Dorset Clinical Networks (DCN) programme continues to drive change across the three
acute trusts and two additional services have now been added to the programme
including Dermatology and Maternity;
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• the DCN pathology programme which was successful in bidding for £5.1m for the new
laboratory information system has appointed Clinisys as the implementation partner for
the new system which will roll out across Dorset throughout 2020/21;
• the clinical design programme completed the estate design for both the ‘Women,
Children and Emergency Centre’ on the Bournemouth site and the ‘theatres’ on the
Poole site;
• Planning permission has been granted for Poole theatres and Bournemouth has been
submitted;
• the merger patient benefit case has been completed and the trusts are progressing
through the merger full business case stage, with formal NHSI review expected from
March 2020;
• Bournemouth and Poole trusts have appointed the shadow interim board for the new
Trust including the executive and non-executive directors, the Board will meet for the
first time early in 2020;
• the name for the new Trust has been developed with partners and will be called
University Hospitals Dorset NHS Foundation Trust;
• the merger of PHFT and RBCHFT is expected to complete in the summer of 2020.

Collaborative elective care pathway redesign
Across Dorset we are working closer together as one health system to ensure equity in
access and service provision for our patients. In 2018/19 we established the Dorset
Elective Care Board to provide system leadership and oversight for all elective care
programmes of work.
We have continued to make progress across a range of priority programme areas focusing
on providing sustainable services, equity in access and service provision for our patients,
and improving services to provide better outcomes for patients and the best value for
money.
•
•
•
•
•

dermatology;
cardiovascular disease - cardiology, diabetes and stroke;
musculoskeletal;
ophthalmology;
outpatients.

Progress against each of these areas can be seen below:
Dermatology: We are making good progress as a health care system in exploring how we
can provide dermatology services differently across Dorset. There are a number of
challenges faced within this specialty that we are trying to overcome, such as meeting
high demand for services and workforce availability. We need to therefore look at how we
can provide the same high level of care where patients have quick access to services and
are seen in a timely way by the right person and in the right healthcare setting. We have:
• developed an education and workforce group to explore how a range of multidisciplinary health care professionals can support the service, for example, six GPs are
undertaking the Royal College of GPs (RCGP) Dermatology GP with Extended Role
(GPwER) accreditation; which will enable them to carry out additional care within
primary care, and supervise other GPs in dermatology. We are also looking at
developing a training and career framework for nurses and a community pharmacy
training programme.
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• we have scoped the provision of dermatology services in Dorset across primary,
community and secondary care and the resources we have available. We are now
exploring how we could use our resources differently, for example providing care closer
to home and avoiding unnecessary visits to hospital and offering digital opportunities
for outpatient services in the future;
• we continue to promote the use of teledermatology and the advice and guidance
service for GPs to gain specialist advice from consultants to ensure only appropriate
referrals are made to hospital.
Cardiovascular disease:
• Cardiology: Cardiology remains a significant area of work across both the hospitals
and the GP practices in Dorset. This year we have focused on the detection and
treatment of Atrial Fibrillation (AF) in order to diagnose people earlier. We have 79 of
our 85 practices signed up to the Opportunistic Screening for Atrial Fibrillation during
Flu clinics and anticoagulation for the prevention of stroke Local Enhanced Service
(LES). By identifying patients who are not aware they have AF, we are able to offer
treatment sooner reducing the likelihood of complications in later life. We have also
gained funding to provide practices with an AliveCor device. This is a mobile ECG that
will detect AF in patients.
In collaboration with the AHSN, we have undertaken the AF Project enabling a
pharmacist to go into practices to support them to improve numbers of patients
identified as having AF not on an anticoagulant. Practices have also been focussing on
driving up numbers of known AF patients on an anticoagulant so that there are over
80% of this patient cohort on anticoagulation therapy.
We have also completed a heart failure treatment pathway for Dorset, in line with the
NICE guidance that GPs have helped develop. This will be implemented across the
county and we will be looking to further develop networked services for heart failure
in order to provide patients with improvements in continuity between the services.
There have been several education and training programmes delivered to primary care
teams across Dorset to support colleagues in understanding and using the new
pathways for palpitations, AF and Acute Chest Pain.
We have worked closely with stakeholders across Dorset to deliver these project areas.
•

Diabetes: Prevention of Type 2 Diabetes continues to be a national priority. NHSE has
committed to the continuation of the National Diabetes Prevention Programme across
England in the NHS Long term Plan. Dorset has successfully delivered the programme
over the last two years and exceeded delivery targets. Those who have completed the
programme have experienced an average weight loss of 3.6% (slightly higher than the
national average of 3.4%). We look forward to an even better programme from April
2020 that will include a digital offer of support to help more of our population benefit
from the programme.
Diabetes Transformation: We have been fortunate to continue to receive additional
funding from NHS England this year to help us to support our professionals to work
better together to improve outcomes for people with Type 2 diabetes in terms of blood
pressure, cholesterol and HbA1c. Teams from across general practice, community
services and hospitals have looked at better ways of identifying people who may need
extra support in their local areas and delivered different ways to improve their
management of their diabetes.
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•

Stroke: Stroke remains a key area of focus in our efforts to improve and develop
services across the county. We continue to have strong commitment from providers,
commissioners and patients who have experienced stroke/TIA enabling us to
successfully co-design the service changes together. The Dorset Stroke Clinical
Network, as part of Dorset Clinical Network, leads and progresses this programme of
work. Our achievements this year include:
 maximising specialist rehabilitation pathways to support and facilitate flow through
hyper acute and acute stroke units enabling patients to have improved experience
and outcomes. This has led to fewer delays for patients in accessing physiotherapy,
occupational therapy and speech and language therapy services, and also reducing
length of stay in hospital from 15.8 days in April 2019 to 12.6 days in Feb 2020;
 increasing the number of patients discharged home on the Early Supported
Discharge (ESD) pathway and extending its length from 2 weeks to 6 weeks. The
national data collected using the Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme
estimates approximately 34% of all stroke patients are considered eligible for ESD.
Across Dorset, we are sustaining a level of 44.5% meaning we are supporting many
more patients at home with ESD;
 working with the Dorset IT development teams we have created a pan-Dorset
electronic booking system called ‘Efab’. This will be used to support the TIA
services by facilitating quick and safe referrals for people with suspected TIA. It
will also reduce unwarranted variation in referral practices;
 developing a TIA model that meets the needs of patients across Dorset enabling
assessment, investigation and treatment to commence within 24 hours of their first
point of contact with the healthcare professional;
 completing the arrangements for the establishment of a single Hyper Acute Stroke
Unit (HASU) in the East that will open at Royal Bournemouth Hospital during
2020/21. In addition, we have further plans currently in progress at Dorset County
Hospital to develop a HASU in the West. This will provide patients with initial
stroke care that is compliant with the new National Standards.

Musculoskeletal (MSK): Progress has continued across our musculoskeletal (MSK) services,
including:
•

•

•

•

a five-year MSK Strategy was approved by the Clinical Reference Group (system wide
clinical leadership group) and Governing Body in September 2019. The strategy
provides an overview of the work to date and the workplan for the next five-years. The
strategy highlighted a number of areas which may require investment, for which
business cases are being developed.
following the review of MSK Physiotherapy Services during 2018/19, work began on
implementing the recommendations of the review; self-management, self-referral and
face to face services. In the main work has centred on the development of a selfreferral service with a commitment from all providers to support the implementation
during 2020/21.
following approval and securing funding through Active Dorset, work has started on the
development of a centralised MSK website which will offer information for both
patients and stakeholders. There will be a variety of self-management information in
various formats available to patients on the website with an intention that patients
will be signposted to the website as the first step within the MSK pathway.
Stakeholders will have a single point of access for accessing clinical policies and
information.
following a review of Dorset’s Community Pain Service in 2018/19 the service has been
through a period of reviewing all policies and procedures and is due to relaunch in
December 2019. The changes implemented are focussed on ensuring the service is
available to those who need it. During the review the service was experiencing long
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•

•

waiting times, following the transformation they were able to report in September
2019 that 86.42% of patients are waiting 8 weeks for their first face to face clinical
assessment / treatment following completion of routine triage against a target of 92%.
work continues on the suite of Patient Decision Aids for MSK; the hip and knee
replacement tools continue to be operational and an evaluation of their impact is
underway. Work has started on the development of a shoulder decompression tool and
a further tool focussed on low back pain is in development.
in line with the implementation of the Low Back and Radicular Pain Pathway, the
STaRT Back tool has been rolled out across primary care, which provides two week
access for appropriate patients. The roll-out has been supported by a locally developed
GP Tutorial video for use in General Practice – this has offered a digital training
solution which has been very positively received in primary care.

Ophthalmology: There continues to be an increasing demand for ophthalmology services
across Dorset and the Elective Care Team has undertaken some key areas of work to meet
this demand and deliver Transformation.
In July 2019 a ‘Saving Sight in Dorset’ conference took place to bring stakeholders from
both inside and outside of Dorset together to explore how ophthalmology services across
Dorset could work together differently. The focus of the conference was to draw on
examples of good practice and innovation through listening to a range of local and
national guest speakers sharing ideas and ways of working. The event identified several
key priorities to take forward including:
•
•

cataract referral refinement and cataract decision aid tool to ensure that patients are
fully informed and ‘fit and ready’ for surgery at the point of referral to a hospital
service.
improving the pathway for managing patients with suspected glaucoma across
Community and Hospital services to reduce delays in diagnosis and treatment.

From October to December 2019, Dorset CCG commissioned an independent review of
Dorset ophthalmology services under the leadership of a nationally recognised leading
consultant ophthalmologist and team from Moorfields Hospital. The outcomes and
recommendations from this review will provide the basis for developing an action plan and
strategy that supports improvement in the quality, outcomes, and sustainability of our
Ophthalmology Services to meet the needs of our Dorset population in the long term.
The Community Ophthalmology Service provided by Evolutio has continued to increase
clinic sites across Dorset for a range of minor eye conditions and glaucoma monitoring.
This has reduced the need for some people to be seen in hospital eye services.
During 2019, the number of optician practices providing a low vision aid service has
increased to 13 clinics across Dorset ensuring that people have access to this service as
close to home as possible.
Outpatients: In collaboration with our integrated care system providers, we have begun a
system-wide programme of work to fundamentally transform the way in which outpatient
services are delivered across Dorset. Our aim is “to redesign and implement a sustainable
delivery model of care for accessing specialist clinical advice, diagnosis, treatment and
ongoing management which provides better outcomes and experience for patients and
clinicians” as well as achieving those ambitions set out in the NHS Long Term Plan. Key
characteristics of a transformed system would be:
•

promote and encourage self-care and empowerment at every opportunity;
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•
•
•
•
•
•

swift access to specialist clinical care for both patients and other clinicians;
equal and equitable access across Dorset;
ensuring every contact is personalised;
provided in a convenient manner, reducing day-to-day inconvenience for patients;
utilise technology and maximise digital solutions;
support staff to deliver services in a more effective and efficient way and improve
morale.

In July, we held an Outpatients Transformation Conference enabling a range of clinical
and non-clinical staff from across Dorset to come together to develop a collective view on
the purpose of these services, begin the discussion regarding the opportunities to
transform outpatient services, gain an insight into digital technologies and innovations
being used both locally and nationally, along with agreeing the priority areas for
improvement and next steps.
From this, our focus over the last six months of 2019/20 has been on enabling remote
consultations (online one2one video consultations and group sessions/webinars) and
reducing process inefficiencies and duplication. Working in collaboration with our acute
trusts, online video consultation via Attend Anywhere across several specialities will be
live and operational across all Dorset ICS providers by the end of March 2020. This will
support patients to access specialist clinical care without the need to travel to an acute
trust and therefore, reducing the day-to-day inconvenience (time and expense) this can
cause. The aim is to reduce outpatient visits to hospitals by a third by 2024/25.
This exciting programme of work will continue into 2020/21, focusing on increasing the
use of remote consultations (telephone, online video consultations and webinars),
standardising referral processes and patient pathways and encouraging clinicians to seek
advice and guidance from specialist clinicians.
Cancer
Dorset Cancer Partnership (DCP) is formed from Dorset providers, the Clinical
Commissioning Group, Public Health, the voluntary sector and Local Authorities. The DCP
is responsible for delivering the cancer elements of the Sustainability and Transformation
Plan (STP) encompassing the Dorset cancer plan and transforming services to deliver
improved outcomes for people affected by cancer, in line with the national and regional
cancer strategies. The DCP works closely with, and as part of, the Wessex Cancer Alliance
and also is responsible for ensuring there is system wide delivery of cancer standards.
The Vision for cancer services in Dorset was agreed in March 2017: A single Dorset Cancer
Service working to prevent cancer within our population, diagnose cancer early, achieve
great outcomes and treat our patients as individuals, with person-centred, equitable care
for all.
Through this partnership working across Dorset, the DCP developed the ’Dorset Cancer
Strategy 2017 – 2020 for adults and children’ using the national strategy values as its
foundation. Patient and carer engagement was at the heart of this work and we are now
well into the implementation of this strategy with many projects coming to completion at
the end of 2020/21.
The DCP has a number of agreed transformation programmes that have made significant
progress to contribute to the delivery of this strategy. They are:
•

prevention at scale (PAS):
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•

•

•

•

•

increase uptake of cervical cancer screening. This has been re-commissioned by
Public Health England and HPV screening is being introduced into the cervical
screening programme;
 increase uptake of bowel cancer screening – Public Health England has
implemented faecal immunochemical testing (FIT) into the national bowel cancer
screening programme from June 2019 and this is working well across Dorset;
 increase uptake of breast cancer screening;
 reduce prevalence of smoking - A pilot has taken place in Dorset County Hospital to
support respiratory clinic patients to stop smoking, in partnership with Livewell
Dorset;
 deliver supportive employer project to enable NHS staff to adopt healthier
lifestyles and attend cancer screening appointments.
early detection and diagnosis:
 we are implementing the Optimal Lung Pathway (OLP) across Dorset to enable
patients to be seen, diagnosed and treated earlier. In July 2019, a new CT scanner
was mobilised in Poole Hospital and the project has created the employment of
Patient Navigator posts at all three Dorset hospitals to guide patients through their
pathway.
 the project is also expected to recruit Respiratory Consultants to all three Dorset
hospitals to start August 2020;
 we have developed a system-wide Lung Dashboard identifying the need for baseline
project data and to track patients through the pathway;
 we are working collaboratively with Dorset County Hospital (DCH) utilising CT
scanner capacity at Poole for routine scans to free up slots at DCH to be used for
patients on the lung cancer pathway;
 we have undertaken one practice of case finding and will roll this out to further GP
practices to see if we can identify undiagnosed patients;
 symptomatic FIT testing will be rolled out Dorset-wide within the endoscopy
review;
 develop pathway for rapid access diagnostic service;
Personalisation and Risk Stratification
 development of the protocols for selection and monitoring of patients suitable for
risk stratified follow-up is complete for breast, colorectal and prostate protocols
and we are out to tender for an IT solution. We have developed a 5-year
implementation plan for the delivery of stratified follow-up and personalised care
and support planning in breast, colorectal and prostate.
Communications
 this work falls into 2 main areas – website and signposting;
 development of a Dorset wide cancer information website is underway and this will
mobilise to being Wessex wide. The website will enable patients and carers and
staff to have digital access to all the patient information both locally and
nationally.
Signposting service
 this work has been identified following extensive engagement with patients and
carers about their views on cancer information. We have taken all the feedback
and have developed an action plan including early information signposting through
clinics across Dorset, development of a patient information pack that can be used
at all hospitals and expansion of the volunteer service to develop supported
signposting.
Workforce
 Integrated workforce planning is underway to redesign the workforce in order to
sustain the workforce Dorset requires to deliver new health and care models, now
and in the future.
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We are pleased to have been awarded ‘outstanding’ status for our cancer services in 2019
as part of the NHS England STP assurance process. The overall rating is given in
recognition of achieving a range of cancer standards based on four indicators: early
diagnosis, 62 day waits for treatment after referral, one-year survival and overall patient
experience.
All of this work will continue to deliver improvements in cancer outcomes for patients and
support sustained improvements against the NHS England Assurance Framework indicators
for cancer.

Learning disability and autism
Priorities for learning disability and autism are outlined within the NHS Long Term Plan, and
include:
•

•

for every one million adults, there will be no more than 30 people with a learning
disability and/or autism cared for in an inpatient unit. For children and young people,
no more than 12 to 15 children with a learning disability, autism or both per million,
will be cared for in an inpatient facility;
increasing to 75% the percentage of people on GP learning disability registers
receiving an annual health check.

Progress in 2019/20:
•
•
•
•

the Care (Education) and Treatment Review (CTR) process has been effective in
avoiding 28 hospital admissions; adults: 7 pre-admission CTRs resulted in admission
avoidance. Children and young people: 21 CETRs resulted in admission avoidance.
14 adults and 10 children and young people were discharged from hospital;
8 adults were admitted and 8 children and young people were admitted;
success with a number of capital bids enabled an increase in housing stock within
Dorset, with new units:






•
•
•
•
•

5
2
6
2
4

units in Dorchester (old School Lane), Dorset;
units in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) single schemes;
units, Coburg Court, Dorset;
units Cranford Avenue, Weymouth, Dorset;
relocatable bungalows in Dorset.

new developments without NHSE capital bids – 9 units, Canford Road, BCP;
dynamic support registers were implemented for both adults and children and young
people with a learning disability and/or autism at risk of care and support breakdown
or hospital admission;
associated monthly multidisciplinary cohort meetings held to discuss actions required
for those on dynamic support registers;
a programme of quality checking of care settings and training has been delivered by
self-advocates;
no current % increase in people receiving a learning disability annual health check. Q4
figures affected by COVID-19 and will need to be re-evaluated post COVID-19 crisis.

Mental health
We remain committed to tackling mental health with the same energy and priority as we
have tackled physical illness in order to deliver high quality and effective services that
support the ambition of the NHS Long Term Plan.
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As part of our work in 2019/20 we have made significant investments in mental health
services. Key developments include:
• further expansion of access to psychological therapies. This has seen a particular focus
on integrating our offer with physical health services by developing a dedicated arm of
the local service – Steps to wellbeing Body and Mind, with the specific remit of working
with people with long term health conditions. The service continues to receive positive
feedback and achieve high rates of recovery. Locally we are meeting all access
trajectories;
• launch of Access Mental Health on World Mental Health Day in October. This is the
culmination of the decisions taken as part of the Mental Health Acute Care Pathway
review. This now sees real alternatives to hospital in place for people experiencing a
mental health crisis. Two Retreats are open – one based inn Bournemouth and one in
Dorchester; three Community Front Rooms – Wareham, Bridport and Shaftsbury;
Recovery beds in both Poole and Weymouth all supported by the Connection – a 24hr all
age crisis line. These developments have been co-produced and are being delivered
through a partnership of statutory and 3rd sector organisations; demonstrating the
effectiveness and our commitment to more joined up and integrated working that
values community assets;
• we have completed a co-produced review of Mental Health Rehabilitation Services
culminating in the development of a new community focused model of care. We will be
working with partners in the coming months to implement this new model of care which
places an emphasis on enabling people to recover and re-integrate into their local
community and society;
• as part of this we were successful in applying to be a wave 2 site for the
implementation of a new model of employment support for people with a severe
mental illness and implementation of this has commenced;
• we have developed a pilot to test a model to provide physical health checks for people
with severe mental illness. This aims to test out a more integrated model of working
across primary and secondary care and form the building blocks for a future offer of
mental health integrated community care that improves the experience of care;
• Dorset has also been successful in securing additional funds to support the expansion
and development of psychiatric liaison services within our local acute hospitals. This
will see the development of services to ensure there is a robust 24/7 offer in each of
our acute trusts by the end of 2020/21. Implementation commenced with workforce
being recruited to support expansion in Bournemouth Hospital;
• the Dementia Services Review was completed and decision taken by the CCG Governing
Body to approve the new co-produced model of care. This will see significant
investment in local services and an enhancement to people’s experience of care. The
changes will see a more streamlined diagnosis pathway, and more importantly the
introduction of new dementia co-ordinators to work with people from diagnosis through
to end of life. Dementia roadshows and carer workshops will also be developed as part
of the revised offer. These changes will start to be implemented through 2020;
• improvements in the local mental health offer to children and young people have also
continued. Dorset was successful in becoming a national trailblazer site for Mental
Health Support Teams in Schools and work commenced on implementing this approach
across three clusters of 18 schools – Weymouth, North Dorset and a cluster of schools
across Bournemouth and Poole. These teams have enabled earlier access to support and
evidenced based psychological interventions;
• we have also commenced work on a wider review to shape services around a THRIVE
framework which will see the adoption of a ‘no wrong door’ approach when accessing
support. We published a Children and Young People Local Transformation Plan setting
out the improvements we aim to complete over the course of the NHS Long Term Plan.
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Maternity and children
In our commitment to deliver to safe and high quality care for all women and children we
have set out ambitious plans to transform women’s and children’s service across the
county to improve outcomes and deliver cost-effective services. This is being achieved by
embracing new models of care, new and different ways of working whilst utilising
technology and digital innovation. This will see more of our services being integrated and
accessible for families with improved access seven days a week in the acute hospitals and
community services. This will offer greater access to community services reducing the
need for local people to attend hospital; However, when people do need hospital-based
services they will be higher quality.
We outlined our intention to maintain a consultant led maternity and overnight children’s
service in Dorchester, as well as at the major emergency hospital. Extensive work has led
to the design of the new women, children and emergency centre at the Royal
Bournemouth Hospital site and theatres at the Poole Hospital site. This will provide 24/7
access to consultant-led obstetric maternity services and paediatrics at both Royal
Bournemouth Hospital and Dorset County Hospital. A new purpose built maternity facility
at the Royal Bournemouth Hospital is planned and is included in the capital outline
business case to treasury for the £147m national capital. We will also be making sure we
have the capacity and resources for the ongoing delivery of consultant led maternity and
paediatric services at Dorset County Hospital.
Maternity transformation: The Dorset Local Maternity Transformation plan was rated as
Green by NHS England in 2018 and the Local Maternity Service have been delivering Better
Births recommendations set out in the plan since February 2017. The Better Births early
adopter projects to improve postnatal care, personalised care, continuity of carer and
care to vulnerable women have continued to be progressed as part of Dorset’s Better
Births maternity transformation plan.
Good progress made over the last year included:
• Royal College of Midwives award in partnership working for the Better Births early
adopter project;
• increasing choice and personalisation by launching a Maternity Matters Dorset website
to provide a single point of information and access for women to self-refer to maternity
services;
• implemented the new pathway for postnatal care that includes more support and
contacts offered to women up to 28 days before discharge. Increased workforce
training and education of maternity support workers through Pan Dorset training
passport;
• increased access to specialist community perinatal mental health services;
• launched the maternity clinical portal as part of the Dorset Care Record;
• developed an online Dorset-wide antenatal and postnatal learning module for emotional
wellbeing and mental health of mothers due to launch by March 2020;
• a local DadPad app is available to partners as a practical aid to enable new dads to gain
the confidence and skills necessary to be the very best they can be;
• continuing to support safer maternity care so that services progress towards the 2020
national ambition to reduce stillbirths, neonatal deaths, maternal death and brain
injuries by 20% and by 50% in 2020;
• improving the smoke stop services in maternity units;
• progress made towards Dorset’s Digital Maternity Care Record;
• improving choice by Dorset County Hospital offering midwifery led rooms due to open
early next year.
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Our key priorities include:
• evaluating the early adopter project for improved postnatal care and personalised care;
• continuing to implement recommendations of the Better Births national maternity
review including:









improving continuity of carer for women, particularly for women from BAME
communities and those living in deprived areas;
continuing to support safer maternity care;
continue to support services to develop effective and sustainable smoke stop
services to reduce smoking in pregnancy and postnatally;
we will continue to improve access to Perinatal Mental Health services for women
who experience mental health difficulties arising from, or related to, the
pregnancy or birth experience. This includes improving access to specialist
services and continuing to ensure that midwives have training in screening for
mental health conditions during pregnancy;
working with Wessex Clinical Network we will look at developing services and how
psychology can be embedded within Dorset maternity services;
work will continue in Dorset and across Wessex to develop emotional wellbeing and
the mental health support and care for fathers and partners;
we will continue work towards Dorset’s Digital Maternity Care Record and enabling
women’s access to personal held record, as well as supporting the development of
the Wessex Care Records programme sharing information across Dorset, Hampshire
and Isle of Wight.

Children and young people’s services
A key CCG objective is to ensure that acute and community health services for children and
young people are delivered within aligned/integrated care pathways that bring services
together and take into account both physical and emotional health needs.
Progress to date includes:
• further development of the paediatrics in primary care services’ project. The aim of
which is to improve professional relationships, develop knowledge, competency and
skills and ensure that children and young people have access to the right people at the
right time in the right place to meet their health needs. In 2019/20 the system has
developed clinics and multidisciplinary team meetings across our Primary Care
Networks;
• the children’s physical health service review, with two view seeking events with
children and young people was completed. The children and young people felt strongly
that all service redesign should link children’s physical and emotional health.
• working with the Our Dorset system, public health nursing has been brought together in
an integrated way to support school readiness, physical activity and family health and
wellbeing as well as the development of the Dorset wide safeguarding children
partnership;
• we have led, in close partnership with Dorset Council, Bournemouth, Christchurch and
Poole Council and provider services the development of a tiered learning and training
offer in relation to the SEND reforms. The Tier 1 training has been successfully
implemented and embedded in organisations as mandatory training and has been well
received. The filming of Tier 2 training is now underway and is being fully co-produced
with parents/carers and children/young people.
• during 2019/20 there has been a collaboration with partners focussing on a whole
system approach to speech, language and communication provision across Dorset to
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improve support available to children and young people with speech, language and
communication needs. We, with the local authorities and providers, have worked
together to understand the needs of the local population and map the local services,
this has been supported by the use of the “balanced system” a jointly commissioned
strategic, outcome focussed and whole system framework to improve the delivery of
speech, language and communication services. A survey was also distributed to service
users/parents and carers and anyone with experience of the speech and language
service during October 2019 for approximately one month and a parent/carer focus
group was facilitated;
• a review of the paediatric allergy pathway was completed in 2019/20 with a plan to
work with children and young people, primary and secondary care during 2020/21 to
redesign the model to ensure an equitable and quality service across the county.

Enabling programmes
Leading and working differently
In Dorset we have a track record of working together to understand and tackle our people
challenges and opportunities. We know that we need to continue to work together, listen
together and invest together if we want to retain and grow our existing workforce, and
attract and recruit our future workforce. Dorset’s evolving People Plan recognises and
respects what is best done at an organisational level, system level and regional/national
level.
Our evolving People Plan includes:
•
•
•
•
•

our response to the national People Plan;
our response to integrated service, financial and workforce planning;
inclusive leadership culture;
making the NHS the best place to work;
workforce transformation and growth.

Progress to date includes:
• targeted recruitment campaigns;
• set up dedicated websites to attract staff into Dorset;
• we’ve opened the Our Dorset Development Hub bringing our organisations and teams
together;
• funded new nurse apprenticeships;
• developed workforce plans to deliver future services;
• implemented the Dorset talent management programme;
• invested in new career routes into nursing; including 50 registered nurse degree
apprenticeships recruited from school leavers and mature applicants;
• visited over 60 schools talking to young people about careers;
• launched 30 new programmes, including apprenticeships, physicians associate and
advanced clinical practice programmes;
• worked across the South West ADASS at a collaborative approach to workforce planning
and gaps in provision;
• implemented ‘grow your own’ approach;
• we have 35 ‘making every contact count’ and mental health first aid trainers who are
now running their own courses across Dorset;
• we ran mental health first aid courses for all schools in Dorset;
• over 500 people are trained in mental health first aid for young people and adults.
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Digitally transformed Dorset
Our vision is to support the transforming health and social care system in Dorset with the
adoption and exploitation of the best technology available to support frontline staff.
Local people and sustainable delivery of better outcomes are at the core of everything we
do. We will ensure appropriate digital services safely empower people in their homes,
communities and care settings.
Our strategy has four workstreams which are:
• shared care records – will support the delivery of joined up, seamless care through
sharing the right information at the right time, including child protection and looked
after children information;
• intelligent working – will enable greater analytical intelligence of existing data to
support service planning and design, whilst delivering answers to our population health
and risk stratification questions;
• empowering self-care – will support people to confidently manage their long-term
conditions, facilitate and encourage digital skills development for the population
working with Clinical teams to enable greater use of technology to champion self-care
making the prevention at scale agenda accessible to all;
• enabling technologies – will enable staff to be more mobile and have access to the
technologies they need regardless of organisation.
Progress includes:
•
•
•
•

moving to a system wide architecture (moving from N3 to Health and Social Care
Network), designing a single telephony network for the County, implementing Windows
10 to support wider cyber security work;
launching the Dorset Care Record to enable patients to only tell their story once;
implementing a digital first approach for patients through e-consultation and self-care
applications;
starting our work in the automation and artificial intelligence space.

During 2020/21 we will continue to ensure that we develop, implement and support the
use of digital technologies to improve patient care and better support front line staff;
ensuring where possible we have a single approach for Dorset.
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Improving the quality of services
This section describes our commitment to quality improvement and shows how we
discharge our duty to improve quality under Section 14R of the Health and Social
Care Act 2012.

Urgent and emergency care
The Dorset Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) Board continues to operate with good levels
of engagement from all system partners. From July 2019 the Board is co-chaired by an
acute CEO and a Clinical Lead, there is also representation from the ICS transformation
portfolios in order to ensure connections and interdependencies are identified and
effectively managed.
The UEC board has reviewed priorities and identified five delivery groups which shall have
a specific plan:
• Ambulance services - with a focus on handover delays, managing people through 'hear
and treat' and 'see and treat' pathways and taking people to alternative services like
urgent treatment centres where appropriate;
• Emergency Departments - designing integrated walk in front doors and rapid
assessment services within EDs, extending the range of Same Day Emergency Care
services and improving discharge processes from emergency departments;
• Long Length of Stay - achieving a 40 per cent reduction for people who stay in hospital
for more than 21 days, making sure there is a consistent seven days a week offer of
services in the community and having a pan-Dorset policy for hospital discharges;
• Community Urgent Care Offer – improving the urgent care offer to ensure the Dorset
population do not need to attend ED, work with primary care networks to develop their
approach to urgent primary care;
• Seasonal Escalation, Resilience and EU Exit - understanding demand and capacity to
support seasonal planning, we have developed an ICS wide EU Exit plan that sits sideby-side with our winter plans.
Further progress to date includes:
• development of two urgent treatment centres in Bournemouth and Weymouth which
provide people with access to assessment, diagnostic and treatment for minor injury
and illness. Poole Urgent Treatment Centre shall be implemented on the 1st December;
• Poole Hospital is one of the sites that is testing the new ED standards which will inform
both the national and local learning and roll out;
• as coordinating commissioner, we have worked with seven STP areas and South Western
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SWASFT) to develop and agree the NHS 999
ambulance contract on behalf of all commissioners in the South West;
• in Dorset there will be 10 more ambulances, an additional 65 staff providing 451.5
additional hours per week working in South Western Ambulance Services (SWASFT);
• SWASFT has implemented the new national Ambulance Response Programme (ARP)
standards. This prioritises people so those with the greatest need get the quickest
response and everyone gets the right response first time;
• an additional £12m funding has been agreed for more staff and ambulances across the
South West. SWASFT has identified the most effective location for these additional
resources in order to meet demand;
• to make the best use of the resources we have, we need better integrated working
between ambulance services and UEC services. We have evaluated schemes that
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•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•

support ambulance services including; ambulance cars, GPs in ambulance hubs and NHS
111 call centres to reduce the need for people to go to emergency departments;
the ambulance service response to patients in mental health crisis is being reviewed
nationally. Additional funding is being provided to support the work of the service with
people in this group. A key priority will be the development of a vehicle response for
the transportation of patients in mental health crisis. We will work with the National
Ambulance Commissioner Network to share learning across Dorset and the South West;
work continues to reduce the number of handover delays at hospital, using experiences
of organisations who have delivered improvements. We'll be making digital
improvements so staff in the hubs and front-line crews can access the right information
quickly and easily;
discharge and escalation processes have both been improved;
the Dorset Integrated Urgent Care Service went live on 1st April 2019 and will provide
24/7 NHS 111, out of hours GP services and clinical assessment service; making sure
people have urgent care outside of the acute hospital settings;
building our UEC workforce so that they can work flexibly across the system using the
NHS passport;
implementation of the WaitLess app - giving people the latest waiting times at our
urgent and emergency care services and travel directions to get there;
there is a focus on supporting patients to leave hospital seven days a week. This relies
on effective integration of primary, community, secondary and social care services
which should be available 24/7;
focussing to reduce the number of people who have a long length of stay. Since June
2018 we have implemented a variety of initiatives including Multiagency Discharge
Events (MADE) which brings together the right people so we can unblock delays in
process, free up beds, reduce length of stay and increase morning discharges.

Emergency preparedness resilience and response (EPRR)
Dorset ICS providers and the CCG have worked well with Local Resilience Forum providers
from across the wider public sector over the last 12 months. Area of planning including
mass casualties and fuel supply shortage have progressed and there have been a range of
exercises providing emergency responses from across the NHS and Local Authorities to
practice skills developed in training. Most notably during Exercise Shortbill on 7 March.
Shortbill is a three yearly practice of arrangement for incidents involving Trafalgar Class
Submarines at Portland Port, which is overseen by the Office of Nuclear Regulators.
Thankfully there was a lesser incident response requirement for the health and social care
sector in 2019 compared to 2017 and 2018. However, the year started with snow and icy
conditions affecting some services on 1 February. From a business continuity perspective,
the CCG was required to temporarily close it headquarters at Vespasian House on 29 May
due to blocked drains and Poole Hospital has been affected by a range of utilities and
telecoms failures. All providers and the CCG now capture organisational learning through
Post Incident and Exercise Recommendations Tracking processes, which multi-agency
learning captured at both the Local Health Resilience Partnership and Local Resilience
Forum.
The 2019 EPRR agenda has played out amid the backdrop of preparations for the UK’s exit
from the EU. The Dorset ICS has prepared on three separate occasions (March, April and
October) to play its role as defined in the NHS EU Exit Operational Readiness Guidance.
Organisational level arrangements include:
• rotas covering daily Local Resilience Forum conference calls and Monday to Friday
situation reporting to NHS England and Improvement;
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• briefing of staff supporting EU exit activity;
• participation in National EU exit webinars;
• participation in Local Resilience Forum EU exit exercises.

Emergency preparedness resilience and response assurance
Dorset’s three acute trusts and community healthcare provider are required to rate
themselves against the EPRR core standards matrix as part of the annual assurance
process. The provider’s assurance scores were submitted with supporting evidence in
August 2019. In its role as the lead commissioner for South Western Ambulance Service
NHS Foundation Trust (SWASFT), the CCG also undertook EPRR assurance with the
ambulance provider on behalf of all other commissioning bodies in the south west of
England.
The agreed assurance position of each provider was ratified at the Dorset Local Health
Resilience Partnership on 19 November 2019. The three acute trusts and Dorset
HealthCare were rated as fully compliant. The annual assurance progress does not end in
October; quarterly EPRR improvement planning meetings will take place between the CCG
and each trust where any outstanding areas are monitored.
As preparations increase for the European Union exit, including the reliance on existing
EPRR command structures, Dorset’s adherence with the core standards remains of great
value.

Promoting equality and addressing health inequalities
We are committed to ensuring that we reduce health inequalities and that we have the
needs of our communities at the heart of our commissioning functions. We recognise that
people access services and need support in a range of different ways. Our challenge is to
understand these communities, engage effectively with them and then commission
services to meet their local needs. Health inequalities also form part of our prevention at
scale programme (see page 16 for further detail). This is in line with our duty to reduce
inequalities under section 14T of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.
We acknowledge the right of every person to live a life free from harm and abuse. We
acknowledge our statutory responsibility to promote the welfare of children and young
people and to protect adults from abuse and risk of harm. We will ensure that there is a
culture of listening to and engaging in dialogue with vulnerable groups, taking account of
wishes and feelings both in individual decisions and the establishment or development and
improvement of services.
We are keen to build on the work already undertaken in previous years, developing a
strong and effective approach to our Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and will continue
to ensure that, as commissioners, our providers of services have also considered all
elements of the community and can evidence how they have taken into consideration the
needs of diverse communities throughout Dorset in their provision of health services.
Promoting equality and addressing health inequalities is a priority for us as commissioners,
employers and system leaders.
During 2019 there have been many developments in terms of championing equality and
diversity, raising awareness and building support systems for commissioners to make more
equitable decisions.
Progress to date includes:
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

we continue to work closely with the Our People and Culture programme, ensuring
equality, diversity and inclusion are considered and embedded throughout the
programme;
the Our People and Culture programme have established two new working groups
which will help to develop these areas: Environment and Sustainability; and Policies.
continuing to provide training to staff on equality, diversity and inclusion and
completion of equality impact assessments (EIAs);
continuing to include an extra layer of check and challenge, with EIAs being reviewed
by an external assessor, our EIA Public Engagement Group lay advisor, to provide
advice and guidance;
new equality, diversity and inclusion pages launched on the staff intranet, providing
information and news for staff;
published our local workforce race equality standard report in line with national
guidance;
reporting on, and publishing, gender pay gap information for the CCG;
launch of the NHS Rainbow badge pledge, where staff can sign up to show their
support for an open, non-judgemental and inclusive organisation for our LGBT+ staff,
participants and patient volunteers;
our renewed multi-agency service agreement with Dorset Race Equality Council
(DREC) supports the CCG to communicate messages to and provide feedback from a
range of diverse communities in Dorset;
strengthened our relationships with groups representing young people, which has
helped to give young people and those representing them a strong voice in informing
service change and development;
web portals and social media pages of voluntary sector partners such as Access Dorset,
South West Dorset Multicultural Network, Dorchester Muslim Group, the Prejudice
Free Dorset Hate Crime Group and the Dorset Race Equality Council are used to ensure
that our campaigns, health alerts and any planned changes to local services are
featured on them.

The full annual report for equality, diversity and inclusion 2019 can be found on our
website.

Joint strategic needs assessment
A Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is a way the local NHS, in partnership with local
authorities and other public sector partners, works collaboratively to understand the
current and future health and wellbeing needs of its local population and identifies future
priorities. We engage with and support the development of the JSNA thematic summaries.
This is in line with section 116B(1)(b) of the Local Government and Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007.
More than ever, we need better insight into the needs of our population and
our workforce:
•
•
•

joint working to ensure we capture system-wide population health and care needs;
strategic focus to develop shared-understanding of complex system challenges;
needs assessment to identify and close key knowledge gaps.

Therefore, we are pursuing both a top-down exploration of systems insights to build
shared understanding about what our health and care challenges look like from different
service perspectives and a bottom-up articulation of the stresses our public-facing
workforce are dealing with across the system.
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Our Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is now an ongoing process and all insights will
be regularly updated and published through Public Health Dorset website. The JSNA
mandate is held by the Dorset CCG, Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council, Dorset
Council and Health Watch through the Health and Well-being Boards. Public Health Dorset
facilitates the JSNA process.
We have engaged with our Health and Wellbeing Boards to seek their views on how we
have worked with them in delivering the priorities set out in the Health and Wellbeing
Boards and the production of the JSNA.

Patient safety and risk
Our patient safety and risk team ensures that a proactive safety culture is embedded
within the CCG and across our health community.
We are committed to a risk management framework that facilitates the identification,
analysis, management, monitoring, prioritisation and mitigation of risks that threaten the
delivery of our strategic objectives. Unmanaged risk can impact upon every aspect of
activity in which we are engaged and this can affect people, assets, our organisation and
reputation. We are not aiming to create a risk-free environment, but rather one in which
risk is considered as a matter of course.
To this end, the patient safety and risk team are responsible for maintaining the corporate
risk register and Governing Body assurance framework, through engagement with the
Directors and directorate risk leads, and providing the Governing Body and delegated subcommittees with regular and detailed updates. The team has also developed a process for
the management and mitigation of ‘system risks’ across the health community. The risk
appetite for the integrated care system has been established as well as how these risks
can be managed across all organisations where they may impact on the community as a
whole.
We work closely with all healthcare providers to continually develop and promote learning
from serious incidents (including never events) and adverse incidents, whilst seeking
assurance that appropriate and timely action is taken to mitigate against future events.
This includes scoping national learning from the NHS Improvement National Reporting and
Learning Service, the Health Service Investigation Bureau’s reports and investigations,
clinical audits and best practice guidelines. Where appropriate, we also work with
providers to ensure that learning is shared within the health community. We take
particular interest in the exercise of Statutory Duty of Candour in order to support public
confidence in NHS services.

Infection prevention and control
The commitment to deliver safe and best quality of care for patients remains pivotal in
the goal to reduce healthcare associated infections to an absolute minimum of nonpreventable cases. Therefore, a strong collaboration working in partnership with local
providers, sharing best practice and targeting resources to areas most in need of
improvement is paramount.
Continuous support and advice is given to Primary Care in ensuring compliance with
national standards and Code of Practice on prevention and control of infection.
NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group was leading on achieving the Quality Premium
(from April 2017, for two years), aiming to reduce all E. coli blood stream infections by
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10%. We have had mixed success with this ambition over the last two years and continue
to strive to reduce infection rates.
In 2016, the Department of Health and Social Care set an ambition for England to halve
the number of healthcare associated GNBSI by March 2021. Recognising this is a complex
challenge, the date for achievement of this goal has been revised to March 2024 with a
25% reduction by March 2021 and remain committed to delivering this.
To support the health economy to achieve the GNBSI reduction, a six month surveillance
was undertaken on all E. coli BSI both hospital and community onset. Based upon the risk
areas and data identified we have developed a Dorset local improvement plan taking a
system wide approach utilising work already in hand and identifying and taking action on
themes that could lead to improvement. An E. coli Steering Group has been utilised to
support the progress and to strengthen our approach as an integrated system.
The infection should be preventable in the first place, therefore our ambition for 2020/21
is to continue to develop and strengthen our collaboration as an integrated care system
for infection prevention and control.

Safeguarding and looked after children
The Community and Social Work Act, 2017 introduced new legislation which became
statute in June 2019. The CCG is now one of the three statutory safeguarding partners.
Their responsibilities include providing clinical, professional and strategic leadership and
to quality assure safeguarding, through contractual arrangements with all providers.
TABLE 4: DORSET CCG ACHIEVEMENTS
Priority
Prevent (UK Counter
Terrorism Strategy)

CCG Response
The CCG has ensured it is in the contract of all NHS
Commissioned providers to comply with the
requirements of the Prevent Duty, including a named
Prevent Lead and training for staff.

Domestic Abuse

The CCG have contributed and commented on the
new national Domestic Violence Bill. The incidence of
domestic abuse is high across Dorset, with a high
number of Domestic Homicide Reviews. Although
partners work well together, further work is needed
to advance the partnership response.

Mental Capacity
Act/Deprivation of Liberty
(DoLS)/ Liberty Protection
Safeguards

The Mental Capacity Act (Amendments) Bill received
Royal Assent on 16 May 2019. A new model for
authorising deprivations of liberty in care, Liberty
Protection Safeguards (LPS), will replace the DoLS
system; it is anticipated these will be implemented by
Autumn 2020 and the CCG are working to ensure that
these requirements will be met.
Newly published competencies have increased the
required amount of training for professionals working
with children. The adult competencies have clarified
the expected requirement for all staff working with
adults and the CCG is supporting providers to meet
these requirements.

Intercollegiate document for
Adults, Children and looked
after children
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Priority
Child protection/female
genital mutilation –
information sharing

CCG Response
This is embedded across Dorset and provides
mechanism to identify children at risk.

Modern Slavery

Remains a priority for the CCG’s commissioned
services with a key focus on sharing intelligence

Areas for future development in 2020/21:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

review existing CCG policy and contract arrangements;
develop a safeguarding strategy and action plan;
develop a federated model of safeguarding across Dorset;
review existing systems and structures to streamline and reduce duplication;
develop innovative models of safeguarding with Partners;
improve intelligence and information sharing;
ensure safeguarding is person- centred;
listen and include the Voice of Service Users in safeguarding planning.

The CCG continues to ensure that the health needs of looked after children are met in line
with its statutory duties. There has been a rise in the number of children coming into care
within the CCG area which has put pressure on services meeting statutory timeframes.
During 2020/21 the CCG will be gaining the views of young people to review the current
health offer and how this can best be delivered to meet the needs of children and young
people who enter the care system.

Improve Quality
The Nursing and Quality Directorate team are focussed on improving the quality of
commissioned services for all patients and service users in Dorset. There are strong links
between the patient safety, quality improvement, customer care and safeguarding teams
to ensure that a proactive approach is taken to ensure best practice is embedded across
the health and social care community. There is good collaborative working with Provider
trusts on a number of quality improvement projects for example:
•
•
•
•

enhanced health in care homes;
Restore 2 (introducing the national early warning score in primary care);
Dorset Cancer Partnership – Optimal Lung pathway;
monitoring shared learning for the Local Maternity Service from HSIB investigations.
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The CCG is committed to a process that supports quality surveillance in services and
regularly reviews outcomes for patients using sources external to Provider trusts such as
the Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership, the NHS England/Improvement Quality
Surveillance information system and published clinical audit reports. Information from
these sources is linked with patient safety and patient experience data to ensure that the
learning is shared to inform quality improvement in all services for patients.

Care homes
The quality assurance team has continued to carry out quality assurance visits to
independent care providers, including care homes, domiciliary agencies and learning
disability residential homes. The team have been allocated to localities to whom they
provide support, for example, over the winter months the team took responsibility for
paying individual visits to the homes in their locality to promote the uptake of the flu
vaccination. More recently the team has been realigning towards the new Primary Care
Networks (PCN) developing stronger closer links with these new teams to provide support
closer to each PCN going forward.
The seventh annual care home conference took place in October 2019, the conference was
promoted particularly for nurses and senior care workers. The title was ‘Supporting People
living with Dementia and Challenging Behaviour’ and we were very pleased to welcome Dr
Agnes Fanning from the Queens Nurse Institute as our keynote speaker and many other
speakers focusing on care for dementia patients. Other guest speakers and stall holders
provided opportunities for registered nurses and senior care workers to refresh their
knowledge.
The quality assurance team work in partnership with our local authorities and these
relationships will continue while they transition through the local government review
process. Working closely with both our internal and external stakeholders is an integral
part of ensuring we promote best practice and quality improvements across the key
outcomes of the service specification.

Personal health commissioning
The Personal Health Commissioning (PHC) Team is responsible for the commissioning of
health and social care for individuals eligible against criteria for specific health funding
streams. The streams for which PHC is responsible are as follows:
•
•
•
•

NHS continuing healthcare (including funded nursing care, fast track and interim
health funding (hospital discharge));
children and young people’s continuing care;
Section 117 (mental health aftercare services);
complex rehabilitation on a case by case basis for those with a brain injury.

Demand for services has remained consistently high throughout 2019/20 resulting in an
overspend of £11.2m. Key challenges through the year have been:
•

•

high levels of referrals for ‘fast track’ funding which is funding for patients who are
“rapidly deteriorating and maybe entering a terminal phase”, Dorset is the 4th
highest recipient of referrals for this funding stream in England (NHS Funded Care
Report 2019/20 – Q2);
high levels of referrals for ‘interim funding’ which is funding for individuals leaving
hospital for a short period of time while they await an assessment for NHS
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•
•
•
•

Continuing Healthcare. As at April 2019, only 3% of these individuals were eligible for
CHC funding once assessed;
high costs of care within the market and difficulty in sourcing care through joint
framework contracts with local authorities has further impacted costs through the
need to ‘spot purchase’ care;
consistent levels of children with highly complex health needs including ventilation
in a community setting;
recruitment and retention of key operational staff has proved problematic impacting
the ability to meet high levels of demand;
the service has not met the nationally mandated 28 day target for referral to
decision.

In recognition of these challenges, work has been undertaken this year in the following
areas:
•
a new model for interim funding was introduced incorporating the provision of inreach staff within the hospital setting. This has resulted in a significant reduction in
the levels of inappropriate referrals for interim funding highlighted through an
increased conversion rate of 15% coupled with a reduced number of patients on the
pathway. The associated cost avoidance is estimated to be c. £3m.
•
the current ‘fast-track’ model has been reviewed and proposed improvements have
been identified;
•
the Transformation Programme has focused on understanding current processes and
redesigning these to ensure they are efficient and aligned to national framework
requirements. This resulted in a full service restructure with roles across the service
being redefined to provide greater clarity with increased management support;
•
a ‘choice and equity’ policy has been developed to provide increased guidance and
consistency on the CCG position with regard to patient choice;
•
a new IT system has been introduced enabling greater visibility of workflows to
facilitate the meeting of the 28 day national target. Additionally, the new structure
allows staff greater focus on the assessment role;
•
the implementation of a Care Assurance Panel to ensure that care plans are
appropriate in meeting needs and that these do not place people at risk prior to
brokering care;
•
in response to a PwC audit, a review of S117 has been undertaken to establish
whether the current model for split funding with local authorities is appropriate.
This determined that this is at an appropriate level.
The PHC service expects 2020/21 to remain challenging. The focus will be upon the
following areas to address high costs of care and improve patient experience:
•
•
•
•

work with system partners and the market to increase capacity and leverage
improved costs with particular focus on residential care and fast track;
engage with system partners to ensure availability of discharge pathways that best
meet patient needs enabling consideration for CHC funding to be undertaken when
the patient is optimised;
embed the new PHC structure supporting staff transitions to new roles and further
developing the culture to focus on performance;
review the operationalisation of the Choice and Equity Policy, ensuring consistent
application across the service.

41

PERFORMANCE

Medicines management and prescribing
In 2019/20 the medicines team continued to review and update the formulary with new
and updated sections. This formulary supports the local decision-making process.
Development work to integrate the Dorset formulary into SystmOne has been undertaken
this year. It has been trialled in two GP practices. It will be launched onto all GP practice
systems who use SystmOne after Medicines Optimisation Group approval early in 2020.
The Dorset Medicines Advisory Group (DMAG) has undertaken a review of their governance,
structure and processes this year. The DMAG reports to the Clinical Reference Group and
the Quality Surveillance Group. In addition, some developments will be linked across to
the Elective Care Board. New Terms of Reference are being drawn up. The clinical working
groups continue to report to DMAG.
The medicines team ensures the CCG meets statutory responsibilities for making
medicines with a positive National Institute for Health and Care Excellence technology
appraisal (NICE TA) available to commissioned services within 90 days of publishing.
During 2019/20, 13 technology appraisals received positive appraisals, which were CCG
commissioning responsibility. The Regional Medicines Optimisation Committees (RMOC)
have issued many pieces of guidance this year. The Operating Model for the RMOC has
been revised, alongside a realignment to the seven regions. Responsibility for reviewing
new medicines will pass to NICE from April 2020. New medicines launched before April
2020 and currently in the RMOC work programme are being discussed within the NHS
England Medicines and Diagnostic Policy team to determine how to take these topics
forward.
The medicines team supported the development of Primary Care Networks (PCN)
throughout 2019/20. We have seen investment through a new additional roles
reimbursement scheme in primary care for Network Clinical Pharmacists which has
increased the number of pharmacists working in primary care in patient facing roles.
Recruitment and resilience within the pharmacy workforce across Dorset remains a
primary focus and the medicines team continue to deliver clinical network and focus
meetings to develop a collaborative approach and integrated working across the pharmacy
sector.
Collaborative working to support integrated working with community pharmacy also
continues and we have participated in ‘Walking in my Shoes’ and successfully launched a
pilot for GP referrals to the Community Pharmacy Consultation Service in support of
Urgent Care. In addition, the locally commissioned service for access to palliative care
drugs has been refreshed with a new contract and geographical access for this service is
retained.
Planning for PCN development following publication of the Long Term Plan and new 5 year
GP contract document, investment and evolution continues and the medicines team
moved from locality to Primary Care Network geographical cover to support primary care
prescribing. A PCN and practice support visit schedule was implemented to advise on
benchmarked safe and cost-effective prescribing,
Building on previous years’ initiatives, the medicines team has continued to drive the
polypharmacy agenda and integration of medication reviews into everyday activity within
practices. This is supported by the implementation of new network contract directed
enhanced service (DES). For the pharmacy workforce key areas of focus are:
•

structured medication reviews and medicines optimisation;
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•

enhanced health in care homes.

Clinical pharmacists working in primary care are continuing to be supported to deliver safe
and effective management of medicines in care homes. A key area of review in 2019/20
has been the management of medicines waste in these areas alongside polypharmacy
reviews, structured medication reviews and minimisation of risks associated with transfer
of medication information across care settings. The Polypharmacy Working Group terms of
reference has been revised and membership continues to represent all sectors to ensure
alignment with national and local priorities.
Work continues to support GPs to meet the national oversight framework measures for
antibiotics and promote reduced prescribing of broad-spectrum antibiotics in line with
antimicrobial resistance prevention. Members of the team link with the Integrated Care
System Infection Prevention and Control group.
Specific safety promotion items for 2019/20 include audits of high-dose opioids as well as
supporting the implementation of PINCER, a mechanism for reducing medication errors,
for GP practices.
The team, in collaboration with System pharmacy colleagues, remain actively engaged in
medicines safety and quality improvement projects and initiatives supported by Wessex
Academic Health Science Network (AHSN). We have contributed to the development of the
National Polypharmacy Prescribing Comparators produced by Wessex AHSN in partnership
with the NHS Business Services Authority (NHSBSA). The work on the National
Polypharmacy Prescribing Comparators won the Patient Safety category in November 2019
at the HSJ Awards.
Digitalisation remains a priority for the team and roll-out of the electronic prescription
service phase 4 (EPS4) has been completed and a pilot for electronic repeat dispensing
(eRD), in collaboration with the NHSBSA and Wessex AHSN, has been launched to drive
momentum and benefits realisation of this integral part of EPS4.
In partnership with NHS England, a service for improving adherence to medication in
complex mental health patients is being piloted in community pharmacies in two areas of
the county.
The guidelines and pathway to support more robust shared care arrangements for disease
modifying anti-rheumatic drugs between primary and secondary care in west Dorset is now
being embedded. The potential to extend these arrangements to east Dorset are being
explored alongside the primary care team at the CCG, the elective care team and the
relevant secondary care specialities.

NHS Constitution
The NHS Constitution sets out rights for patients, public and staff. It outlines NHS
commitments as well as the responsibilities that the public, patients and staff owe to one
another to ensure that the NHS operates fairly and effectively. The rights are underpinned
by a series of pledges, one of which is that patients have the right to access NHS services,
and will not be refused access on unreasonable grounds. The NHS Constitution can be
found on our website.
We aim to commission services in a way that sets out clearly what patients, the public and
staff can expect from the NHS and in return, what the NHS expects from them. A lot of
good practice has been identified within the organisation which demonstrates
consideration to the Constitution’s principles, values, rights and pledges. Patients are at
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the heart of everything we do and some case studies which demonstrate this can be found
on Our Dorset website.
We continue to work with staff to promote the NHS Constitution to ensure that it’s
principles are embedded within our organisation.
The seven principles that guide the NHS are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the NHS provides a comprehensive service, available to all;
access to NHS services is based on clinical need, not an individual’s ability to pay;
the NHS aspires to the highest standards of excellence and professionalism;
the patient will be at the heart of everything the NHS does;
the NHS works across organisational boundaries;
the NHS is committed to providing best value for taxpayers’ money;
the NHS is accountable to the public, communities and patients that it serves.

The NHS Constitution’s values provide common ground for co-operation to achieve shared
aspirations at all levels of the NHS. These values are:
•
•
•
•
•

working together for patients;
respect and dignity;
commitment to quality of care;
compassion;
improving lives.

We have a duty to promote the NHS Constitution in the exercise of our functions, which
means:
•
•

act with a view to ensure that health services are provided in a way which promotes
the NHS Constitution;
promote its awareness among patients, staff and members of the public.

Further information on engagement can be found on page 46.
Further information on our performance in respect of the NHS Constitution can be seen on
page 9.

Freedom of information
The Freedom of Information Act 2000 provides members of the public with a general right
of access to recorded information held by us, subject to certain conditions and
exemptions. This includes, but is not limited to, how we commission services, how much
they cost and our targets and results. Anyone can request information recorded and held
by us, and by law we must respond to the requests. We are committed to the disclosure
of information requested under the Freedom of Information (FOI) Act. This is in line with
our open and honest approach to dealing with requests for information, and also our
responsibility as a public organisation. Examples of requests cover areas such as,
continuing healthcare, personal health budgets and primary care networks.
The information assurance framework monitors performance in relation to responding to
FOI requests in order to maintain and improve compliance with national legal
requirements and CCG guidelines. The compliance rate with the statutory timeframe for
FOI responses (within 20 working days) was 99% in 2019/20 which was an increase of 2% on
2018/19.
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TABLE 5: FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
Year
2019/20
2018/19
2017/18

Freedom of Information request responses
No. of requests received No. responded to by timescale
278
277
255
247
315
305

%
99%
97%
97%

We are required to proactively publish and maintain a Publication Scheme. This sets out
key documents we have published under the classifications outlined by the Information
Commissioner’s Office. This is available via our website.
We have also received 10 requests under the Data Protection Act 1998 and Access to
Health Records Act 1990, 8 of which were responded to within the statutory timescales.
More information on information governance can be found on in the governance statement
on page 67.

Friends and family test
The Friends and Family Test (FFT) continues to be collected across acute, community and
GP services. The FFT is a tool that supports obtaining feedback from people using NHS
services.
The feedback across Dorset remains consistently good with high levels of satisfaction
reported in inpatient services, maternity services and outpatient units. The latest
available results are reflected in Table 6.
TABLE 6: FRIENDS AND FAMILY TEST
Provider name
A&E responses

Inpatients

Outpatients

Community providers
Maternity
Mental health

Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital
Royal Bournemouth Hospital
Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital
Royal Bournemouth Hospital
Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital
Royal Bournemouth Hospital
Dorset HealthCare
Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital
Dorset HealthCare

Percentage likely to
recommend
87%
83%
83%
98%
99%
98%
94%
97%
97%
95%
91%
97%
92%

Complaints
As part of our commitment to continually improve the quality of local health services we
value all feedback we receive, either as a complaint or praise. This information is used to
support us in managing our performance and highlighting any areas where we could make
improvements.
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All complaints received are responded to individually and also through the Dorset Quality
Surveillance Group and the Audit Committee, the lessons learned from complaints are
used to improve practice, systems and processes. This results in an improved experience
for all.
To ensure that complaints are viewed and monitored at the highest level the:
•
•

CCG Chief Officer reviews all complaints responses;
Audit Committee receive regular reports detailing complaints received and how they
have been handled.

Our complaints policy and procedure has adopted the principles as outlined in the
Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman’s principles of good complaints handling,
principles of good administration and principles of remedy.
During the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020, 198 complaints were received. Of these
92 related to the CCG and 106 to providers of services. The trends of complaints received
relating to the CCG only, are demonstrated in Table 7.
TABLE 7: COMPLAINT TRENDS
Trends relating to Dorset CCG
Continuing Healthcare
General

Number
54
38

Patient and public engagement and involvement in shaping health
services
NHS commissioning organisations have a legal duty under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended) to ‘make arrangements’ to involve the public in the commissioning of
services for NHS patients (‘the public involvement duty’). For CCGs this duty is outlined in
Section 14Z2 of the Act.
To fulfil the public involvement duty, the arrangements must provide for the public to be
involved in (a) the planning of services, (b) the development and consideration of
proposals for changes which, if implemented, would have an impact on services and (c)
decisions which, when implemented, would have an impact on services.
As part of their governance arrangements, CCGs are required to prepare annual reports,
which must explain how the public involvement duty in the previous financial year has
been fulfilled. So we are planning to produce a separate annual report on Public
Participation and Involvement. See our website for more details.
In addition, each CCG must consult with its local Health and Wellbeing Board(s) in
preparing its annual report and each report must be published and a meeting held to
present the report to members of the public.
Key milestones during 2019/2020 included:
•

being rated as green star (outstanding) in the NHS England and NHS Improvement
Assessment Framework for the patient and community engagement indicator;
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•

•
•
•

•

•
•
•
•

•

Dorset wide engagement training delivered by The Point of Care Foundation, who
were commissioned to develop and deliver a bespoke course in experience,
engagement, facilitation and co-design skills to 80 engagement champions across
Dorset's health and care partner organisations;
leading a national webinar on our approach to equality impact assessments (EIAs) in
Dorset, attended by about 50 colleagues from across the country;
leading on Dorset’s initiative for a nationally supported integrated volunteering
project, as part of our continued relationship building with community and voluntary
organisations;
providing leadership in building the impact of Dorset’s Engagement Leads’ Network.
The network comprises engagement leads/managers from across all ICS partner
organisations (including the CCG, acute hospitals, mental health and community
trust, local authorities, public health, ambulance and the voluntary sector) to ensure
that engagement work is collaborative and inclusive. There is a strong commitment
to ensuring appropriate, meaningful and timely engagement, involvement,
information, co-design and co-production;
as one part of its engagement structure Dorset has had an ICS public engagement
group which meets bi-monthly to act as a critical friend, providing feedback, advice
and challenge regarding engagement activities and approaches. The group has this
year, undergone a membership ‘refresh’, paused during the COVID-19 pandemic.
The refresh approach was mindful of the need to inform, involve and co-produce
with people across Dorset and the importance of therefore having a rich and broad
mix of knowledge, interest and lived experience across Dorset’s geography,
demography and diversity;
strengthening support for GP-based patient participation groups (PPGs) through
providing ongoing advice, guidance, resources and support via two committed PPG
coordinators – working with all GP practices;
greater use of digital platforms to involve people, including social media and the
launch of a new Instagram channel. Visit www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk/involve for more
details;
a Dorset wide survey seeking people’s views on local priority areas for the Our
Dorset Looking Forward strategic plan (which lays out local plans in line with the
aspirations of the NHS Long Term Plan);
Children and Young People’s Mental Health view seeking survey – designed with
young people and for young people, including the ‘look’, questions and
methodology/approach to view seeking. There was a strong social media approach
with the new Instagram account being set up and including visits to local youth
groups, organisations;
engagement and communication support was provided to the Building Health
Partnerships and Personalisation Programmes. This encouraged local asset based
approaches to community development in partnership with health, care and the
voluntary sector organisations.

Sustainability report – tackling climate change
The Our Dorset – Looking Forward 2019 to 2024 sets our commitment to tackling climate
change. As a partner in the ‘Our Dorset’ integrated care system, we are committed to
working to realise our shared ambitions in regard to climate change.
We are committed to making sure our health and care system is sustainable, by delivering
high quality care and improved public health, without adversely impacting on our
environment. This means that we will spend the public funds we are allocated in Dorset to
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have a positive impact on the communities we serve through the services we commission,
relating to environmental and social value factors, and as employing organisations.
In health, NHS organisations are developing Sustainable Development Management Plan’s in
response to the UK Government’s Agenda 2030, NHS England and Improvements
Development Plan and with attention to the United Nations 2030 Agenda for Sustainable
Development and the associated Sustainable Development Goals. As an NHS organisation,
we will also support the new national programme ‘For a Greener NHS’ reducing the impact
on public health and the environment, saving money and aiming to go net carbon zero.
In 2019/20 our focus was on:
•

developing a Sustainable Development Management Plan with supporting key
performance indicators that are ambitious;
identifying clear lines of leadership and accountability for delivery;
making best use of our working environment, office space and technology to improve
services, working more flexibly and reduce the need to travel;
actively reducing our carbon footprint.

•
•
•

A summary of our performance in 2019/20 can be divided between the following:
•

working environment:




•

we have continued to invest in technology to enable people to work, join meetings
and connect from anywhere in Dorset;
we have reviewed how we use our accommodation and will be implementing
changes in 2020/21 which brings teams together, encourages more flexible working
and the use of hot desks, as well as to support our partners using our buildings;
we have met with our landlords to discuss the opportunities for future changes to
our working environment; and continue to make best use of the space we have, as
well as to reduce our carbon footprint.
carbon footprint:




we have worked with our landlords at Vespasian House; they will be trialling air
sourced heat pumps in 2020/21 with the aim of replacing the reliance on the gas
boilers and the air conditioning system over the next 3 years;
we have worked with our landlords at Canford House and can confirm that the
energy for the site is now sourced from 100% renewable energy.

We have continued to encourage staff to travel less and make the best use of technology.
We are now able to review the travel of staff following the introduction of EASY expenses.
This will enable us to identify frequent travellers, avoidable journeys and continue to
encourage different ways of working such as ensuring meetings can be accessed remotely.
As a result of the investment in technology, we have continued to see a reduction in paper
usage.
For 2020/21 we will continue to focus on the areas identified for 2019/20, building on the
progress made, we will also be focusing on:
•
•

identifying ways to reduce our carbon footprint in areas such as waste (including a
review of the opportunities to recycle) and travel (including a review of pool cars);
continuing to work more closely with our partners and local agencies;
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•
•
•

working with our primary care colleagues to support them to develop local plans;
developing a consistent approach to procuring services across the system which
consider the environmental impact;
developing regular communication channels for staff, patients and citizens of Dorset
to share knowledge, encourage behavioural change and to make sustainable choices
and decisions in their work and lives.

Adaption
We are an active partner in the Dorset Local Resilience Forum; as our weather continues to
change and impact on our environment we need to adapt and respond to ensure our services
continue to meet the needs of the population. We continue to work in partnership and
contribute to local decision making and policy formation.

Biodiversity
We are committed to working with our partners across Dorset’s integrated care system to
develop initiatives and implement changes to improve how we improve and access green
spaces across Dorset. In 2019, both our councils declared a climate emergency and we will
continue to work with them as partners, contributing to local opportunities and decision
making.
Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
17 June 2020
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The purpose of this section is to meet key accountability requirements. It is in three
sections:
•
•
•

corporate governance report, which includes the Members’ report, Governing Body
report and the Annual Governance Statement;
Remuneration and staff report;
Parliamentary accountability and audit report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
Members’ report
Our CCG consists of 80 member general practices, which are grouped into 13 localities and
also belong to a primary care network. Member practices are listed in the table below.
TABLE 8: MEMBER PRACTICES BY LOCALITY
Practice
Locality
Central Bournemouth Primary Care Network
James Fisher Medical Centre
Central Bournemouth
Moordown Medical Centre
Central Bournemouth
Panton Practice (Gervis Road Practice)
Central Bournemouth
St Albans Medical Centre
Central Bournemouth
Christchurch Primary Care Network
The Farmhouse Surgery
Christchurch
Highcliffe Medical Centre
Christchurch
Christchurch Medical Practice
Christchurch
Stour Surgery
Christchurch
South Coast Medical Group
Marine and Oakridge Partnership
East Bournemouth
Providence Surgery
East Bournemouth
Woodlea House Surgery
Central Bournemouth
The Grove Surgery
Christchurch
Bournemouth East Collaborative Network
Beaufort Road Surgery
East Bournemouth
Littledown Surgery
East Bournemouth
Shelley Manor and Holdenhurst Medical Centre
East Bournemouth
Southbourne Surgery
East Bournemouth
North Bournemouth Primary Care Network
Banks and Bearwood Medical Practice
North Bournemouth
Kinson Road Medical Centre
North Bournemouth
Talbot Medical Centre
North Bournemouth
Village Surgery
North Bournemouth
Poole Bay and Bournemouth Primary Care Network
Leybourne Surgery
North Bournemouth
Denmark Road Medical Centre
Central Bournemouth
Westbourne Medical Centre
Poole Bay
The Alma Partnership
North Bournemouth
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Wimborne and Ferndown Primary Care Network
Old Dispensary
Orchid House Surgery
Penny’s Hill Practice
The Quarter Jack Surgery
Walford Mill Medical Practice
Crane Valley Primary Care Network
The Cranborne Practice
The Barcellos Family Practice
Verwood Surgery
West Moors Group Practice
Poole North Primary Care Network
The Birchwood Medical Centre
Canford Heath Group Practice
The Hadleigh Practice
The Harvey Practice
Shore Medical
Heatherview Medical Centre
Lilliput Surgery
Parkstone Tower Practice
Poole Road Medical Centre
Wessex Road Surgery
Poole Central Primary Care Network
The Adam Practice
Carlisle House Surgery
Evergreen Oak Surgery
Family Medical Services
Poole Town Surgery
Rosemary Medical Centre
Mid Dorset Primary Care Network
Cerne Abbas Surgery
Fordington Surgery
Milton Abbas Surgery
Poundbury Doctors Surgery
Prince of Wales Surgery
Puddletown Surgery
Queens Avenue Surgery
The Atrium Health Centre
The Vale Primary Care Network
Blackmore Vale
Gillingham Medical Practice
The Apples Medical Centre
The Grove Medical Centre
Yetminster Health Centre
Blandford Primary Care Network
Whitecliff Group Practice
Eagle House Surgery
Weymouth and Portland Primary Care Network
The Bridges Medical Centre
Cross Road Surgery
Dorchester Road Surgery
Royal Crescent and Preston Road Surgery
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East
East
East
East
East

Dorset
Dorset
Dorset
Dorset
Dorset

East
East
East
East

Dorset
Dorset
Dorset
Dorset

Poole
Poole
Poole
Poole

North
North
North
North

Poole
Poole
Poole
Poole
Poole

Bay
Bay
Bay
Bay
Bay

Poole
Poole
Poole
Poole
Poole
Poole

Central
Central
Central
Central
Central
Central

Mid
Mid
Mid
Mid
Mid
Mid
Mid
Mid

Dorset
Dorset
Dorset
Dorset
Dorset
Dorset
Dorset
Dorset

North Dorset
North Dorset
North Dorset
North Dorset
North Dorset
North Dorset
North Dorset
Weymouth
Weymouth
Weymouth
Weymouth

and
and
and
and

Portland
Portland
Portland
Portland
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Royal Manor Health Care
Wyke Regis and Lanehouse Medical Practice
Jurassic Coast Primary Care Network
Barton House Surgery
Bridport Medical Centre
The Charmouth Medical Practice
Lyme Bay Medical Practice
Portesham Surgery
The Tollerford Practice
Purbeck Primary Care Network
Bere Regis Surgery
Corfe Castle Surgery
Sandford Surgery
Swanage Surgery
Wareham Surgery
Wellbridge Surgery

Weymouth and Portland
Weymouth and Portland
West
West
West
West
West
West

Dorset
Dorset
Dorset
Dorset
Dorset
Dorset

Purbeck
Purbeck
Purbeck
Purbeck
Purbeck
Purbeck

Governing Body report
Our Governing Body is made up of 13 Locality Chairs, a Chair, an Accountable Officer, a
Chief Finance Officer, three Lay Members, one Registered Nurse Member and one
Secondary Care Consultant Member. Our Chair is Dr Forbes Watson and the Accountable
Officer is Tim Goodson.
The Governing Body has a responsibility to ensure there are appropriate healthcare
services for the people of Dorset. All general practices belong to a locality, which is a
geographical area, and each locality has a GP Chair who is a member of the CCG
Governing Body. Composition of our Governing Body throughout the year and up to the
signing of this annual report and accounts can be seen in Table 9.
Following a clinical leadership review, the composition of the Governing Body will change
from 1 April 2020 from 13 Locality Chairs to six Governing Body GP members – three from
the Dorset Council area and three from the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council
area.
TABLE 9: GOVERNING BODY COMPOSITION AND TERM OF OFFICE
Name

Role

Dr Forbes Watson
Tim Goodson
Stuart Hunter

Chair
Chief Officer
Chief Finance Officer

1 April 2013
1 April 2013
30 May 2017

Term of Office
Re-elected/ reRe-elected/reappointed
appointed
1 April 2016
1 April 2019
-

Nikki Rowland
Dr Jenny Bubb

Chief Finance Officer
Locality Chair for Mid
Dorset
Locality Chair for East
Dorset
Locality Chair for Poole
Bay
Locality Chair for
Purbeck
Locality Chair for
Weymouth and Portland
and Assistant Clinical
Chair

1 January 2020
1 April 2013

1 April 2016

1 April 2019

31 March 2022
On-going
31 December
2019
On-going
31 March 2022

1 April 2013

1 April 2016

1 April 2019

31 March 2022

13 April 2016

13 April 2019

-

12 April 2022

1 October 2013

1 October 2016

-

1 April 2013

1 April 2016

1 April 2019

30 September
2019
31 March 2022

Date appointed

Dr Colin Davidson
Dr Nick Evans
Dr David Haines
Dr Karen Kirkham
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Name

Role

1 May 2018

Term of Office
Re-elected/ reRe-elected/reappointed
appointed
-

30 April 2021

1 April 2013

1 April 2016

1 April 2019

31 March 2022

1 April 2016

1 April 2019

-

31 March 2022

10 May 2017

-

-

9 May 2020

1 August 2015

1 August 2018

-

31 July 2021

1 September
2016
1 October 2015

1 September
2019
1 October 2018

-

31 August 2019

-

1 April 2016

1 April 2019

-

30 September
2021
31 March 2022

20 September
2017
1 April 2019

-

-

-

-

19 September
2020
31 March 2022

2 August 2016

2 August 2019

-

31 January 2020

1 February 2020

-

-

31 January 2023

26 May 2015

26 May 2018

-

25 May 2021

1 April 2013

1 April 2016

-

31 March 2019

Date appointed
Dr Tom Knight
Dr Blair Millar
Dr Ni’man Mufeed
Dr Ravin Ramtohal
Dr David
Richardson
Dr Ben Sharland
Dr Simon Watkins
Dr Simone Yule
Dr Mary Armitage
Nick Robinson
Elaine Spencer
Vanessa Avlonitis
Jacqueline Swift

Kay Taylor

Locality Chair for North
Bournemouth
Locality Chair for West
Dorset
Locality Chair for East
Bournemouth
Locality Chair for
Christchurch
Locality Chair for Poole
North
Locality Chair for
Central Bournemouth
Locality Chair for Poole
Central
Locality Chair for North
Dorset
Secondary Care
Consultant Member
Lay Member Lead for
Governance
Registered Nurse
Member
Registered Nurse
Member
Lay Member Lead for
Primary Care
Commissioning and
Deputy CCG Chair
Lay Member Lead for
Patient and Public
Involvement

Expiry date

The Governing Body also has regular attendance from the Director of Nursing and Quality,
Director of Primary and Community Care, Director of Engagement and Development, Chief
System Integration Officer, and the Secretary and General Counsel (this post is no longer
part of the structure and alternative arrangements are in place from 1 January 2020).
The Governing Body has three lay members who have non-clinical backgrounds (local
government, audit and commerce) who maintain an independence from the operations of
the CCG to balance the clinical contribution of the Governing Body and its committees.
Together with the two additional independent lay members of the Audit Committee they
provide independent critical challenge to the managerial and clinical input.
Attendance records for the Governing Body and its committees for 2019/20 can be found
on our website.
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FIGURE 3: GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Remuneration committee
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Kay Taylor, Lay Member Lead for Patient and
Public Involvement. Further details of other members can be seen in the remuneration
report page 75. The key highlights of the work of the committee during 2019/20 have
been:
•
•
•

review of Governing Body and clinical remuneration arrangements;
formal consideration of executive pay noting involvement with integrated care
system;
the appointment process for the new Chief Finance Officer.

The terms of reference for this committee can be found on page 41 of our Constitution
which provides further detail.

Audit committee
As part of the governance structure, we have in place an Audit Committee which is
responsible for providing the Governing Body with assurance across the range of CCG
activities.
The Audit Committee is chaired by Nick Robinson, Lay Member Lead for Governance, who
has relevant and recent financial experience. Other members throughout the year, and up
to the signing of this annual report and accounts, are:
•
•
•
•

Vanessa Avlonitis, Registered Nurse Member (from 1 February 2020);
Martin Davies, Independent Lay Member;
Elaine Spencer, Registered Nurse Member (until 31 January 2020);
Kay Taylor, Governing Body Lay Member;
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•
•

Paul Turner, Independent Lay Member;
Simone Yule, Governing Body GP Member.

The Committee reviews its terms of reference and its effectiveness annually and
recommends to the Governing Body any changes required as a result of the review. In
2019/20, the Audit Committee discharges its responsibilities by:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

reviewing and monitoring quality of commissioned service and outcomes for patients;
reviewing and recommending the CCG’s draft financial statements and the external
auditors detailed reports thereon;
reviewing the effectiveness of the external audit process; reviewing and monitoring
the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit
process, taking into account relevant UK professional and regulatory requirements;
reviewing the external auditors’ annual work plan, including its non-audit services and
fees;
reviewing the risks associated with the CCG’s business and management thereon;
reviewing the policies and procedures for all work related to fraud and corruption;
reviewing investigations as a result of the instigation of the CCG’s whistle blowing
policy;
reviewing the CCG’s system of internal control and its effectiveness, reporting to the
Governing Body on the results of the review and receiving regular updates on key
processes for management of the risks facing the CCG;
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audit function;
reviewing the internal audit work programme, internal audit reports and periodic
progress reports on its work during the year.

The Audit Committee has wide powers to establish special investigations in the event that
any wrongdoing is brought to its notice, in particular, in the case of defalcations, fraud or
theft.
The terms of reference for this committee can be found on page 37 of our Constitution
which provides further detail.
The Chair of the Audit Committee also acts as the Conflict of Interest Guardian.

Primary care commissioning committee
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee is chaired by Jacqueline Swift, Governing
Body Lay Member.
The terms of reference for this committee can be found on page 44 of our Constitution
which provides further detail.
The key highlights of the work of the committee during 2019/20 have been:
•
•
•
•

further development of skill mix of the workforce, supporting our new models of
care and working with the Dorset Primary Care Workforce Centre;
introduction of 18 Primary Care Networks (PCNs), building on what were our
localities, and supporting the development of the Networks’ maturity;
introducing and rolling out Population Health Management and continuing work on
local public health profiles and joint working with Public Health teams in local
communities as part of the prevention at scale plans;
monitoring the performance of primary care practitioners;
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•
•

monitoring and supporting struggling practices to ensure continued service
provision;
monitoring and where appropriate, approving practice mergers.

Clinical commissioning committee
The Clinical Commissioning Committee was chaired by Dr Forbes Watson, Chair of NHS
Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group. The Committee did not meet in early 2019/20 and
following the combining of the functions with the system-wide Clinical Reference Group,
the Committee was disbanded in September 2019.

Declaration of interests
Pursuant to our values of openness and honesty and statutory guidance, it is a requirement
that all member practices of the CCG, Governing Body members, GPs who are paid to
provide services to the CCG and all staff declare any interests that they have that may
conflict with the interests of the CCG itself. These can be found on our website.

Personal data related incidents
A personal data breach is a breach of security leading to the accidental or unlawful
destruction, loss, alteration, unauthorised disclosure of, or access to, personal data.
If we experience a personal data breach at the CCG we need to consider whether this
poses a risk to people. We need to consider the likelihood and severity of the risk to
people’s rights and freedoms, following the breach. Once this assessment has been made
by the Data Protection Officer, if it’s likely there will be a risk then we will notify the
Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO); if it’s unlikely then we will deal with the breach
according to CCG policies, without reporting to the ICO. Further information is available in
our Governance Statement, page 67.

Governing Body, independent lay members and senior manager profiles
Profiles detailing professional backgrounds of the following staff groups, who have been in
post during 2019/20 can be found on our website:
• Governing Body;
• Independent lay members;
• senior management team.

Statement of disclosure to auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved
confirms:
•
•

so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit
report;
the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make
him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s
auditor is aware of it.
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Modern slavery act
NHS Dorset CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery
and human trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for the financial year
ending 31 March 2020 is published on our website.

Statement of accountable officer’s responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed
the Tim Goodson to be the Accountable Officer of NHS Dorset CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:
•
•
•
•
•

•

the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer
is answerable;
for keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to
ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction);
for safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).
the relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money;
ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))
and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in
accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended));
ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in
the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on
an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical
Commissioning Group and of its income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position
and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:
•
•
•
•
•

observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis;
make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial
Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material
departures in the accounts; and,
prepare the accounts on a going concern basis;
confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts
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and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and
understandable.
As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make
myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that NHS Dorset CCG’s
auditors are aware of that information. So far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the auditors are unaware.
I also confirm that:
•

as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s
auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that
I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.

Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
17 June 2020
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Annual governance statement
Introduction and context
NHS Dorset CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s statutory functions are set out under the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the
provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The
CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to
such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local
population.
As at 1 April 2019, the Clinical Commissioning Group is not subject to any directions from
NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding
financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness
of the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this
governance statement.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as
are relevant to it.
The Membership has retained the power to make changes to its core constitution but has
delegated the majority of the decision making functions to the CCG’s Governing Body. The
Governing Body has, in turn, delegated some decision making to the organisation’s
committees. Further information relating to the delegated responsibility to each of the
committees is detailed in the Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 and Terms of Reference
(see pages 52 to 56).
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UK Corporate Governance Code
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance, however
we have reported on our corporate governance arrangements throughout our Annual Report
and Accounts.
From 1 April 2019 and up to the date of signing this statement, the CCG has complied with
the provisions set out in the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group’s Code of Governance and
applied the principles of the Code.

Discharge of statutory function
I can confirm that the correct arrangements are in place for the discharge of statutory
functions.
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the
UK Corporate Governance Code were developed with extensive expert external legal input
to ensure compliance with all the relevant legislation. The legal advice also informed the
matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of
delegation.
In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the Clinical Commissioning Group
has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result,
I can confirm that the Clinical Commissioning Group is clear about the legislative
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s statutory duties.

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
In May 2018, Internal Audit (BDO LLP became the CCG’s internal auditors in April 2018)
undertook a ‘risk maturity assessment’ of the CCG as an advisory piece of work. This
assessment aimed to help ensure that an effective risk management culture becomes
embedded across the CCG by highlighting areas where processes could be improved.
The audit identified many aspects of good practice within the organisation, whilst
recommending a number of opportunities for enhancement of the risk approach.
The overall maturity assessment was rated as follows (against the risk maturity assessment
matrix used within the audit):
TABLE 10: RISK MANAGEMENT EFFECTIVENESS
Risk
governance
Current
Target

Defined
Managed

Risk
identification
and
assessment
Managed
Enabled
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Risk
mitigation
and
treatment
Defined
Managed

Risk
reporting
and review

Continuous
improvement

Managed
Enabled

Defined
Managed
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Subsequent to the risk maturity audit, the recommendations have now been implemented
and this action plan has been closed as ‘completed’.
The CCG recognised that to lead the health system within an integrated care system (ICS),
the organisation needs to be bold and courageous, to ensure sustainability for the future.
Acknowledgement and acceptance of a higher level of risk is sometimes necessary to
facilitate innovation in the delivery of services. Therefore, following the formulation of
the CCG risk appetite statement, work to develop and implement an ICS risk framework,
ICS risk appetite and ICS risk register has been underway during 2019/20. Good progress
has been made in relation to this work, which has been reliant upon the final agreement
of the ICS governance structure. The governance structure has been finalised but further
progress has now been delayed following the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic; this
work remains a priority for the CCG once the organisation transitions through ‘recovery’ to
‘business as usual’.
Every activity that the CCG undertakes or commissions others to undertake on its behalf,
brings with it an element of risk that has the potential to threaten or prevent the
organisation achieving its strategic objectives. Unmanaged risk can affect people, assets,
the organisation and reputation and ultimately be of detriment to the population the CCG
serves.
The CCGs Risk Management Framework, which is regularly updated as the approach to risk
within the organisation develops:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

standardises and clarifies the terminology of risk management;
sets out the organisation’s objective to identify, treat and mitigate risk;
explains the roles and responsibilities within the CCG relating to risk;
defines the role and objectives of the CCG’s committees and groups;
clearly explains the tools (Corporate Risk Register and Governing Body Assurance
Framework) used by the CCG to document and manage risks to the organisation,
detailing the clear, consistent and effective risk scoring systems used;
details how the organisation has a clear view of the risks affecting each area of its
activity, how the risks are being managed and their potential impact on the
organisational objectives;
assures the public, patients and their carers and representatives, staff and partner
organisations that the CCG is committed to managing risk appropriately.

This documented approach to managing identified risk helps the CCG achieve agreed
standards, reduce overall costs and maintain and enhance the standard of service
provided.
The CCG ensures that risk management is embedded in all aspects of the work of the
organisation. Examples include:
•

•

Equality Impact Assessments: The CCG is committed to ensuring a reduction in health
inequalities and places the needs of Dorset communities at the heart of all
commissioning functions. ‘Equality analysis’ is undertaken when commissioning
services, making changes to services, using information within services and within the
policies that are used. Additionally, the CCG publishes an annual ‘Equality, Diversity
and Inclusion report’ which acknowledges the organisation’s successes in relation to
equality and diversity, as well as making recommendations for improvement.
Incident Reporting: Incident and serious incident reporting is openly encouraged from
all staff, GP practices and the provider organisations (both NHS and non-NHS) that are
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•
•

commissioned by the CCG. This information is analysed and used to identify any risks
which may impact the business of the CCG.
Stakeholder engagement: In line with our duty, the CCG actively involves local people
(‘public stakeholders’) in the planning and development of locally commissioned
services.
Counter fraud methodology: The CCG also actively deters risks through the adoption of
robust counter-fraud methodology. All clinical and non-clinical staff receive training on
the identification of fraud within the CCG. The CCG has a contract with Tiaa to provide
counter fraud and security management services that have an annual work programme.
The CCG’s Executive Lead for fraud and corruption is the Chief Finance Officer, who is
responsible for authorising investigations, including the arrest, interviewing and
prosecution of subjects and the recovery or write-off of any sums lost to fraud.

Capacity to handle risk
The CCG’s Governing Body Assurance Framework provides assurance to the Governing Body
of the controls that are in place to mitigate the key risks that could impact on the CCG’s
delivery of its programmes and priorities.
Key controls where assurance cannot be fully demonstrated are highlighted in blue on the
framework, with an explanation of the work in progress to achieve assurance. Quarterly
updates are provided to the Directors of the progress against achieving full assurance,
with formal reports submitted to every Governing Body and Audit Committee meeting.
This pro-active method of managing risk is a preventative approach to limit the risk
exposure to the organisation.
The Corporate Risk Register is a risk management tool which acts as a central repository
for all current risks identified by the organisation. All risks are recorded and managed via
the Ulysses software ‘Safeguard Risk Management System’ and are mapped (where
applicable) to the strategic objectives of the CCG.
In relation to risk management the Governing Body membership and executive team are
responsible for:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

articulating the organisation’s strategic objectives;
identifying risks to the achievement of its strategic objectives;
protecting the reputation of the CCG; providing leadership, active involvement and
support for risk management;
determining the risk appetite for the CCG;
ensuring the approach to risk management is consistently applied;
ensuring that there is a structure in place for the effective management of risk
throughout the CCG and that this structure is consistently applied;
monitoring these processes on an on-going basis via the Governing Body Assurance
Framework and Corporate Risk Register;
reviewing and approving the Risk Management Framework on an annual basis.

The CCG is able to assure itself of the validity of the Annual Governance Statement in a
number of ways. These are:
•
•

adherence to the Risk Management Framework;
adherence to the CCG committee structure, Committee Terms of Reference and
reporting framework;
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•

•

biannual confirmations from the Chairs of the key groups and committees that the
assurances for which their programmes have delegated responsibility have been
scrutinised and that there are no significant lapses in assurance or (in the case of
lapses/gaps in assurance) details of the work being taken, including action plans, to
resolve the lapses/gaps;
scrutiny of the draft Annual Governance Statement (this document) by members of the
Audit Committee prior to submission and sign off at the special meeting for closure of
finances in June 2020.

Leadership for the risk management process within the CCG is provided via the Governing
Body, with responsibility delegated to the Audit Committee. The organisational structure
has been established in order to assist with this process and is described in the following
paragraphs.
All Directors are responsible for compliance with the Risk Management Framework to
ensure that remedial actions are identified and taken wherever key risks are identified
within their area of responsibility.
The Director of Quality and Nursing is the designated lead for risk and patient safety
within the CCG, and is responsible for ensuring that the Risk Management Framework is
implemented and evaluated effectively.
All Directors, Deputy Directors and Managers have delegated responsibility and authority
with regard to the management of risk within their specific areas of work, including
compliance with the Risk Management Framework and for ensuring that remedial action is
taken wherever key risks are identified within their area of responsibility, including:
•
•
•
•
•

the reporting of adverse incidents, together with actions to prevent or minimise a
reoccurrence;
identifying and adding risks to the Corporate Risk Register in a timely manner;
coordinating the application of resources to minimise, manage and control the
likelihood and/or impact of the risk;
undertaking risk assessments and actions implemented;
ensuring staff undertake mandatory and statutory training.

The CCG has clear governance structures with delegation of responsibility clearly
articulated in the terms of reference for committees and groups (as described on pages 50
to 56). All committees review their effectiveness annually and there are clear lines of
reporting from all committees and groups to the Governing Body. The Governing Body
through reports and updates reviews the quality, performance and financial stewardship of
the organisation. Any risks identified relating to these areas have been recorded in the
Corporate Risk Register and/or the Governing Body Assurance Framework.
The CCG operates a ‘Declaration of Interest’ register and this is checked regularly;
potential conflicts of interest are taken into account in all aspects of the CCGs business.
Declarations of interest are recorded at every formal committee and group meeting.
The Head of Patient Safety and Risk, supported by the Patient Safety and Risk Manager has
delegated responsibility for:
•
•

co-ordinating and managing activities relating to clinical, corporate and financial risks
for the CCG;
monitoring risk management and patient safety within commissioned and corporate
services for the CCG;
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•
•

maintaining the Corporate Risk Register and Governing Body Assurance Framework
through engagement with the Directors and Directorate Risk Leads;
the management of all Never Events, Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation and
Adverse Incidents.

The Patient Safety and Risk team within the CCG supports the consistent identification,
assessment and management of risk across the organisation and, as a team, are central to
the dissemination and application of best practice. Additionally, the team administers the
key administration and system processes and acts as a central resource and advisory
function in relation to risk and risk management.
Face-to-face training for existing CCG employees was undertaken during 2018/19 covering
the key components of risk management. New staff to the organisation now receive risk
training as part of their CCG induction and all Governing Body members receive annual risk
training.
The cumulative contribution of the above mechanisms assists in the assurance of
commissioning services that ensure patient safety is high profile.

The current information security landscape
The CCG has not been impacted by any successful cyber-attacks during 2019/20. Phishing
attacks remain the primary threat to CCG data and security. The CCG’s Data Security
Advisory Team provides Data Protection and Cyber Security training to all staff and this
mandatory training has a high take up rate with 99% of CCG staff attending; the training
(which includes a written test) has helped to inform and educate the staff and reduce the
CCG’s vulnerability to phishing attacks.
Phishing and spam is predominately targeted at Senior staff and Executives and it is
evident that a level of knowledge of CCG staff structures is being used to target these
exploits. Attackers are taking time to use publicly accessible sources to locate senior staff
and target them using social engineering techniques. The attacks are using carefully
written emails where traditional identifiers, such as poor written English or unusual
display names, are not as prevalent making them harder to spot.
The CCG has implemented its phishing reporting service which allows staff to forward
suspicious emails which the Information Security team can then assess and delete from all
CCG systems.
The CCG continues to see constant probes around the edge of its network and this is to be
expected; where possible access has been blocked from outside of the EEA.
During 2020/21, the CCG Information Security Team is expanding to provide more resource
and knowledge to help detect, analyse and remediate identified threats. This will also
allow the CCG to investigate and implement additional security technologies to further
protect its data from unauthorised access.
The CCG will also be working to achieve accreditation via the National Cyber Security
Centre’s Cyber Essentials Plus accreditation scheme.

COVID-19 pandemic
On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the COVID-19 outbreak a
pandemic. In the following days, social distancing measures were advised and schools
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were closed; on 23 March 2020, the Prime Minister announced measures to mitigate the
virus were to be tightened further in order to protect the NHS, with wide-ranging
restrictions made on freedom of movement, enforceable in law, for a planned "lockdown"
period intended to last for at least three weeks.
The NHS will face substantial and unprecedented challenges during the pandemic and
Dorset CCG has a vital role in ensuring that good governance, risk management and
accountability remain throughout. The details of the CCG’s strategic response to the
pandemic will be detailed in the Annual Governance Statement 2020/21 when the full
impact of the “lockdown” on the residents of Dorset will be more fully understood.

Risk assessment
The CCG continues to develop and embed its approaches to risk management both
internally in the organisation and as a partner within the developing ICS. The CCG views
integrated risk management as a key element in the successful delivery of both CCG and
ICS business and remains committed to ensuring staff are equipped to assess, manage,
escalate and report risks.
To deliver the CCGs vision to “provide services to meet the needs of local people and
deliver better outcomes”, a number of programmes and priorities have been developed,
supported by two enabling programmes.
All assurance lines on the Assurance Framework are aligned to the current strategic risks
and priorities/programmes and all corporate risks are aligned to a priority or programme.
The Governing Body receives regular assurance on the management of internal risks and
assurance both directly via regular reports including the full Governing Body Assurance
Framework and Corporate Risk Register and via assurance from the Audit Committee.
During 2020/21 work is to be undertaken to more clearly articulate the CCG’s strategic
priorities and the progress being made on delivery of these priorities. This will dovetail
with a planned refresh of the Assurance Framework, work on which has commenced via
the Audit Committee, to ensure the ongoing oversight of risk assessments and assurance
on strategic risk management and mitigation. The refresh of the CCG Assurance
Framework will ensure alignment with the developing ICS Oversight and Assurance
Framework.
Reports are also received on a monthly basis by Directors summarising the top risks to the
organisation (those scoring over 15), new risks, closed risks and any other key risk issues.
Directors also review the full Corporate Risk Register at every meeting.
All risks identified in the Corporate Risk Register require the formulation of an action
plan. A member of the Patient Safety and Risk team communicates with risk leads on a
monthly or quarterly basis (dependant on risk level) to record progress against action plans
and documents the effect these are having on the residual risk score. All action plans are
formally reported via the Corporate Risk Register. The document includes all risks that
may impact on the achievement of the CCG’s objectives.
Risks are scored on a likelihood x consequence matrix to score the potential severity of a
risk being realised. Risks scored above 15 are categorised as ‘high risk’.
During 2019/20 the existing process to record operational risks associated with the
development project continued, with a clear route to escalate any of the risks identified
to the Corporate Risk Register.
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Between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020, 17 risks were added to the Corporate Risk Register.
Of these 17 risks, four have been closed within the year. 32 risks remain open.
Of the remaining 32 open risks, 16 are assessed as high risk. These risks relate to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the impact of COVID-19 on the ability of the CCG to perform its required functions;
cost pressures of transitioning phlebotomy services out of acute Providers;
workforce challenges across the Integrated Care Service;
potential financial overspends within the GP prescribing budget and personal health
commissioning (two risks);
demand and capacity challenges in elective care (including ophthalmology and
endoscopy) and potential 52 week breaches (four risks);
delivering the required functionality of the Dorset Care Record;
preventing deprivation of liberty without authorisation;
the challenges in achieving ambulance response times and the impact of this (two
risks);
timely and effective administration and support services to GP practices;
Integrated Urgent Care service provision, including the impact of transitioning to a
new service provider (two risks).

The outstanding risks in place on 31 March 2020 are carried over into the new financial
year and will continue to be managed within the Risk Management Framework described
within this statement. The risk profile of the CCG is subject to on-going in-year revision.
As Accountable Officer I can confirm that there have been no significant lapses of
protective security.

Other sources of assurance
Internal control framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed
to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised
and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.
The Corporate Risk Register has controls described for every risk entry. The controls are
reviewed on a monthly or quarterly basis (depending on their risk level) along with
progress for reducing the risk to ensure they are still effective.
The framework provides assurance to the Governing Body of the controls that are in place
to mitigate the key risks that could impact on the CCG’s delivery of its strategic
objectives.

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
The updated/revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs
(published June 2017) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of
66

ACCOUNTABILITY
interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a
template audit framework.
In October and November 2019, the annual internal audit of conflict of interest was
undertaken with the final report published in November 2019.
The scope of this audit covered the areas set out by NHS England in their published audit
template for this nationally mandated review. The audit provided assurance that there was
full compliance over the five key areas: governance arrangements; declarations of interests
and gifts and hospitality; registers of interests, gifts and hospitality and procurement
decisions and contracts; decision making processes and contract monitoring; reporting of
concerns and areas of non-compliance.
An overall assurance of ‘substantial assurance’ was achieved for both ‘design’ and
‘operational effectiveness’.
The CCG was found to have robust controls in place to manage conflicts of interests through
the administration processes undertaken by the Executive Assistant, Committee meetings
discussion, decision making, contract procurement and commissioning process. Only one
‘low level’ finding was raised in relation to contract review process.

Data quality 2019/20
The data used by the Governing Body and delegated Committees/groups is obtained from
various sources the majority of which are national systems and official NHS data sets. The
Provider data is quality assured through contract and performance monitoring and against
the Secondary Uses Service (SUS).
The specific governance of data quality and consistency across the STP providers, via the
collaborative agreement, is owned by the Operational Finance Reference Group and
managed via the Performance Reference Group and Data Quality Working Group (DQWG)
which have relevant membership and representation from all partner organisations.

Information governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by a
Data Security and Protection toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances
to the Clinical Commissioning Group, other organisations and to individuals that personal
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
The CCG places high importance on ensuring there are robust Information Governance (IG)
systems and processes in place to manage data security risks and the protection of patient
and corporate information.
Responsibility for IG rests with me, as Accountable Officer; I have delegated authority to
the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO), the Caldicott Guardian and the Information Asset
Owners Group (IAOG). A range of measures are used to manage and mitigate information
risks, including annual mandatory staff training, physical security, data encryption, access
controls and departmental spot checks.
The CCG’s IG status is regularly reviewed by the IAOG which is a standing group that reports
to the Governing Body via the Audit Committee. Its purpose is to support and drive the
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broader IG agenda and provide assurance to the Governing Body that effective IG best
practice mechanisms are in place. Risks to information, including data protection, data
security, confidentiality, integrity and availability, are managed and controlled via this
group which meets quarterly.
The SIRO has responsibility for leading and implementing the information asset risk
assessment and management processes within the CCG in addition to advising the Governing
Body on the effectiveness of information risk management throughout the CCG.
As part of the annual DSP Toolkit submission, a comprehensive assessment of information
security is undertaken. The effectiveness of this assessment is reported to, and monitored
by, the IAOG. This includes details of any personal data related serious incidents, the CCG’s
annual DSP toolkit score and reports of other IG incidents and audit reviews. Regular reports
are received in relation to policies, the Caldicott risk register, information assets and
records management.
There is a staff handbook in place to ensure that staff are aware of their roles and
responsibilities under IG and the Data Protection Act 2018.
The CCG has not yet completed the DSP Toolkit as staff have been moved to support the
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. NHS Digital has extended the submission date to 30
September 2020.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.
Information risk assessment and management procedures have been established via the
IAOG, the SIRO and the Risk Management Team. Work continually takes place to ensure
that these are embedded throughout the organisation. All incidents which have a data
protection element are investigated with lessons learnt shared via the IAOG.
There have been no serious breaches of the Data Protection Act (Level 2 reportable) in
2019/20 which required reporting to the Information Commissioners Office.
For further information on responding to Freedom of Information requests please see page
45 of the Annual Report and Accounts.

Business critical models
As Accountable Officer I can confirm that there is an appropriate framework and
environment in place to provide quality assurance of business critical models, in line with
the recommendations in the Macpherson Report for government departments and their
arm’s length bodies.
Having reviewed the guidance around business critical models and the detail held by HM
Treasury, although CCGs make use of the models we do not own them, and are unable to
change their content. For example, the models include the CCG allocations formula and the
modelling for the national tariff; we receive the outputs of these models but have no control
or input to their use.

Third party assurances
NHS Dorset CCG seeks third party assurances when a provider enters a sub-contracting
arrangement. The lead provider is then required to report on outcomes of the
commissioned service including all aspects of the sub-contracted element of the
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service. The NHS Standard Contract, General Medical Services (GMS), Personal Medical
Services (PMS) and Alternative Provider Medical Services (APMS) Contracts affords the CCG
adequate levers and mechanisms to address any concerns that may arise from any third
party arrangements. For Personal Health Commissioning, when the NHS Standard Contract
is not used, joint contracts with Local Authority partners similarly offer the required level
of assurance for such third party arrangements.

Control issues
There were no significant control issues identified in 2019/20.

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of
resources
There are procurement processes to which the CCG adheres. There is a scheme of
delegation which ensures that financial controls are in place across the organisation.
The roles of the accountable and delegated committees and groups are clearly articulated
in pages 50 to 56 of the Annual Report and the scheme of delegation has been reviewed,
and approved, in year.
NHS Dorset CCG is operating as a first wave ‘integrated care system’ (ICS) and has in place
a system control total in partnership with the four Foundation Trusts within Dorset. Being
part of this arrangement enables the partners to work together to ensure maximum
resources are available and collective management of risk.
A range of arrangements have been put in place to operate as an ICS including monthly
monitoring of actions, performance and financial metrics through the Operations and
Finance Reference Group (OFRG) and the Senior Leadership Team (SLT). Furthermore,
Dorset also has in place a Finance Investment Group, with an independent Lay Chair to
ensure strong system wide governance is in place to manage investment funding for, and
on behalf of, the Dorset system.
In order to continue to deliver efficiency within the CCG, a sustainability taskforce is in
place led by the Chief Finance Officer to ensure that Quality, Innovation, Productivity and
Prevention (QIPP) continues to be a priority.
Monthly reporting is in place to Directors, with bi-monthly reporting to the Governing Body
on financial performance and delivery against the agreed plan; this will include the
actions for QIPP and proposed mitigations for any variance to plan that could lead to nondelivery.

Delegation of functions
It is implicit through the work of the Governing Body and delegated Committees that

members have clear responsibility for ensuring appropriate use of resources. Where there
are concerns in relation to budgetary management, these are clearly documented in the
Corporate Risk Register including those key financial risks relating to the CCG’s
commissioned Providers. During the course of 2019/20 there were four risks identified and
recorded on the Corporate Risk Register relating to aspects of financial risk.
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Through the committee structure within NHS Dorset CCG, regular reports are received on
the performance of contracted Providers. Areas of under and over performance are
addressed through contract meetings and reported though performance and quality papers
to CCG groups and committees.
The Audit Committee, under the scheme of delegation, monitor the financial stewardship
of the organisation via detailed reporting to every meeting and is responsible for
scrutinising and signing off the end of year financial accounts. At year end the CCG
achieved the control total that had been agreed with NHS England.
The Governing Body, Audit Committee, Quality Surveillance Group and Directors
Performance meetings retain oversight of all risks including those deemed to be systematic
and are responsible for ensuring that relevant mitigating actions are undertaken. There have
been no significant internal control failures identified throughout the financial year
2019/20.
Internal Audit has found no significant lapses in key controls tested in any of the audits that
have been undertaken in this financial year.
With the exception of the South West 999 service and contract support for some out of area
contracts including London, Southampton, Bristol and Portsmouth, Dorset CCG has not
contracted any commissioning support services from an external Provider during 2019/20.
The CCG commissions support services from other NHS organisations under the NHS Contract
for Goods and Services for the provision of back office functions such as payroll,
occupational health and procurement. The contract form provides the framework under
which assurance on performance can be monitored and managed.

Freedom to speak up: raising concerns (whistleblowing) effectiveness
Freedom to Speak Up arrangements help to protect patients and improve the experience of
staff. It is important that as well as identifying where things are going wrong, potential
harm is prevented. Staff should feel able to report concerns, make suggestions and should
expect that their concerns and suggestions are listened to and used as an opportunity for
improvement.
Dorset CCG has established policies and processes to support staff in raising concerns which
meet contractual and professional requirements. These documented are based on the
national ‘Freedom to Speak Up Policy’ mandated by NHS England and are well promoted
throughout the CCG. In 2019/20 two cases were raised with the Freedom To Speak Up
Guardian at Dorset CCG: both cases were related to bullying and harassment, one of these
was raised anonymously in relation to a commissioned service.
The new CCG Freedom to Speak Up Guardian (Governing Body Nurse Member) came into
post in February 2020 and is working with the CCG Nursing and Quality team to further
develop the recording and reporting for the Freedom to Speak Up process. The CCG Guardian
is also working closely with the Primary Care team to launch a survey of Dorset practices
and Primary Care Networks to determine the extent of Freedom to Speak Up implementation
in this important area of health care.
In the Dorset CCG results of the 2019 NHS Staff Survey (2019) ‘would feel confident that
organisation would address concerns about unsafe clinical practice’ remained consistent
with the result in 2018 and ‘know how to report unsafe clinical practice’ was above 90%.
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Dorset CCG is confident that there are appropriate processes in place around whistleblowing
and are building on these through the new Governing Body Nurse Member.

Counter fraud arrangements
The CCG’s Accountable Officer for fraud, bribery and corruption is the Chief Finance
Officer, who is responsible for authorising investigations, including the arrest, interviewing
and prosecution of subjects and the recovery or write-off of any sums lost to fraud.

The CCG has a nominated Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) who is responsible for the
investigation of any allegations of fraud, bribery and corruption and for the delivery of a
programme of proactive counter fraud work, as detailed in the annual work-plan approved
by the Audit Committee. Where fraud is established or improvements to systems or
processes identified, the LCFS will recommend appropriate action to the CCG.
The LCFS works closely with the Workforce Department when investigating cases involving
members of staff and provides evidence to the CCG’s investigating officer for disciplinary
matters.
Monitoring of the Group’s counter fraud arrangements is undertaken by the Audit
Committee. The LCFS, who is responsible for the investigation of any allegations of fraud,
bribery and corruption and for the delivery of a programme of proactive counter fraud work,
attends each committee meeting to report progress against the agreed counter fraud workplan and advise the outcome of any completed investigations or proactive exercises.
The CCG is required to submit an annual ‘Self-Review’ against NHS Counter Fraud Authority’s
‘Standards for Commissioners’ which provides assurance of compliance to those ‘Standards’.
A Fraud Response Plan is in place which sets out these roles and responsibilities and the
steps to be taken by the CCG if fraud is suspected. All staff are required to report any
suspicions of fraud, bribery or corruption that they may have either to the LCFS, NHS
Counter Fraud Authority or the Chief Finance Officer.
As part of the Governance arrangements that are in place, external audit undertakes ‘a
value for money’ audit, which assesses the CCGs performance in respect of efficiency,
effectiveness and economy. This is undertaken on an annual basis to provide external
assurance. In addition, the CCG is required to report to NHS England how it is delivering in
respect of use of resources as part of a regular assurance process.

Head of Internal Audit Opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of
risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded
that:
The role of the internal auditors of NHS Dorset CCG is to provide the Audit Committee, and
the Directors with an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management,
governance and internal control processes, as well as arrangements to promote value for
money.
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During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
TABLE 11: INTERNAL AUDIT REPORTS
Area of audit

Level of assurance given
Design
Operational
Effectiveness
Substantial
Substantial
Substantial
Substantial
Moderate
Moderate
Moderate
Moderate
Substantial
Substantial
Moderate
Moderate
n/a - advisory n/a - advisory
Substantial
n/a

Key financial systems
Conflicts of interest
Safeguarding children
Cyber security
Primary care commissioning
Adverse incidents
Corporate governance
Data security and protection toolkit

The overall Head of Internal Audit opinion is set out as follows:
•
•
•

overall opinion;
basis for the opinion;
commentary.

Overall opinion
Overall, we are able to provide moderate assurance that there is a sound system of internal
control designed to meet the CCG’s objectives and that controls are being applied
consistently. However, some weakness in the design and/or inconsistent application of
controls, put the achievement of particular objectives at risk.

Basis of opinion
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:
•
•

•

an assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Governing Body and
Assurance Framework and supporting processes;
an assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit
assignments contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been reported
throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative materiality of
these areas and management’s progress in respect of addressing control weaknesses;
any reliance that is being placed upon third party assurances.

Commentary
In forming this view, the following was also taken into account:
•
•

the CCG is forecast to deliver its planned in year surplus control total of £2m. As a
result, it’s cumulative surplus will be a total of £35,819k;
the CCG has displayed strong controls in relation to the key financial system, conflicts
of interest and primary care commissioning processes;
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•
•

the CCG is developing robust assurance mechanisms to ensure appropriate assurance
and oversight arrangements are in place to demonstrate the monitoring of its strategy
and documentation within the Governing Body Assurance Framework;
good progress has been made during the year with the implementation of the actions
arising from the audit work.

Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and
internal control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of
the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the Clinical
Commissioning Group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the
internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My
review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit
letter and other reports.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that
manage risks to the Clinical Commissioning Group achieving its principles objectives have
been reviewed. I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by:
•
•
•
•

the work of the internal auditors;
Executive Directors, Senior Managers and Clinical Leads within the CCG who have
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework;
available performance information;
comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other reports.

The Governing Body Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register have been designed
to provide me, as Accountable Officer, with sources of assurance which are evidence that
the effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG are achieving their principal
objectives and are reviewed on an on-going basis as described on pages 60 to 65.
The Executive Directors within the CCG who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the system of internal control provide me, as Accountable Officer, with
assurance.
As Accountable Officer, I have received assurance of the effectiveness of the CCG’s internal
controls as discharged through the committees described in pages 52 to 56. Plans are in
place to address any areas of improvement identified; monitoring arrangements are in place
to address these.
Pages 52 to 56 describe the process that has been applied in maintaining and reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal control, including the role and outputs of the:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Audit Committee;
Clinical Reference Group;
Governing Body;
Primary Care Commissioning Committee;
Quality Surveillance Group;
Remuneration Committee.
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Conclusion
I can confirm that no significant internal control issues have been identified.

Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
17 June 2020
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REMUNERATION REPORT
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Governing Body about the
remuneration, fees and allowances for senior managers and the persons in senior positions
within the CCG, including those who regularly attend the Governing Body meeting, who
are appointed by or who provide services to the CCG. The Remuneration Committee is
chaired by Kay Taylor, Lay Member Lead for Patient and Public Involvement. Other
members during 2019/20 were:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Dr Forbes Watson, CCG Chair;
Dr Karen Kirkham, Assistant Clinical Chair, Locality Lead;
Nick Robinson, Lay Member Lead for Governance and Chair of Audit Committee;
Elaine Spencer, Registered Nurse Member (until 31 January 2020);
Vanessa Avlonitis, Registered Nurse Member (from 1 February 2020);
Jacqueline Swift, Deputy CCG Chair, Lay Member and Chair for Primary Care
Commissioning Committee;
Mary Armitage, Secondary Care Consultant Member.

The Committee met on four occasions in 2019/20 supported by the Chief Officer and the
Director of Engagement and Development (advisory).
Full details of the remuneration paid to the Governing Body members and senior
employees are provided within the Remuneration Report, see page 84 together with their
pension entitlements.
Details of the number of committee meetings and individuals’ attendance at each can be
seen on our website.

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers
The policy on remuneration of senior managers is informed by market consideration and
Dorset based public sector benchmarking, together with any prevailing national CCG
remuneration guidance and principles. There has been no new published guidance by NHS
England and NHS Improvement on CCG remuneration in 2019/20. The committee continues
to keep its policy under review.
Account continues to be taken of prevailing guidance on remuneration across the NHS,
including the controls on senior managers’ salaries in excess of the Prime Minister. Dorset
CCG remains compliant in this regard.

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
For the purpose of this report, senior managers are defined as being ‘those persons in
senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major
activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group’. This means those who influence the
decisions of the organisation as a whole, rather than the decisions of individual
directorates or departments. Such persons will include advisory and Lay Members.
It is the Remuneration Committee that recommends the reward packages of Executive
Directors to the Governing Body.
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Service contracts
Senior officer appointments to the CCG are consistent with the employment policies of the
CCG. Where appropriate, duration of contracts is determined by the needs of the
business. Notice periods take account of statutory requirements and terms previously
established by the NHS very senior managers’ pay framework. Substantive contracts are
subject to six months’ notice of termination. The committee is responsible for approving
all non-contractual termination payments, including any compensation for early contract
termination. Liability in the event of early termination is in accordance with the NHS
Agenda for Change terms and conditions handbook and further guidance set by NHS
England on the termination and re-engagement of senior managers. There have been no
termination payments during 2019/20.
With the retirement of the Chief Finance Officer in December 2019, the CCG appointed
the new Chief Finance Officer with effect from January 2020. The Committee reviewed
the remuneration arrangements in line with the previous years’ review of executive
portfolios. On the retirement of the Chief Finance Officer, the remit of the Deputy Chief
Officer was deferred in favour of collaborative responsibility sharing across the executive
team. No remuneration changes were required.
The Registered Nurse Member stepped down in January 2020 to pursue new career
opportunities with the thanks of the Governing Body. The new Registered Nurse Member
was appointed from 1 February 2020.
Other appointments to the Governing Body (excluding the Accountable Officer and Chief
Finance Officer) are determined for periods of up to three years. These are renewable
under the terms provided for by the constitution.
Eighteen Primary Care Networks (PCNs) across Dorset were established in July 2019. The
committee informed this clinical leadership transition to support the localised leadership
of Primary Care Networks. This was approved by the Governing Body in November 2019
for full implementation by April 2020. This included assurance that individual clinical
leadership should not be concurrent in PCNs and Governing Body roles. The committee
does not inform the remuneration of Primary Care Network clinical leadership.
Guidance was issued from NHS England and NHS Improvement on pension flexibilities in
November 2019. The committee considered the impact of taxation matters on senior
officers and staff who are members of the NHS Pensions scheme. The scheme provided
scope for eligible staff to apply for these flexibilities where the NHS fully supports any
future tax charge arising primarily from the annual allowance limits. The scheme has no
charges to the CCG itself, and therefore a formal decision of support was not required
from the committee. After review it was deemed appropriate for the CCG to facilitate
individual Scheme Pays applications from eligible CCG staff.
A number of new and renewed appointments to the Governing Body were made during the
year, see Table 9 for details.
Please see the Governing Body Report page 52 for information on contract details.
Governing Body and senior managers’ profiles can be found on our website.
Corporate objectives (see page 5) for 2019/20 were reviewed via the Remuneration
Committee and approved by the Governing Body. The objectives are distributed to the
senior management team where performance is reviewed six monthly by the Chief Officer;
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and by the Chair for the Chief Officer. Individual senior manager and clinical leadership
performance is reported to the Remuneration Committee and reviewed bi-annually.
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements)
TABLE 12: SENIOR MANAGER REMUNERATION 2019/20, INCLUDING SALARY AND PENSION ENTITLEMENTS (SUBJECT TO AUDIT)

Name and Title

Directors
Dr Forbes Watson, Chair
Mr Tim Goodson, Chief Officer
Mr Stuart Hunter, Chief Finance Officer (left 31.12.19)
Ms Nikki Rowland, Chief Finance Officer (from 1.1.20, previously Deputy CFO)3
Mrs Vanessa Read, Director of Nursing and Quality
Dr Phil Richardson, Chief System Integration Officer
Mrs Sally Sandcraft, Director of Primary and Community Care
Mr Charles Summers, Director of Engagement and Development
Mr Conrad Lakeman, Secretary and General Counsel (part time) (left 31.12.19)
Locality Chairs
Dr Jenny Bubb, GP Locality Chair for Mid Dorset1
Dr Colin Davidson, GP Locality Chair for East Dorset
Dr Nick Evans, GP Locality Chair for Poole Bay1
Dr David Haines, GP Locality Chair for Purbeck1
Dr Karen Kirkham, GP Locality Chair for Weymouth and Portland, Assistant
Clinical Chair role, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Maternity and Family Health)1
Dr Tom Knight, GP Locality Chair, North Bournemouth
Dr Blair Millar, GP Locality Chair for West Dorset
Dr Mufeed Ni'man, GP Locality Chair for East Bournemouth
Dr Ravin Ramtohal, GP Locality Chair for Christchurch 1
Dr David Richardson, GP Locality Chair for Poole North1
Dr Ben Sharland, GP Locality Chair for Central Bournemouth
Dr Simon Watkins, GP Locality Chair for Poole Central. GP Clinical Delivery
Group (Pan – Urgent Care, Clinical Services Review and Better Together) Lead
and Urgent and Emergency Care Clinical Working Group Chair
Dr Simone Yule, GP Locality Chair for North Dorset
Lay Members
Mr Nick Robinson, Lay Member lead for Governance, Chair of the Audit
Committee
Mrs Kay Taylor, Lay Member lead for Patient and Public Involvement, Deputy
Chair of the Clinical Commissioning Group and Chair of the Remuneration
Committee

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
(taxable)2
to nearest
£100**

£000

£

Annual
performance
related
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

80 - 85
150 - 155
105 - 110
90 - 95
110 - 115
110 - 115
110 - 115
105 - 110
10 - 15

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
25 - 30
135 - 140

0
0
0
0
0

35
35
35
35
35
35
65

2019/20
Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

All pensionrelated
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
20 - 22.5
52.5 - 55
27.5 - 30
97.5 - 100
17.5 - 20
0

80 - 85
150-155
105-110
110 - 115
165 - 170
140 - 145
210 - 215
120 - 125
10-15

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
25 - 30
135 - 140

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

30 30 30 30 30 30 60 -

35 - 40

0

0

0

0

35 - 40

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

30 30 30 30 30 30 60 -
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35
35
35
35
35
35
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Name and Title

Mrs Jacqueline Swift, Lay Member lead for Primary Care
Independent Lay Members
Mr Paul Turner, Independent Lay Member, Member Audit Committee
Mr Martin Davies, Independent Lay Member, Member Audit Committee
Other Members
Dr Mary Armitage, Secondary Care Consultant Member
Ms Elaine Spencer, Registered Nurse Member (left 31.1.20)
Vanessa Avlonitis, Registered Nurse Member (from 1.2.20)
Clinical Leads (not members of the Governing Body)
Dr Paul French, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Mental Health) Lead
Dr Craig Wakeham, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Long Term Conditions and Frail
Elderly) Lead and Chief Clinical Information Officer
Dr Sarnia Ward, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Cancer and End of Life) Lead1
Dr Christian Verrinder, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Planned and Specialist Care)
Lead Associate Medical Director (DCH)1

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
(taxable)2
to nearest
£100**

£000
15 - 20

£
0

Annual
performance
related
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
0

0-5
0-5

0
0

0
0

15 - 20
15 - 20
0-5

0
0
0

35 - 40
60 - 65
40 - 45
60 - 65

2019/20
Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
0

All pensionrelated
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£000
0

£000
15 - 20

0
0

0
0

0-5
0-5

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

15 - 20
15 - 20
0-5

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

35 - 40
60 - 65

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

40 - 45
60 - 65

Note: Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100.
1

Although included on the CCG’s payroll, GP leads are deemed to have a contract for service and any pension payments are ‘Practitioner’
contributions paid via the NHS Pension Scheme’s GP SOLO route. Therefore, no pension benefit figures are provided to the CCG, as these are
included in the individual’s GP pension.

2

Taxable Benefits relate to on-call and mileage above taxation threshold.

3

Dr Karen Kirkham’s remuneration includes her national role as Senior Medical Advisor to the Primary Care Provider Transformation team, for
which Dorset CCG is reimbursed by NHS England.
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TABLE 13: SENIOR MANAGER REMUNERATION 2018/19, INCLUDING SALARY AND PENSION ENTITLEMENTS (SUBJECT TO AUDIT)

Name and Title

Directors
Dr Forbes Watson, Chair
Mr Tim Goodson, Chief Officer
Mr Stuart Hunter, Chief Finance Officer
Mrs Vanessa Read, Director of Nursing and Quality
Dr Phil Richardson, Chief System Integration Officer
Mrs Sally Sandcraft, Director of Primary and Community Care
Mr Charles Summers, Director of Engagement and Development
Mr Conrad Lakeman, Secretary and General Counsel (part time)
Locality Chairs
Dr Jenny Bubb, GP Locality Chair for Mid Dorset1
Dr Colin Davidson, GP Locality Chair for East Dorset
Dr Nick Evans, GP Locality Chair for Poole Bay1
Dr David Haines, GP Locality Chair for Purbeck1
Dr Karen Kirkham, GP Locality Chair for Weymouth and Portland, Assistant
Clinical Chair role, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Maternity and Family Health)1
Dr Tom Knight, GP Locality Chair, North Bournemouth
Dr Blair Millar, GP Locality Chair for West Dorset
Dr Mufeed Ni'man, GP Locality Chair for East Bournemouth
Dr Ravin Ramtohal, GP Locality Chair for Christchurch 1
Dr David Richardson, GP Locality Chair for Poole North1
Dr Ben Sharland, GP Locality Chair for Central Bournemouth
Dr Simon Watkins, GP Locality Chair for Poole Central. GP Clinical Delivery
Group (Pan – Urgent Care, Clinical Services Review and Better Together) Lead
and Urgent and Emergency Care Clinical Working Group Chair
Dr Simone Yule, GP Locality Chair for North Dorset
Lay Members
Mrs Teresa Hensman, Lay Member lead for Governance, Chair of the Audit and
Quality Committee
Mr David Jenkins, Lay Member lead for Public Engagement, Deputy Chair of the
Clinical Commissioning Group and Chair of the Remuneration Committee
Mrs Jacqueline Swift, Lay Member with responsibility for Primary Care
Independent Lay Members

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
(taxable)2
to nearest
£100**

£000

£

Annual
performance
related
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

80 - 85
145 - 150
135 - 140
105 - 110
105 - 110
100 - 105
100 - 105
20 - 25

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
135 - 140

0
0
0
0
0

30
35
35
35
35
35
65

2018/19
Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

All pensionrelated
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
25 - 27.5
0
187.5 - 190
27.5 - 30
147.5 - 150
12.5 - 15
0

80 - 85
175 - 180
135 - 140
295 - 300
135 - 140
250 - 255
115 - 120
20 - 25

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
135 - 140

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

25 30 30 30 30 30 60 -

30 - 35

0

0

0

0

30 - 35

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

25 30 30 30 30 30 60 -

80

30
35
35
35
35
35
65
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Name and Title

Mr Charles Buckle, Independent Lay Member, Member Audit and Quality
Committee
Mr Martin Davies, Independent Lay Member, Member Audit and Quality
Committee
Other Members
Dr Mary Armitage, Secondary Care Consultant Member
Ms Elaine Spencer, Registered Nurse Member
Clinical Leads (not members of the Governing Body)
Dr Paul French, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Mental Health) Lead
Dr Craig Wakeham, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Long Term Conditions and Frail
Elderly) Lead and Chief Clinical Information Officer
Dr Christian Verrinder, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Planned and Specialist Care)
Lead Associate Medical Director (DCH)1

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
(taxable)2
to nearest
£100**

£000
0-5

£
0

Annual
performance
related
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
0

0-5

0

0

15 - 20
15 - 20

0
0

35 - 40
50 - 55
55 - 60

2018/19
Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
0

All pensionrelated
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£000
0

£000
0-5

0

0

0-5

0
0

0
0

0
0

15 - 20
15 - 20

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

35 - 40
50 - 55

0

0

0

0

55 - 60

Note: Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100.
1

Although included on the CCG’s payroll, GP leads are deemed to have a contract for service and any pension payments are
‘practitioner’ contributions paid via the NHS Pension Scheme’s GP SOLO route. Therefore, no pension benefit figures are provided to
the CCG, as these are included in the individual’s GP pension.

2

Taxable benefits relate to on-call and mileage above taxation threshold.

3

Dr Karen Kirkham’s remuneration includes her national role as Senior Medical Advisor to the Primary Care Provider Transformation
team, for which Dorset CCG is reimbursed by NHS England.

81

ACCOUNTABILITY

Pension benefits as at 31 March 2020 (subject to audit)
TABLE 14: PENSION BENEFITS AS AT 31 MARCH 2020
Name and Title

Tim Goodson, Chief Officer
Stuart Hunter, Chief Finance Officer (left
31.12.19)
Nikki Rowland, Chief Finance Officer (from
1.1.20)
Vanessa Read, Director of Nursing and Quality
Phil Richardson, Chief Systems Integration Officer
Sally Sandcraft, Director of Primary and
Community Care
Charles Summers, Director of Engagement and
Development
Conrad Lakeman, Secretary and General Counsel
(left 31.12.19)

Scheme

Real
increase in
pension at
pension
age

Total accrued
pension at
pension age
at 31 March
2020

(bands of
£2,500)

Real
increase in
pension
lump sum
at pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued
pension at 31
March 2020
(bands of
£5,000)

Cash
equivalent
transfer
value at 1
April 2020

Real
increase in
cash
equivalent
transfer
value at 31
March 2020

Cash
equivalent
transfer value
at 31 March
2020

Employer’s
contribution
to
partnership
pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Old
2015
Old

0-2.5
0-2.5
0

0-2.5
0
0

35-40
10-15
55-60

105-110
0
115-120

692
133
1,393

20
0
0

728
144
0

0
0
0

Old
2015
Old
Old
2015
Old

0-2.5
0-2.5
2.5-5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5

0-2.5
0
7.5-10
0
0
12.5 - 15

10-15
0-5
35-40
0-5
10 - 15
45 - 50

35-40
0
115-120
0
0
140 - 145

198
15
725
15
114
841

3
0
65
1
20
109

215
19
822
16
153
986

0
0
0

Old
2015
Old
2015

0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0
0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5
0
0
0

90 - 95
0
0
0

682
0
85
8

17
7
0
0

716
23
0
0

30 000-

35
5
5
5

Notes:
1
2
3

4
5
6
7

Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration.
Full details of the accounting policy regarding pension costs can be found within Note 4 of the full set of audited financial statements.
GPs who serve on the Governing Body for the Clinical Commissioning Group are either recognised as being under a ‘contract for service’ and a current
practitioner and therefore according to the NHS Pension Agency do not fall within the definition of a senior manager for disclosure under Greenbury; or are a
retired practitioner and do not receive pensionable remuneration. GP practitioner pension contributions are made by the GP SOLO system, and are therefore
not reflected in the table above.
‘0’ is shown where a senior manager is part of the 2008 NHS Pension Scheme, which does not have a lump sum entitlement.
The factors used to calculate the CETV increased by 3% on 29 October 2018.
Where partial benefits have been taken the NHS Pension Agency can no longer provide CETV figures and ‘0’ is shown.
We have not used the figures provided by the NHS Pension Agency for Ms Nikki Rowland as they showed the CETV at 1 April 2019 as £nil, which is incorrect as
it does not take account of previous service. Instead we have used figures provided by our payroll providers, as these give a realistic output and are in line
with expectation.
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Cash equivalent transfer values
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable
beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits
in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and
chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures
shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their
total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to
which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits
in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension
scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a
result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own
cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute
and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the
increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee
(including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement).

Pension liabilities
For more information regarding pension benefits and costs please see the Financial
Statements section on page 13 (see Note 1.6.2 Accounting Policies, Note 4 Employee
Benefits and Note 14 Trade and other Payables).

Losses and special payments
There was one special payment in 2019/20 of £100 and three in 2018/19 totalling
£29,400.00. In 2019/20 there were no losses and one loss of £4.20 in 2018/19.

Compensation on early retirement or of loss of office (subject to audit)
There was one ill-health retirement in 2019/20.

Payments to past directors (subject to audit)
We had no payments to past directors in 2019/20 or in the preceding six years.

Fair pay disclosure (subject to audit)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest paid director/Member (Governing Body member) in the organisation and the median
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.
The banded midpoint range of staff remuneration is between £17,500 and £167,500.
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The banded midpoint remuneration of the highest paid director/Member in the NHS Dorset
CCG in the financial year 2019/20 was £167,500 (2018/19, £152,500). This was 4.5 times
(2018/19, 4.2) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £37,570 (2018/19,
£36,644).
The ratio between the highest paid director and the median of the workforce has
increased by 0.3, due to an increase in the workforce, especially at senior posts in
specialist areas.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefitsin-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions
and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.

Remuneration of very senior managers
Governing Body GP members are engaged by the CCG on a part time basis. The full time
equivalent salary exceeds £150,000 per annum. There is a recognition that GP retention is
a critical challenge to the NHS with competing pressures in practice arising from increased
clinical demand in primary care. GP Governing Body members rely on the practice cover
of partners and salaried or locum GPs in order to release clinical time to commit to their
Governing Body roles.
The remuneration for GPs is paid in line with the NHS England guidance ‘CCG governing
body members: role outlines, attributes and skills’ which states that remuneration should
be either at a rate commensurate with allowing backfill or in line with local sessional
rate. Governing Body GPs are paid a sessional rate in line with this guidance.
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STAFF REPORT
Number of senior managers
Table 15 shows the number of senior managers by band, excluding Governing Body
members within NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group.
TABLE 15: NUMBER OF SENIOR MANAGERS BY BAND
NHS Dorset CCG
Very senior manager
Band 9
Band 8d
Band 8c
Band 8b
Band 8a
Total

Number
4
1
13
15
40
51
124

Staff numbers and costs
TABLE 16: AVERAGE STAFF NUMBERS – SUBJECT TO AUDIT
Average staff
numbers
Other
Total

Permanently
employed
No.
354
354

2019/20
Other
No.
23
23

Total
No.
377
377

Permanently
employed
No.
323
323

2018/19
Other
No.
15
15

Total
No.
338
338

TABLE 17: STAFF COSTS 2019/20

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Apprenticeship levy
Termination benefits
Gross admin employee benefits expenditure
Less: Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Net admin employee benefits expenditure including
capitalised costs
Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net admin employee benefits expenditure excluding
capitalised costs
Total average number of people employed
Of above, number of whole-time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects

Permanent
employees
£’000

Other
£’000

£’000

15,039
1,550
2,667
58
55
19,368
(1,075)
18,294

1,067
0
0
0
0
1,067
0
1,067

16,106
1,550
2,667
58
55
20,436
(1,075)
19,362

(223)
18,072

0
1,067

(223)
19,139

354
3.48

23
0.00

Total

377
3.48

The staff numbers and associated costs have increased for permanent and other staff to
enable 'Our Dorset' looking forward programme. The main areas that saw an increase are
the Dorset integrated care system, population health management and the personal health
commissioning team.
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Staff composition
Table 18 shows the gender distribution of our Governing Body and independent lay
members, senior managers and all other employees as at 31 March 2020.
TABLE 18: STAFF NUMBERS BY GENDER
NHS Dorset CCG
Governing Body
and independent
lay members
Very senior
managers
Senior managers
Other staff
Total

Number
Male
15

Female
8

Total
23

2

2

4

34
52
103

86
233
329

120
285
432

Gender pay gap
From 31 March 2017, all public sector organisations in England employing 250 or more staff
are required to publish gender pay gap information annually. This information is always
published a year in arrears. Our gender pay gap, as at 31 March 2019, is +21.44%, and
more detailed explanation and next steps can be found on our website. The designated
government website at www.gov.uk/genderpaygap also contains more information.

Sickness absence data
TABLE 19: STAFF SICKNESS ABSENCE

Monthly sickness absence rates for English bodies – January 2020
Monthly sickness absence rate for NHS Dorset CCG – January 2020
Monthly sickness absence rate for NHS Dorset CCG – average for 2019

2019/20
%
4.80
3.08
3.27

The figures in Table 19 are provided by NHS Digital and can be found on the following
website https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sicknessabsence-rates/january-2020-provisional-statistics .
TABLE 20: % OF STAFF SICK OR ABSENT

CCG average
NHS rate
CCG target

2019/20
%
3.16
4.27
3.00

Over the last year we have continued to build on previous good practice surrounding the
management of staff absence. However, we have seen a number of long-term sickness
cases which have adversely affected the CCG absence rate, along with a major reorganisation of our personal healthcare commissioning team.
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The overall absence rate for the CCG during 2019/20 is 3.16%. This compares to the
absence rate of 2.72% seen in 2018/19. The rate is being challenged through a number of
actions including:
•
•
•
•

•

•

The introduction of Manager Self Service ESR (the NHS payroll system) gives managers
more control over the reporting of absence and also give them real time data on
absence levels;
Sickness data is monitored closely by our Workforce team to ensure that support is
provided to both staff and their line managers where needed as quickly as possible;
We send monthly management information to Directors and we have continued to
develop the quality and presentation of this over the last 12 months;
The CCG signposts managers and employees to the support services in place such as
our Employee Assistance Programme and Occupational Health provider at appropriate
stages. In addition, we have also engaged with external bodies such as Access to
Work, Remploy and Bipolar UK to support individuals;
A member of the workforce team will contact the relevant line manager and offer
support and guidance as soon as the team is aware of any new long term absences;
absences due to serious medical conditions; patterns of absence which could indicate
potential warnings signs of stress; as well as when a staff member hits our agreed
trigger point for short term absences;
A number of long-term absences have been managed to ensure either a successful
return to work or that the employee leaves the CCG within the correct processes. This
has included successfully supporting one employee to apply for ill-health retirement.

Other employee matters
Staff health and wellbeing
We are committed to the health and wellbeing of our staff and in addition to the work we
do to support absence management, we continued to develop our wider offering during
2019/20:
•

•

•
•
•

in early 2018 we launched the People and Culture Programme with Culture Champions
from each Directorate. The culture champions continue to meet regularly, and task
and finish groups continue to look at key areas which are highlighted by our staff, with
most recent ones including a policy review and a group looking at working
environment;
as a result of feedback from the People and Culture Programme, a CCG staff Wellbeing
Group meets monthly. The group is chaired by one of the Workforce team and
includes at least one representative from every Directorate. Issues tackled by the
group so far have included improving equity in application of some internal policies
such as claiming travel expenses, and reviewing how we communicate our wellbeing
offer to ensure all staff are aware of the support available;
we are part of an NHS Dorset Wellbeing Leads group which meets regularly to share
good practice and develop a more consistent and effective offering;
following requests from staff we sourced an external provider who now runs regular
courses to help people prepare for retirement;
we carried out awareness sessions during January 2020 which included Carefirst and
Livewell Dorset attending both sites to carry out free health MOT checks and speak to
our staff informally;
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•
•
•

we have worked closely with Livewell Dorset to embed their offer for our staff, and we
now offer their face to face courses and free health MOT checks quarterly across both
of our sites;
during the coming period we will be working with Livewell Dorset to roll out training
for wellbeing champions, as well as workshops for managers to support them in
embedding a wellbeing culture within their teams;
one of our staff has pioneered work to support staff who are experiencing the
menopause. This has resulted in the development of a very well attended menopause
support group, and awareness training carried out across both sites by an external
subject matter expert. We have funded training for our employee to enable her to
better support individual employees, and during the coming period we will be rolling
out awareness courses for managers.

Staff policies
The CCG has policies in place to provide guidance to all employees. All human resource
policies have been written to ensure equality and diversity is upheld in the workplace.
The human resources policies within the CCG were written in April 2014 with a
commitment to review every two years. With this in mind, the latest review is currently
taking place, and this has been done jointly with a working group of employees set up as a
result of the People and Culture programme. Their views have been taken into account
during the review process, with the main focus being on the presentation of the policies as
opposed to the content. The review has focused on keeping the policies concise and easy
to be interpreted, in order to ensure consistency of application.

Employee engagement
The CCG is committed to involving and communicating with staff across a range of
matters. This is through a variety of channels such as our re-vamped #FYI weekly staff
bulletin and monthly briefings, as well as:
•
•
•

•

•
•
•

the CCG organised a large-scale ICS employee engagement event with over 200 people
from across the health and care economy in Dorset;
Our Voice Our Forum - a staff forum with representatives from across the organisation;
staff survey - in 2019/20 the CCG again used the NHS staff survey as a mechanism for
gathering the views of our employees. We received a response rate of 86.8% which is
the highest response rate the CCG has ever recorded. The survey outcome saw
significant increases in a number of areas and no questions received a significant
decrease;
staff events - in 2019/20 the CCG held two all staff events and both were focused
around the needs of the employees of the organisation. At the December event we
held the finale of the Spotlight Awards. We introduced the awards in early 2017, and
they allow anyone in the organisation to nominate a colleague for recognition against
one of the six values of the CCG. At the end of the year, a panel was formed of
employees from across the CCG to select six winners and they were awarded a glass
trophy at the December staff event;
we have continued our People and Culture programme which works in collaboration
with staff through different workstreams such as Learning & development, Wellbeing,
Sustainability, HR Policies, face to face communications and Meetings;
we have radically improved the CCG intranet (#FYI) including more input from staff;
we have increased engagement with staff and local community through Diverse events,
including supporting the stepping up programme.
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Disabled employees
The CCG continues to be proactive in its recruitment of disabled employees. We remain
committed to the national ‘Two Ticks’ symbol and have also achieved Disability Confident
status which means we have committed to:
•
•
•
•

interview all disabled applicants who meet the minimum criteria for a job vacancy and
to consider them on their abilities;
make every effort when employees become disabled to make sure they stay in
employment;
take action to ensure that all employees develop the appropriate level of disability
awareness needed to make these commitments work;
we also trained a number of workstation assessors on both of our sites to allow more
informal assessments to be undertaken ahead of any Occupational Health referrals.

Development of our staff
The workforce team work closely with managers and staff to understand the
developmental needs and implement an annual learning and development programme in
line with the CCG’s organisational priorities.
In November 2019 the ‘Learning and Development zone’ was launched within the CCG
following feedback from staff through the People and Culture programme and via other
forms of engagement including annual appraisal’s, requesting that the learning and
development offer was better developed to include more comprehensive learning around
Leadership and management and more consistent opportunities across the organisation. It
was also identified that the CCG had a number of subject matter experts who are
supporting bite sized learning sessions and includes; conflict resolution, managing
budgets. Understanding Business Intelligence is planned to come online in the near future.
The learning and development offer is divided into 3 key areas of learning titled:
•

•
•

Your Skills: focusing on the practical skills development to support staff to carry out
their roles. Examples include: an introduction to leadership and management, absence
management, having courageous conversations, minute taking support, chairing
meetings affectively, enhancing your personal impact when presenting;
Your Clinical Skills: more of a focus on the development of the clinical, social working
and pharmacist roles within the CCG to support the delivery within roles;
Your Personal Development and Wellbeing: The health and wellbeing of our staff is
paramount within the CCG and this was an area that was developed to provide an
improved offer to staff and includes; face to face sessions on pre-retirement, MOT
health checks, managing stress and building resilience and Understanding Menopause.

Since the launch of the development, and excluding statutory and mandatory training, 570
bookings have taken place with a more even distribution of learning throughout the CCG.
This is a significant improvement on previous years. Qualitative information is also
collated to gauge the impact and valve of the learning through an evaluation process.
A further review of the annual performance appraisal has taken place which included a
collaborated approach in designing the revisions with staff through a working group. The
outputs of the review have reduced the level of bureaucracy, enhanced the focus on the
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conversation between managers and staff regarding personal growth and development
linked to the needs of the role and career aspirations. The changes have been received
positively by staff within the organisation which is evidenced through the 2019 staff survey
results.
The CCG is also committed to ensuring all staff have completed their statutory and
mandatory training. The completion rate is currently 90%.
The CCG continues to develop the apprenticeship pipeline increasing the numbers of
apprenticeships from 3 to 12 in 2019/20 in a variety of different roles requiring the
development of different skill sets. The CCG will continue to manage levy funds to enable
the best return on investment.
The CCG are committed to working as part of a system wide collaborative in sharing
learning and development across other Dorset partners with further collaboration to take
place with local authorities.

Trade union (facility time publication requirements) regulations 2017
TABLE 21: RELEVANT UNION OFFICIALS
Number of employees who were relevant union officials
during 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Full-time equivalent employee number

3

2.60

TABLE 22: PERCENTAGE OF TIME SPENT ON FACILITY TIME
Number of employees who were relevant union officials employed during the relevant period spent
their working hours on facility time
Percentage of time
Number of employees

0%
1-50%
51%-99%
100%

0
3
0
0

TABLE 23: PERCENTAGE OF PAY BILL SPENT ON FACILITY TIME
Pay bill spent on facility time

Figures

Total cost of facility time
Total pay bill
Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time

£5,033.78
£18,973,663.54
0.03%

The time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of total paid facility time
hours is 100%.

Health and safety performance
We are committed to ensuring the health and safety of all our employees. It is important
to us as an organisation that we provide a safe environment for people to work in where
their health and safety is valued, and in doing this we continue to work closely with our
landlord and security management teams. In order to ensure as far as possible the health
and safety of our staff we have a number of procedures in place:
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•
•
•
•
•
•

we continue to report on health and safety matters to our directors’ meeting;
we have reviewed all our health and safety policies;
we have updated the security risk assessments (August 2019) and are in the process of
implementing mitigating actions;
fire marshals and general health and safety representatives continue to undertake
monthly risk assessments;
a personal emergency evacuation plan procedure is in place for staff and visitors who
require assistance to evacuate a building, and associated training for fire marshals on
the use of a ski pad (evacuation mattress) at Vespasian House is maintained;
fire drills have been undertaken on both sites.

Further health and safety action implementations and actions have been as follows:
•
•

•
•
•

the Security Management Policy was reviewed and refreshed in 2019 with the local
security management specialist;
work will be taking place on the external entrance to Vespasian House (postponed due
to COVID-19 outbreak). The work on the new reception area will commence
thereafter. In line with the Security Risk Assessment this will enhance the CCG’s
security;
conflict resolution training for Headquarters reception staff was undertaken on
9 October 2019;
CCTV has been installed by the landlord in the car park at Vespasian House and is
monitored by the Landlord;
during the COVID-19 period, additional procedures were put in place to ensure staff
safety and security whilst working at home and also restricting access to our two sites.

Expenditure on consultancy
TABLE 24: EXPENDITURE ON CONSULTANCY
Supplier
Nil return for 2019/20
Supplier
Nil return for 2018/19

2019/20
Details
2018/19
Details
-
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Off-payroll engagements
For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020, for more
than £245 per day and that last longer than six months:
TABLE 25: OFF-PAYROLL ENGAGEMENTS LONGER THAN 6 MONTHS
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2020

9

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting
for between one and two years at the time of reporting
for between two and three years at the time of reporting
for between three and four years at the time of reporting
for four or more years at the time of reporting

2
0
0
2
5

TABLE 26: NEW OFF-PAYROLL ENGAGEMENTS
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020

2

Of which:
Number assessed as caught by IR35
Number assessed as not caught by IR35
Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and
are on the departmental payroll
Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance
purposes during the year
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following
the consistency review

0
1
0
18
2

For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and/or senior officials with significant
financial responsibility, between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020. Although included on the
CCG’s payroll, GP leads are deemed to have a contract for service and any pension
payments are ‘Practitioner’ contributions, paid via the NHS Pension Scheme’s GP SOLO
route. Therefore, whilst not off-payroll for the purposes of the above tables, GP leads are
treated separately to other individuals on the CCG payroll. All individuals, including GP
leads, added to the CCG payroll system and all members of the GP SOLO scheme are
checked to ensure compliance with Income Tax and National Insurance obligations.
There is one off-payroll engagement that falls outside of the GP leads group, requiring
assurance to be sought, and obtained, in relation to Income Tax and National Insurance
obligations for that individual.
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TABLE 27: OFF-PAYROLL BOARD MEMBER/SENIOR OFFICIAL ENGAGEMENTS
No
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the
financial year
Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure
should include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements.

7

27

The seven off-payroll engagements above are for six GP's who are Governing Board
members and one GP who is a GP Lead for the CCG.
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Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments
TABLE 28: EXIT PACKAGES 2019/20 – SUBJECT TO AUDIT
Exit package
cost band
(inc. any
special
payment
element

TOTALS

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Cost of
compulsory
redundancies

Number of
other
departures
agreed

Cost of other
departures
agreed

Total
number of
exit
packages

Total cost of
exit packages

Whole
numbers only

£s

£s

0

Whole
numbers
only
0

£s

0

Whole
numbers
only
19

55,149

0

Number of
departures
where special
payments
have been
made
Whole
numbers only

Cost of special
payment
element
included in exit
packages

0

0

£s

Redundancy and other departure cost have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the terms of the individual contracts of
employment. Exit costs in this note are accounted for in full in the year of departure. Where the NHS Dorset CCG has agreed early
retirements, the additional costs are met by the NHS Dorset CCG and not by the NHS Pensions Scheme. Ill-health retirement pension costs
are met by the NHS Pensions Scheme and are not included in the table.
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TABLE 29: ANALYSIS OF OTHER DEPARTURES – SUBJECT TO AUDIT

Contractual payments in lieu of
notice
TOTAL

Agreements
Number
19

Total Value of agreements
£000s
55,149

19

55,149

Better payments practice code
In accordance with the Better Payments Practice Code, valid invoices should be paid by
their due date or within 30 days of receipt, whichever is later. Our performance is
presented below, measured in terms of both the number and value of invoices received,
against an NHS administrative target to pay over 95% of non-NHS trade creditors in
accordance with the code.
TABLE 30: NON-NHS PAYABLES

Total bills paid in year
Total bills paid within target
Percentage of bills paid within
target

2019/20
Number
£'000
27,504
300,040
26,840
296,370
97.6%
98.8%

2018/19
Number
£'000
27,820
292,978
27,457
291,471
98.7%
99.5%

TABLE 31: NHS PAYABLES

Total bills paid in year
Total bills paid within target
Percentage of bills paid within
target

2019/20
Number
£'000
4,137
862,223
4,045
862,370
97.8%
100.0%

2018/19
Number
£'000
4,081
791,269
4,039
791,507
99.0%
100.0%

Where the value of 'total bills paid within target' is greater than 'total bills paid in year'
this is due to credit note(s) which cannot be removed from the calculations.

Prompt payments code
We are a signatory to the Prompt Payment Code.
The Prompt Payment Code sets standards for payment practices and best practice and is
administered by the Chartered Institute of Credit Management on behalf of the
Department for Business Innovation and Skills. Compliance with the principles of the code
is monitored and enforced by the Prompt Payment Code Compliance Board. The code
covers prompt payment, as well as wider payment procedures, and in signing up we
undertake to:
•

pay suppliers on time:
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•

give clear guidance to suppliers:




•

within the terms agreed at the outset of the contract;
without attempting to change payment terms retrospectively;
without changing practice on length of payment for smaller companies on
unreasonable grounds.

provide suppliers with clear and easily accessible guidance on payment procedures;
ensure there is a system for dealing with complaints and disputes which is
communicated to suppliers;
advise them promptly if there is any reason why an invoice will not be paid within
the agreed terms.

encourage good practice:


request that lead suppliers encourage adoption of the code through their own
supply chains.

Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
17 June 2020
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PARLIAMENTARY ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT REPORT
Parliamentary accountability
NHS Dorset CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit
Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts,
and fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report at
Note 16. An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at page 98.

Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
17 June 2020
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Audit report
Independent auditor’s report to the members of the Governing Body of
NHS Dorset CCG
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

Basis for opinion

Conclusions relating to going concern

Other information

Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of
Audit Practice

Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice
Opinion on regularity required by the Code of Audit Practice

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and Those Charged with Governance for
the financial statements

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Conclusion on the
CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources
Matter on which we are required to report by exception - CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the CCG’s arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Certificate

Use of our report

Use of our report
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for year ended
31 March 2020

NOTE

Revenue from sale of goods and services
Other operating revenue
Total Operating Revenue

2
2

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other operating expenditure
Total Operating Expenditure

5
5
5
5

Net Operating Expenditure
Financing
Finance expense
Net financing costs for the financial year

7

Total Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the financial year

2019-20
Total
£000

2018-19
Total
£000

(20,070)
(35)
(20,105)

(10,132)
(100)
(10,232)

20,213
1,260,840
581
(2,415)
3,086
1,282,305

16,992
1,192,445
525
4,035
2,842
1,216,839

1,262,200

1,206,607

88
88

109
109

1,262,288

1,206,716

The notes on pages 5 to 22 form part of this statement.

The purpose of this statement is to summarise, on an accruals basis, the net operating costs of the Clinical
Commissioning Group. The statement identifies gross operating costs, less miscellaneous income, to arrive at
the net operating costs of the Clinical Commissioning Group.

SOCNE

Page 1 of 22

NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2019-20

Statement of Financial Position at
31 March 2020
NOTE

31 March 2020

31 March 2019

£000

£000

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total Non-Current Assets

9
10

724
1,732
2,456

727
370
1,096

Current Assets
Inventories
Trade & other receivables
Cash & cash equivalents
Total Current Assets

11
12
13

1,379
9,845
516
11,740

1,235
10,513
28
11,776

14,196

12,872

14
15

(62,116)
(2,824)
(64,940)
(50,745)

(52,386)
(4,960)
(57,346)
(44,474)

15

(1,111)
(1,111)
(51,856)

(2,053)
(2,053)
(46,527)

(51,856)
(51,856)

(46,527)
(46,527)

Total Assets
Current Liabilities
Trade & other payables
Provisions
Total Current Liabilities
Total Assets less Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Assets less Liabilities
Financed by Taxpayers' Equity
General fund
Total Taxpayers' Equity
The notes on pages 5 to 22 form part of this statement.

The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Governing Body on xx June 2020 and signed
on its behalf by: -

Accountable Officer
Date xxxxxx

SOFP
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2020
General
Fund
£000

Total

(46,527)

(46,527)

Net operating costs for the financial year

(1,262,288)

(1,262,288)

Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2020

(1,308,815)
1,256,959
(51,856)

(1,308,815)
1,256,959
(51,856)

General Fund
£000

Total
£000

(42,044)

(42,044)

Net operating costs for the financial year

(1,206,716)

(1,206,716)

Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2019

(1,248,760)
1,202,233
(46,527)

(1,248,760)
1,202,233
(46,527)

Balance at 1 April 2019

£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Balance at 1 April 2018

Changes in an entity's equity between the beginning and the end of the reporting period reflect the increase or
decrease in its net assets during the period. The Statement has been interpreted to include figures for net
operating costs for the year and funding for the year.

SOCITE
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2020
2019-20
£000

2018-19
£000

2&5
5, 9 & 10
5 & 15
15
11
12
14
15
15

(1,262,288)
581
(109)
87
(144)
668
8,577
(750)
(2,306)
(1,255,685)

(1,206,716)
525
179
109
237
221
1,437
(1,461)
3,856
(1,201,613)

9
10

734
(1,520)
(786)
(1,256,471)

(338)
(272)
(610)
(1,202,223)

1,256,959
1,256,959

1,202,233
1,202,233

488

11

28

17

516

28

NOTE
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenses for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Finance costs
Unwinding of discounts
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net funding received
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

13

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the
Financial Year

13

The Statement of Cash Flows provides information on Clinical Commissioning Group liquidity, viability and financial adaptability.

SCF
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
The notes to the accounts provide additional details on the entries on the primary statements as well as
additional disclosures, such as the accounting policies that the organisation follows when preparing its
accounts.

Cover Notes
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1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of Clinical Commissioning Groups shall meet the accounting requirements
of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2019-20 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained
in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and
appropriate to Clinical Commissioning Groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting
Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged
to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Clinical Commissioning Group for the purpose of giving a true and
fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the Clinical Commissioning Group are described below. They
have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is
anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a Clinical Commissioning Group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using
the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of
Financial Statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
In March 2020 there was a global pandemic caused by a new coronavirus - Covid 19. The impact on healthcare delivery in direct
response to this virus, changes in demand and capacity for other healthcare and the impact on wider society (through social
distancing and the so-called 'lockdown') and economy has been dramatic. Two specifics items of relevance are firstly, the UK
Government publicly stating it will fund the NHS 'whatever it takes' to manage the pandemic; and secondly a significant overhaul of
the financial architecture of the NHS, for example suspending the current financial performance management regime, moving all
NHS providers onto a cost based 'block' payment regime, authorising pre-payments of one months operating costs to NHS
providers, centralising the procurement of Independent Sector Capacity, providing new funding for Hospital Discharge Programme
and NHS Nightingale 'surge' capacity. Taken together this package and Government statements effectively demonstrate how the
Clinical Commissioning Group, as a statutory body in the NHS, will have its finances supported by the Government for the period
of the pandemic and in the event of any future radical change to demand and funding for healthcare.
On this basis of the above the Clinical Commissioning Group considers it remains a going concern.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Operating Segments
Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note and are reported in line with management information used
within the Clinical Commissioning Group.

1.4

Critical Accounting Judgments & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

1.4.1

Critical Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies
No critical judgments with a significant effect on the amounts recognised on the financial statements were required.

1.4.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
Key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies
are detailed within the relevant disclosure notes to these financial statements, most notably the Provisions Note.
In March 2020 there was a global pandemic caused by novel coronavirus - Covid 19. As described in Note 1.1 this has radically
changed demand for healthcare in the short term, as a result there is less certainty than usual about the value of primary care
prescribing spend in March and the value of partially completed care hospital activity as at 31 March. The Clinical Commissioning
Group has considered the impact of these estimates and chosen to continue to estimate on a historic basis. This is due to the lack
of precedent to establish a more accurate estimate, and the two estimates are temporary in nature and are expected to revert to
long term trends in time; and therefore using the historic basis still presents a true and fair view of the expenditure, assets and
liabilities and financial performance of the Clinical Commissioning Group.

1.5

Revenue
Note 1
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In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as follows: • As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the Clinical Commissioning Group will not disclose information regarding performance
obligations part of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less;
• The Clinical Commissioning Group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical
expedient offered in paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the
performance completed to date;
• The HM Treasury published Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in
C7(a) of the Standard that requires the Clinical Commissioning Group to reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified
before the date of initial application.
The main source of funding for the Clinical Commissioning Group is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited to the
general fund. Funding is recognised in the period in which it is received. There is also revenue from other Clinical Commissioning
Groups.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised
services to the customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross-government principles. Significant terms include payment within 30 days, more
details can be found in Note 6 - Better Payment Practice Code, to the Accounts.
The value of the benefit received when the Clinical Commissioning Group accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship
service are recognised as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid
directly to an accredited training provider, non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both
equal to the cost of the training funded.
1.6
1.6.1

1.6.2

Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the
period in which the service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the
extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
The Clinical Commissioning Group allows a maximum of five days to be carried forward, but only in exceptional circumstances.
Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. The schemes are an unfunded,
defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the
Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to
identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as if they were a
defined contribution scheme, the cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in the schemes is taken as equal to the
contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full
amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the Clinical Commissioning Group commits
itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.7

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are
measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

1.8

Grants Payable
Where grant funding is not intended to be directly related to activity undertaken by a grant recipient in a specific period, the Clinical
Commissioning Group recognises the expenditure in the period in which the grant is paid. All other grants are accounted for on an
accruals basis.

1.8
1.8.1

Property, Plant & Equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment are capitalised if: • It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
• It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the Clinical Commissioning Group;
• It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
• The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
• The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
• Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets
are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal
dates and are under single managerial control; or,

Note 1
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• Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or
collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the
components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
1.8.2

1.8.3

1.9
1.9.1

1.9.2

Measurement
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or
constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at valuation.
Land and buildings used for the Clinical Commissioning Group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the
statement of financial position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that
would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows: • Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and
• Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets
and, where it would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost
includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for
assets held at fair value. Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from current
value in existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset
previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged
there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an
impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to
expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and
losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure.
Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised.
Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing
carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.
Intangible Assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the
Clinical Commissioning Group’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only: • When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Clinical Commissioning
Group,
• Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and
• Where the cost is at least £5,000;
• Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets
are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal
dates and are under single managerial control.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for
example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not
integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on
research is not capitalised but is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated
assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated: •The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
•The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
•The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
•How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
•The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and
•The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
Measurement
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internallygenerated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
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Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active market, or,
where no active market exists, at the lower of amortised replacement cost or the value in use where the asset is income
generating. Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in development costs
and technological advances. Revaluations and impairments are treated in the same manner as for property, plant and equipment.
1.10

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and
intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption
of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the Clinical
Commissioning Group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the Clinical
Commissioning Group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are
reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the Clinical Commissioning Group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or
intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet
available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment
charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.
Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but
capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment
loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.11

Government Grants
The value of assets received by means of a government grant are credited directly to income. The Clinical Commissioning Group
has no Deferred income.

1.12

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.
1.12.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are
recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether
they are operating or finance leases.
1.12.2 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Clinical Commissioning Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straightline basis over the lease term.
1.13

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

1.14

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.
Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and
that form an integral part of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s cash management.
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1.15

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a
past event, it is probable that the Clinical Commissioning Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows: All general provisions are subject to four separate discount rates according to the expected timing of cashflows from the Statement
of Financial Position date: • A nominal short-term rate of 0.51% (2018-19: 0.76%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows up to and including 5 years from
Statement of Financial Position date;
• A nominal medium-term rate of 0.55% (2018-19:1.14%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 5 years up to and
including 10 years from the Statement of Financial Position date;
• A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 10 years and up to and
including 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position date;
• A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows exceeding 40 years from the
Statement of Financial Position date.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

1.16

Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to
NHS Resolution which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS
Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the Clinical
Commissioning Group.

1.17

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The Clinical Commissioning Group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both
are risk pooling schemes under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and, in
return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in
respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.18

Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Clinical Commissioning
Group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the
possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Clinical Commissioning Group. A
contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in
the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: • Financial assets at amortised cost;
• Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income; and
• Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9,
and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
1.19.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no financial assets at amortised cost.
1.19.2 Financial Assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.
1.19
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1.19.3 Financial Assets at fair value through profit and loss
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
1.19.4 Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except equity
instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the Clinical
Commissioning Group recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset.
The Clinical Commissioning Group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the
loss allowance for trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.
For other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on
the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month
expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other
government departments, their executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where
repayment is ensured by primary legislation. The Clinical Commissioning Group therefore does not recognise loss allowances for
stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. Additionally DHSC provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of
its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the Clinical Commissioning Group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or
stage 2 impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting
date are measured as the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Loans, only Receivables.
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been
received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has
expired.
1.20.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of: • The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and
• The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets.
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities.
1.20.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Financial Liabilities with embedded derivatives.
1.20.3 Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for
loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is
recognised using the effective interest method.
1.20

1.21

Value Added Tax (VAT)
Most of the activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply
and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of
VAT.

1.22

Foreign Currencies
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s functional currency and presentational currency is sterling. Transactions denominated in a
foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting
exchange gains and losses for either of these are recognised in the Clinical Commissioning Group’s surplus/deficit in the period in
which they arise.

1.23

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service
or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control
procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that
individual cases are handled.
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Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses
which would have been made good through insurance cover had the Clinical Commissioning Group not been bearing its own risks
(with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).
1.24

Gifts
Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return. Gifts include all
transactions economically equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of an asset for its expected useful life,
and the sale or lease of assets at below market value. The Clinical Commissioning Groups Gifts, Hospitality Sponsorship register
can be found on our website www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk/gift.

1.25

Accounting Standards that have been Issued but have not yet been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual does not require the following IFRS Standards and
Interpretations to be applied in 2019-20. These Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for
implementation in 2019-20, and the government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.
● IFRS 16 Leases – HM Treasury has announced that IFRS 16, Leases, as interpreted and adapted by the FReM is to be effective
from 1 April 2021. This represents a further one year deferral.
● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet
adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2019-20, were they applied in
that year.
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2. Other Operating Revenue

Revenue from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other Contract revenue
Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total Revenue from sale of goods and services
Other Operating Revenue
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure: non-NHS
Non cash apprenticeship training grants revenue
Total Other Operating Revenue
Total Operating Revenue

2019-20
Total
£000

2018-19
Total
£000

(55)
(10,739)
(8,202)
(1,074)
(20,070)

3
(9,583)
(175)
(377)
(10,132)

(19)
(16)
(35)

(100)
0
(100)

(20,105)

(10,232)

This note discloses the revenue that relates directly to the operating activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group, it excludes cash received from NHS
England by the Clinical Commissioning Group, which is credited directly to the General Fund.

3. Disaggregation of Revenue - revenue from sale of good and services (contracts)
Source of Revenue

NHS
£000
48
5,489
50
1,047
6,634

Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other contract revenue
Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total

Non NHS
£000
7
5,250
8,152
27
13,436

2019-20
Total
£000
55
10,739
8,202
1,074
20,070

Revenue received is totally from the supply of services. The Clinical Commissioning Group receives no revenue from the sale of goods.

4. Employee Benefits
Please refer to the Annual Report for details of Employee Benefits and Staff Numbers.

4.1 Pension Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes
can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP
practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way
that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a
defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the
accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be determined at the
reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate
assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
4.1.1 Accounting Valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting
period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current
reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March
2020, is based on valuation data as at 31 March 2019, updated to 31 March 2020 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this
actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also
been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension
Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The
Stationery Office.
4.1.2 Full Actuarial (funding) Valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic
experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer
contribution rate payable from April 2019. The Department of Health and Social Care has recently laid Scheme Regulations confirming that the employer
contribution rate will increase to 20.6% of pensionable pay from this date.
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set following the 2012 valuation. Following
a judgement from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the valuation process pending conclusion of the
continuing legal process.
2019-20
£000
2,667
%
20.60

Employers’ contributions payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme
Payable to the NHS Pension Scheme of pensionable pay, at the rate of

Note 2-4

2018-19
£000
1,629
%
14.38
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5. Operating Expenses
2019-20

Purchase of Goods and Services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Purchase of social care
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
• Internal audit services
• Other services
Other professional fees (excluding statutory audit)
Legal fees
Education and training
Non cash apprenticeship training grants
Total Purchase of Goods and Services
Depreciation and Impairment Charges
Depreciation
Amortisation
Total Depreciation and Impairment Charges
Provision Expense
Change in discount rate
Provisions
Total Provision Expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and lay membership body and governing body members
Grants to other bodies
Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Expected credit loss on receivables
Inventories consumed
Other expenditure
Total Other Operating Expenditure
Total Operating Expenses

2018-19

Total

Total

£000

£000

1,092
829,759
4,693
22
165,830
4,111
131,606
0
273
117,232
0
690
3,855
70
1,105
64

(612)
782,043
4,706
44
157,643
4,202
124,638
1
168
112,000
106
438
4,391
90
1,231
64

0
18
50
236
118
16
1,260,840

0
0
394
380
518
0
1,192,445

423
158
581

458
67
525

(109)
(2,306)
(2,415)

179
3,856
4,035

674
527
13
16
46
1,802
8
3,086

665
175
13
60
20
1,877
32
2,842

1,262,092

1,199,847

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS - shows costs related to primary care services.
External Audit - The figures in the 'Audit fees' line above include VAT. The net figures are £53,500 for 2018-19 and 2019-20. The Audit
liability for Grant Thornton is restricted to £2,000,000.
The 'Other services' from Grant Thornton were for the external assurance on the mental health investment standard (MHIS), as procured
by NHS England. The fee for this work was £15,000.
Internal Audit - As Internal Audit is carried out by a different organisation to our Statutory Audit, the Department of Health guidance is to
show Internal Audit costs in 'Other professional fees'.
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies - includes an increase of £6.7m related to Continuing Healthcare spend.
Staff costs - this information is now included in the Annual Report.
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6. Better Payment Practice Code
2019-20
Number

2018-19
Number

£000

£000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target

27,504
26,840
97.59%

300,040
296,370
98.78%

27,820
27,457
98.70%

292,978
291,471
99.49%

NHS Payables
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target

4,137
4,045
97.78%

862,223
862,370
100.02%

4,081
4,039
98.97%

791,269
791,507
100.03%

Where the percentage of invoices paid within target is greater than 100%, this is due to the effect of credit notes.
This note shows the Clinical Commissioning Group's performance against its administrative duty to pay all creditors within 30 calendar days
of receipt of goods or valid invoice, whichever is later, unless other payment terms have been agreed. There is a performance target of
95% for each measure.

7. Finance Costs
2019-20
£000
88
88

Provisions - unwinding of discount
Total Finance Costs

2018-19
£000
109
109

This note identifies the Clinical Commissioning Group's interest costs, including the unwinding of discounts on provisions, and corresponds
with the amount shown on the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

8. Operating Leases
The Clinical Commissioning Group currently is lessee in respect of property leases and equipment rental. The most significant rents are for
Trust Headquarters and related buildings across the county. The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any contractual option to
buy these properties.

8.1 As Lessee
Buildings
£000

Other
£000

2019-20
Total
£000

Buildings
£000

Other
£000

2018-19
Total
£000

551
0
0
551

15
0
0
15

566
0
0
566

781
0
0
781

1
0
0
1

782
0
0
782

479
1,658
26
2,163

8
0
0
8

487
1,658
26
2,171

781
1,193
0
1,974

0
0
0
0

781
1,193
0
1,974

Payments recognised as an Expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

Our arrangements with NHS Property Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating leases. The rental charge for future years has been
agreed and is reflected in the Buildings figures above. The future years payments are calculated up to the next break point in the lease.
Other Lease costs are for the rental of lease cars.
This note identifies the amount included in operating expenses in respect of operating lease agreements. It also highlights the amounts the
Clinical Commissioning Group is liable for under non-cancellable leases over the next five years.
All operating leases relating to items with a purchase cost above the capitalisation limit are regarded as non-cancellable.

8.2 As Lessor
The Clinical Commissioning Group does not act as a lessor.
This note identifies the amount included in operating expenses in respect of operating lease agreements. It also highlights the amounts the
Clinical Commissioning Group expects to receive under non-cancellable leases over the next five years.
All operating leases relating to items with a purchase cost above the capitalisation limit are regarded as non-cancellable.
Note 6-8
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9. Property, Plant and Equipment
Plant & Information
Machinery Technology
£000
£000
150
2,127
0
420
150
2,547

2019-20
Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2019
Additions Purchased
Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2020
Depreciation at 1 April 2019
Charged During the Year
Depreciation at 31 March 2020
Net Book Value at 31 March 2020

Furniture &
Fittings
£000
203
0
203

Total
£000
2,480
420
2,900

150
0
150
0

1,400
423
1,823
724

203
0
203
0

1,753
423
2,176
724

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2020

0
0

724
724

0
0

724
724

Asset financing:
Owned
Total at 31 March 2020

0
0

724
724

0
0

724
724

Property, plant and equipment is a sub-classification of the total non-current assets recorded on the Statement of Financial Position, and
are: land, buildings, plant and machinery, information technology and furniture and fittings.

9.1 Economic Lives
Minimum Life
(Years)
3

Information Technology

Maximum Life
(Years)
3

This note records the range of remaining useful economic lives of property, plant and equipment employed by the Clinical Commissioning
Group.

10. Intangible non-current assets
Computer
Software:
Purchased
£000
474
1,520
1,994

Total
£000
474
1,520
1,994

105
158
262

105
158
262

Net Book Value at 31 March 2020

1,732

1,732

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2020

1,732
1,732

1,732
1,732

Minimum
Life (years)
3

Maximum
Life (Years)
3

2019-20
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2019
Additions purchased
Cost / Valuation At 31 March 2020
Amortisation 1 April 2019
Charged during the year
Amortisation At 31 March 2020

10.1 Economic lives

Computer software: purchased

Intangible non-current assets are defined as brand value or some other right, which although invisible is likely to derive financial benefit for
its owner in the future, and for which you might be willing to pay.
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11. Inventories
Balance at 1 April 2019
Additions
Inventories recognised as an expense in the period
Balance at 31 March 2020

Loan Equipment
£000
1,235
1,946
(1,802)
1,379

Other
£000
0
0
0
0

Total
£000
1,235
1,946
(1,802)
1,379

Balance at 1 April 2018
Additions
Inventories recognised as an expense in the period
Transfer (to)/from Goods for resale
Balance at 31 March 2019

Loan Equipment
£000
0
1,640
(1,877)
1,472
1,235

Other
£000
1,472
0
0
(1,472)
0

Total
£000
1,472
1,640
(1,877)
0
1,235

In 2018/19 we recategorised the inventory from Other to Loan Equipment as we feel it is a better narrative for the Integrated Community Equipment, which was managed
by Bournemouth Borough Council and to which the Clinical Commissioning Group contributes. In 2019/20 the Integrated Community Equipment is managed by
Bournemouth Borough Council's successor organisation, Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council.
The total value of inventories corresponds with the amount shown on the face of the Statement of Financial Position. Finished processed goods is the value of stocks
after completion of manufacture or processing and where the goods concerned are to be sold or consumed in a future accounting period.
This note does not include the provision of health care services under partially completed contracts; or assets in the course of construction.

12. Trade and Other Receivables

NHS receivables: revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and other WGA accrued income
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables
VAT
Total
Total Current and Non-current
Included in NHS receivables are pre-paid pension contributions

Current
31 March 2020
£000
3,008
2,178
1,831
1,715
929
116
(66)
134
9,845
9,845

31 March 2019
£000
4,059
2,178
2,270
728
776
116
(20)
406
10,513
10,513

0

0

Non-current
31 March 2020
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

31 March 2019
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to buy NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered
necessary. The level of trade with non-NHS organisations is immaterial and is covered by contractual terms, therefore no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.
This note analyses the amounts owing to the Clinical Commissioning Group at the Statement of Financial Position date.

12.1 Receivables Past Their Due Date But Not Impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

31 March 2020
DHSC Group
Bodies
£000
582
66
1,145
1,793

31 March 2020
Non DHSC
Group Bodies
£000
251
183
356
790

31 March 2019
DHSC Group
Bodies
£000
1,728
98
743
2,569

31 March 2019
Non DHSC
Group Bodies
£000
202
0
82
284

£76,613.26 (as at 19 May 2020) of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.
This note analyses the length of time beyond their due date the amounts owing to the Clinical Commissioning Group at the Statement of Financial Position date have been
outstanding.

12.2 Loss allowance on asset classes
Trade and other
receivables Non DHSC
Group Bodies
£000
(20)
(46)
(66)

Balance as at 1 April 2019
Lifetime expected credit losses on trade and other receivables - Stage 2
Total

Total
£000
(20)
(46)
(66)

This is an estimate linked to expected credit losses on a financial asset that is applied to reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the statement of financial
position.

13. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Opening balance
Net change in year
Closing balance
Made up of:
Cash with Government Banking Service
Cash in hand
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Bank overdraft - Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of cash flows
Patients' money held by the Clinical Commissioning Group, not included above

Notes 11-13

31 March 2020
£000
28
488
516

31 March 2019
£000
17
11
28

503
13
516
0
516

13
15
28
0
28

0

0
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14. Trade and Other Payables
Current
31 March 2020
31 March 2019
£000
£000
NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and other WGA payables: revenue
Non-NHS and other WGA payables: capital
Non-NHS and other WGA accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total

(4,859)
(630)
(578)
(1,387)
(36,760)
(251)
(224)
(17,427)
(62,116)

(1,220)
(3,967)
(2,354)
(233)
(27,396)
(217)
(195)
(16,804)
(52,386)

Total Current and Non-current

(62,116)

(52,386)

Non-current
31 March 2020
31 March 2019
£000
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

31 March 2020
£000

31 March 2019
£000

Included above are liabilities, due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early
retirement over 5 years.

0

0

Other payables include outstanding pension contributions. The increase in outstanding pension
contributions is due to the Clinical Commissioning Group taking on the devolved primary care cocommissioning role from NHS England.

1,058

1,017

444

135

16,305

13,324

Other payables also includes accruals for invoices registered on the finance ledger, but not approved.
Other payables also includes primary care accruals, which is due to the Clinical Commissioning Group
taking on the devolved primary care co-commissioning role from NHS England.
This note analyses the amounts owed by the Clinical Commissioning Group at the Statement of Financial Position date.

15. Provisions
Current
31 March 2020
£000
(2,824)
0

Non Current
31 March 2020
£000
(727)
(384)

Current
31 March 2019
£000
(4,960)
0

Non-current
31 March 2019
£000
(1,682)
(371)

Total

(2,824)

(1,111)

(4,960)

(2,053)

Total Current and Non-current

(3,935)

Continuing care
Other

(7,013)

Comprising:

Balance at 1 April 2019
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
Change in discount rate
Balance at 31 March 2020
Expected Timing of Cash Flows:
No Later than One Year
Later than One Year and not later than Five Years
Balance at 31 March 2020

Continuing Care
£000
(6,642)
(3,402)
750
5,708
(65)
100
(3,551)

Other
£000
(371)
0
0
0
(22)
8
(384)

Total
£000
(7,013)
(3,402)
750
5,708
(87)
108
(3,935)

(2,824)
(727)
(3,551)

0
(384)
(384)

(2,824)
(1,111)
(3,935)

Amount Included in the Provisions of NHS Resolution in Respect of Clinical Negligence Liabilities:
£000
0
0

As at 31 March 2020
As at 31 March 2019

Finance costs on the Statement of Cash Flows refers to the change in discount rate, shown above.
The balance of the Continuing Care provision is reversed out of the Ledger in March and shows here as 'Reversed unused' and then the new
provision is created and this is shown as 'Arising during the year'. This approach is taken because the provision is calculated case by case during
March.
Note 14-15
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15. Provisions continued
Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty:
The provisions shown under the heading 'Other' relates to dilapidation costs associated with leases for Vespasian House, and the future costs are
uncertain.
A provision has been made against applications for continuing healthcare support where a panel has not yet met to determine whether the application
is approved. The provision is calculated on a named basis for the period that continuing healthcare may be eligible, at the probability rate of the
application being awarded.
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS
Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment of the Clinical Commissioning Group. However, the legal liability remains
with the Clinical Commissioning Group.
This note analyses the amounts recorded as provisions by the Clinical Commissioning Group at the Statement of Financial Position date.

16. Contingencies
Contingent liabilities
Continuing Healthcare
Net Value of Contingent Liabilities

31 March 2020
£000

31 March 2019
£000

5,160
5,160

9,214
9,214

There are no contingent Assets
The contingent liability above relates to continuing care claims, and is directly linked with the continuing care provision included in the Provisions Note.
An estimation has been made of the value based upon the amounts claimed. The uncertainties relate to the eligibility of the claims. Whilst possible, it
has been deemed unlikely that these amounts will be reimbursed. It is not practicable to provide an estimate of the financial effect.
The purpose of this note is to disclose material contingent liabilities or assets, if there is more than a remote possibility that there will be a transfer of
‘economic benefit’ as a result of events that existed before the Statement of Financial Position date.

17. Commitments
17.1 Other financial commitments
The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into non-cancellable contracts (which are not leases or PFI contracts or other service concession
arrangements), for information management and technology equipment and support. The payments to which the Clinical Commissioning Group are
committed are as follows: 31 March 2020
31 March 2019
£000
£000
Not later than one year
4,941
1,569
Later than one year and not later than five year
2,062
1,146
Later than five years
0
0
Total
7,003
2,715
The Clinical Commissioning Group has three contracts that exceed one million pounds. Two of which are for network and computer services and the
third for nutritional supplies.
This note discloses undertakings that have been committed at a future date.

18. Financial Instruments
18.1 Financial Risk Management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the
risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by
business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to
which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The Clinical Commissioning Group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and
financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Clinical
Commissioning Group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s internal auditors.
Only where the Clinical Commissioning Group is exposed to material risk should the appropriate IFRS 7 disclosures be made. The headings in IFRS 7
should be used to the extent that they are relevant.

Note 15-18.1
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18.1.1 Currency Risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The Clinical Commissioning Group
therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
18.1.2 Interest Rate Risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS
England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans
Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Clinical Commissioning Group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
18.1.3 Credit Risk
Because the majority of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the Clinical Commissioning
Group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
18.1.4 Liquidity Risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within resource allocations agreed with NHS England, which are financed from
resources voted annually by Parliament. The Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, from NHS England,
as the need arises, unrelated to its performance against resource limits. The Clinical Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to
significant liquidity risks.
18.2 Financial Assets

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2020
18.3 Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2020

Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
2019-20
£000

Total
2019-20
£000

2,596
2,403
1,672
516
7,187

2,596
2,403
1,672
516
7,187

Financial Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
2019-20
£000

Total
2019-20
£000

1,246
26,363
34,032
0
61,641

1,246
26,363
34,032
0
61,641

Due to the short-term nature of these transactions, the fair value of these financial assets and liabilities approximate the carrying amounts
at the balance sheet date.
Financial instruments are a broad range of assets and liabilities that arise from contracts and result in a financial asset being created in
one entity and a financial liability in another. This note discloses the interest rate risks arising from the Clinical Commissioning Group's
financial assets and liabilities, which largely comprise items due after more than one year, such as long-term debtors and creditors, and
provisions made under contract.

19. Operating Segments
The Clinical Commissioning Group has only one operating segment, that of commissioning healthcare services for the population of
Dorset.
An operating segment is a component of an entity:
* that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses,
* whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity's chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be
allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and
* for which discrete financial information is available.
Note 18.1.1-19
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20. Related Party Transactions
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a significant
number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example: • NHS England (including commissioning support units);
• NHS Foundation Trusts;
• NHS Trusts;
• NHS Resolution; and
• NHS Business Services Authority.
In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and
other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Dorset Council and Bournemouth,
Christchurch & Poole Council in respect of Better Care Fund arrangements.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has received revenue grant monies from Macmillan Cancer Support. No capital payments have
been received from charitable funds.
Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate established by order of the Secretary of State for Health.

Payments to
Related Party
£000

Receipts from
Related Party
£000

Amounts owed
to Related Party
£000

Amounts due
from Related
Party
£000

1

Dr Forbes Watson - Governing Body, Clinical
Commissioning Group Chair, Remuneration
Committee, Clinical Commissioning Committee
Chair (disbanded September 2019). Chair of
ICS Clinical Reference Group. Principal GP,
Lyme Bay Practice. Transactions disclosed for
Lyme Bay Medical Centre.

1,102.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

2

Dr Colin Davidson - Governing Body, Clinical
Commissioning
Committee
(disbanded
September 2019), Senior Partner at Cranborne
Practice, Locality Chair for East Dorset.
Spouse is a GP and equity partner at Eagle
House Surgery. Transactions disclosed for
Eagle House Surgery.

622.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

3

Dr Nick Evans - Governing Body, Clinical
Commissioning
Committee
(disbanded
September 2019), Locality Chair for Poole Bay.
GP Principal at Wessex Road Surgery, Poole.
Transactions disclosed for Wessex Road
Surgery.

731.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

2,455.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

In formulating this note the Clinical Commissioning Group has considered all declarations of interest for Governing Body Members.
Under IAS 24, related party transactions have only been disclosed where they meet the following criteria:
(i) have control or joint control over the reporting entity;
(ii) have significant influence over the reporting entity; or
(iii) are a member of the key management personnel.
The Declaration of Interest register can be found on our web site www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk/ccg/members/#doi.

Note 20
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21. Events after the end of the Reporting Period
The Clinical Commissioning Group has no Events after the end of the Reporting Period.
This note discloses the financial consequences of events (both favourable or unfavourable) that occur between the Statement of Financial Position
date and the date on which the financial statements are approved by the Board, if appropriate. Two types of events can be identified: * those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period (adjusting events); and
* those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period (non-adjusting events).

22. Financial Performance Targets
Clinical Commissioning Groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s performance against those duties was as follows:
Target

2019-20
Performance

£’000
1,320,136
1,940
1,298,107

£’000
1,284,317
1,940
1,262,288

Yes
Yes
Yes

National
Duty
Health
Service Act
Section

223H(1)
223I(2)
223I(3)

Duty
Achieved?

223J(1)

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

0

0

Yes

223J(2)

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

0

0

Yes

223J(3)

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

17,591

17,138

Yes

The planned expenditure not to exceed income target was set at £37,319k surplus, which comprised an historic allocation of £35,319k and an in
year agreed underspend of £2,000k. This was subject to an agreed in year use of £1,500k of the legacy drawdown to support the Dorset ICS
system control total, taking the revised expenditure not to exceed income target to £35,819k surplus comprising the revised historic allocation of
£33,819k and an in year agreed underspend of £2,000k.
The Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions and was underspent by £453k due to planned local
savings on Clinical Commissioning Group administrative costs.
2018-19
National
Duty
Duty
Target
Performance
Health
Achieved?
Service Act
Section
223H(1)
223I(2)
223I(3)

223J(2)

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified
in Directions

223J(3)

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

223J(1)

£’000
1,252,827
560
1,242,035

£’000
1,217,508
560
1,206,716

Yes
Yes
Yes

0

0

Yes

0

0

Yes

16,968

16,151

Yes

Note: For the purposes of 223H(1); expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expenditure on revenue and capital in the financial year; and,
income is defined as the aggregate of the notified maximum revenue resource, notified capital resource and all other amounts accounted as
received in the financial year (whether under provisions of the Act or from other sources, and included here on a gross basis).
The purpose of this note is to disclose the Financial Performance of the Clinical Commissioning Group. Where a Clinical Commissioning Group
breaches, or plans to breach, one of the statutory financial provisions, even if this is agreed with NHS England (e.g. setting a deficit budget) local
auditors are under a duty to make a report to the Secretary of State for Health under Section 28 of the Audit Commission Act 1998.

23. Other
The Clinical Commissioning Group has considered the following areas and has no details to disclose under these headings: • The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
• Income Generation Activities
• Investment Revenue
• Other Gains and Losses
• Net Gain (Loss) on Transfer by Absorption
• Impairments & Reversals
• Investment Property

• Other Financial Assets
• Other Current Assets
• Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
• Analysis of Impairments and Reversals
• Other Financial Liabilities
• Other Liabilities
• Borrowings

Note 21-23

• PFI & LIFT Contracts
• NHS LIFT Investments
• Finance Lease Obligations
• Finance Lease Receivables
• Third Party Assets
• Impact of IFRS Treatment
• Analysis of Charitable Reserves
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How to Contact Us
NHS Dorset Clinical
Commissioning Group
Vespasian House
Barrack Road
Dorchester DT1 1TG

Email:
feedback@dorsetccg.nhs.uk
Our website: www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk
Twitter:
@DorsetCCG
Facebook:
www.facebook.com/NHSDorsetCCG

If you would like this document in a different format or
language, please email communications@dorsetccg.nhs.uk

[from garden in Branksome Park, Poole]

